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TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS, CUSTOMERS, PARTNERS,
AND EMPLOYEES:

In fiscal year 2004, we significantly improved our
operating performance over fiscal year 2003 and
brought our cash losses under control. We
accelerated our pace of customer acquisitions—41
new customers in 2004 versus 28 in 2003—based on
the strength of our award-winning eGain Service™ 6
suite. We established and developed partnerships
with Aspect, HP, Remedy, and Wipro to increase the
reach and value of our solutions. Finally, we saw
increased demand for our 6% generation eGain
OnDemand™ service.

IMPROVED OPERATING PERFORMANCE: We
reduced our net loss from operations from $11.6
million in fiscal year 2003 to $4.4 million in fiscal
year 2004. We also reduced our net cash used in
operating activities from $5.9 million in fiscal 2003
to $2.3 million in fiscal 2004.

ACCELERATED CUSTOMER ACQUISITION: We
acquired 46% more new customers this year
compared to last year. We also continued to expand
our business with existing customers. Customers that
we acquired or expanded business with during the
year included: Adelphia Communications, ABN-
AMRO, Affiliated Computer Services, AFFINA,
Avista  Corporation, Centrica plc, Charter
Communications, Inc.,, Cox Newspapers, Inc.,
Emirates Airlines, Inc., Frederick’s of Hollywood,
GVB (Amsterdam Public Transport), IBM, La Quinta
Corporation, Nokia Corporation, Renesas
Technology, Sallie Mae, TRW Automotive, Ventura
(UK) and Virgin Mobile.

CONTINUED PRODUCT LEADERSHIP: The market
continued to recognize eGain for our product
innovation and contribution to customer success. In
2004, eGain Knowledge™, our pioneering knowledge
management solution, received the “CRM Excellence
Award” for 2004 from Customer Inter@ctions
Solutions magazine, in recognition of the outstanding
business benefits we delivered to customers. Also,
the eGain Service™ 6 suite was selected as a “product
of the year” for 2003 by Customer Inter@ctions

Solutions magazine for product innovation. Our
eGain On Demand™ service gained popularity among
mid-market customers for its proven capabilities and
flexible options—our hosting revenue increased by
approximately 20% in the second half of the year
when compared to the first half of fiscal 2004.

EXPANDED PARTNERSHIPS: We developed and
expanded key partnerships in the last twelve months.
We integrated and certified our solutions with
Aspect’'s  Enterprise  Contact  Server™, HP
ServiceDesk™, and Remedy’s Action Regquest
System™. These integrated solutions will help
businesses improve productivity and reduce cost of
ownership across help desks and contact centers. We
also struck a strategic global alliance with Wipro
Technologies, combining their leadership in system
integration with our best-in-class customer service
software to deliver compelling value to customers.

PRUDENT INVESTMENTS FOR GROWTH: Even in
today’s uncertain market environment, we see
opportunities for profitable growth in selected market
segments. Therefore, we increased our investment in
marketing in the second half of the year, aligning our
efforts with our product advantages. We believe that
these investments will bear results in 2005.

EFFICIENT OPERATING MODEL, STRONG PROFIT
POTENTIAL: Leveraging our proven global
operating model, we continue to drive unparalleled
efficiency in our operations while improving
customer satisfaction and maintaining product
leadership. As we scale our marketing and sales
infrastructure, we believe that we have the
opportunity to become a dominant player in the
customer service software arena. As businesses
worldwide focus on productivity improvement, our
software serves a critical role in optimizing customer
service operations—large and small. Our team is
driven to become the premier provider of multi-
channel customer service solutions. With your
support, we can achieve it.

Ashutosh Roy
Chief Executive Officer
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eGAIN COMMUNICATION CORPORATION
PART1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

This report on Form 10-K and the documents incorporated herein by reference contain forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. These statements may be identified by the use of the words such
as “anticipates,” “believes,” “continue,” “could,” “would,” “estimates,” “forecasts,” “expects,” “intends,”
“may,” “might,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “should,” or “will” and similar expressions or the negative
of those terms. The forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, risks stemming from strategic and
operational choices in recent quarters, our equity structure and the significant risk of dilution, the adequacy of
our capital resources and need for additional financing, our technological leadership and product development
capabilities, the expansion of our strategic relationships and distribution capabilities and our corresponding
ability to grow revenue, the competitive landscape of our industry, our continued net losses since inception, our
limited operating history, liquidation preferences related to our preferred stock, continued lengthy and delayed
sales cycles, broad economic and political instability around the world affecting the market for our goods and
services, the continued need for customer service and contact center software solutions and the continued
acceptance of our Web-native architecture, the effects of cost reductions on our workforce and ability to service
customers, risks from our substantial international operations, adverse results in pending litigation, legal and
regulatory uncertainties and other risks related to protection of our intellectual property assets and the
operational integrity and maintenance of our systems. Our actual results could differ materially from those
discussed in statements relating to our future plans, product releases, objectives, expectations and intentions,
and other assumptions underlying or relating to any of these statements. Factors that could contribute to such
differences include those discussed in “Additional Factors That May Affect Future Results” and elsewhere in this
document. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date hereof. We expressly disclaim any
obligation or understanding to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements
contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or any change in events,
conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.
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Overview

We are a leading provider of customer service and contact center software, used by global enterprises for
over a decade. eGain Service 6™, our software suite, available through licensed or hosted models, includes
integrated, best-in-class applications for customer email management, live web collaboration, virtual agent
customer service, knowledge management, and web self-service. These robust applications are built on the eGain
Service Management Platform (eGain SMP™), a scalable next-generation framework that includes end-to-end
service process management, multi-channel, multi-site contact center management, a flexible integration
approach, and certified out-of-the-box integrations with leading call center and business systems.

Recent Developments

On March 31, 2004, we entered into a note and warrant purchase agreement with Ashutosh Roy, our Chief
Executive Officer, Oak Hill Capital Partners L.P., Oak Hill Capital Management Partners L.P., and FW Investors
L.P. (the “lenders”) pursuant to which the lenders loaned to us $2.5 million evidenced by secured promissory
notes and received warrants to purchase shares of our common stock in connection with such loan. The secured
promissory notes have a term of five years and bear interest at an effective annual rate of 12% due and payable
upon the maturity of such notes. We have the option to prepay the notes at any time subject to the prepayment
penalties set forth in such notes. The warrants allow the lenders to purchase up to 312,500 shares at an exercise
price of $2.00 per share. The warrants become exercisable as to fifty percent (50%) of the warrant shares nine
months after issuance of the warrants and as to one hundred percent (100%) of the warrant shares on the first
anniversary of the issuance of the warrants. We recorded $2.28 million in related party notes payable and
$223,000 of discount on the notes related to the relative value of the warrants issued in the transaction that will



be amortized to interest expense over the five year life of the notes. The fair value of these warrants was
determined using the Black-Scholes valuation method with the following assumptions: an expected life of
3 years, an expected stock price volatility of 75%, a risk free interest rate of 1.93%, and a dividend yield of 0%.

In February 2004, we were delisted from the Nasdaq SmallCap Market due to noncompliance with
Marketplace Rule 4310(c)(2)(B), which requires companies listed to have a minimum of $2,500,000 in
stockholders’ equity or $35,000,000 market value of listed securities or $500,000 of net income from continuing
operations for the most recently completed fiscal year or two of the three most recently completed fiscal years.
Our common stock now trades in the over-the-counter market on the OTC Bulletin Board owned by The Nasdaq
Stock Market, Inc., which was established for securities that do not meet the listing requirements of the Nasdaq
National Market or the Nasdaq SmallCap Market.

Industry Background

The Internet has fundamentally changed the manner in which businesses and customers interact. Today’s
customers demand instant access to customer service and expect immediate responses to questions and issues.

The ability to deliver consistent customer service in a multi-channel contact center has become a necessity
in today’s competitive business environment. Failure to address the multi-channe] service needs of customers can
result in diminished customer loyalty and a deteriorating competitive position and brand reputation.

Over the past few years, numerous software vendors have developed point solutions, designed to handle
online customer communications through a specific channel such as email, real-time Web collaboration or
self-service. However, point solutions do not meet the demands of companies who want flexibility in how they
communicate with customers based on the nature of their inquiry. Point solutions also create interaction silos,
making it difficult for customer service agents to easily reference a customer’s past communications that
originated from multiple channels. Nor do they use a common knowledge base to deliver consistent accurate
responses. Moreover, many of these solutions do not integrate easily with a company’s existing legacy system,
making it difficult to implement and maintain these applications.

To meet the demands of the modern customer, businesses need a comprehensive, functionally rich, yet
deeply integrated customer service suite to serve customers across the phone, web, and email. eGain has designed
its suite of software applications to meet this need.

The eGain Solution

Our application suite, eGain Service 6™, is available licensed or hosted, and includes integrated,
best-in-class applications for customer email management, live web collaboration, virtual agent customer service,
knowledge management, and web self-service. These robust applications are built on the eGain SMP™, a scalable
next-generation framework that includes end-to-end service process management, multi-channel, multi-site
contact center management, a flexible integration approach, and certified out-of-the-box integrations with leading
call center and business systems.

Our applications and platform are based on a 100% Internet architecture and open standards such as J2EE,
XML, HTTP, JDBC and Java and are designed to be easily integrated and highly scalable.

We provide companies with the following benefits:

s Develop and enhance profitable long term customer relationships. Whether a customer is asking a
question, seeking a resolution to an issue or making a purchase, our solution allows companies to
greatly enhance the interaction experience for customers. Companies can respond rapidly and
effectively to large volumes of email, communicate over the Web in real-time with their customers,
answer questions on the phone, track the history of individual customer interactions, fulfill service
requests and allow customers to handle their own service needs at any time.
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» In addition to strengthening existing customer relationships, our products are designed to increase the
likelihood that a web site visitor will become a customer. A visitor to a web site utilizing eGain
solutions can interact with a customer service representative live over the web through chat,
co-browsing and application sharing to inquire about a specific product or issue, thereby facilitating
resolution of customer service issues and catalyzing the sales process.

*  Reduce operating costs and increase revenue. Our products enable companies to provide highly
effective and efficient customer service while reducing operating costs. Our intelligent routing and
auto-suggest/auto-response  capabilities, tracking, workload and reporting features, and
knowledge-guided service and contextual sales capabilities are designed to measurably enhance the
productivity of a company’s customer service representatives while simultaneously generating revenue.
From an online customer perspective, our robust self-service tools, logical integrated escalation paths
and sophisticated artificial intelligence engine empower online customers to resolve business issues
without human assistance, thereby reducing the demands on the customer service organization.

*  Reduce technology costs. Our products are designed to integrate, not only with each other, but with
data and processes residing in legacy systems and other enterprise data sources. By integrating with
existing corporate systems, our platform allows companies to leverage prior investments, extending the
useful lives of such systems and reducing the need for additional expenditures on enterprise
applications, while transforming traditional phone-centric call centers into multi-channel contact
centers.

*  Provide flexible deployment options. Our products are designed to allow companies to deploy our
applications either in-house at their own facility via installed software or in a hosted environment
operated and maintained by us. Customers using our hosted operations can take advantage of our
hosting expertise, thereby reducing the demands on their own information technology resources while
receiving the full benefit of secure and reliable access to our applications.

The eGain Strategy

Our objective is to further enhance our position as a leading provider of customer service and contact center
software. The key elements of our strategy include:

Enhance and Expand the Leading Integrated, Multi-Channel Customer Service Platform. We believe we
are one of the few companies that provide software to enable integrated communication across email, real-time
web channels such as chat and co-browsing, and web self-service, in addition to the phone through seamless
telephony integration. We have a strong track record of successfully extending our platform through internal
development and acquisitions and continue to invest in research and development efforts. We believe we were
the first company to expand channels of communication by integrating the email and real-time channels. We also
believe we were the first company to offer self-service and knowledge management applications integrated into a
complete customer service platform. In addition, our solution is designed to integrate with leading CRM, ERP
and call center systems, enabling customers to leverage investments in existing systems and providing an
enterprise-wide solution.

Provide Demonstrable Return on Investment to Customers. Especially in these challenging economic
times when many companies are dramatically scaling back their investments in information technology, we
believe customers will only buy enterprise software if they are convinced it will result in real return on
investment (“ROI”), in both the short and long run. A central element of our strategy is the ability to provide
companies with demonstrable ROI from the purchase of our software applications. Among the ways in which our
products are designed to provide this ROI are: increased revenues from enhanced customer loyalty, timely
pre-sales help via live web collaboration, and contextual upselling/cross-selling in a service context; decreased
headcount and associated costs, improved agent productivity in the call center and customer support areas;
enabling new paradigms such as call center consolidation and off-shoring; providing customers with access to
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lower-cost service alternatives than traditional telephone support; and preserving and leveraging existing
information technology investments using our easily-integrated products. Our comprehensive ROI assessment
tools make it easier for our customers and prospects to invest in.our solutions.

Technology Leadership. With the creation of our flagship product, eGain Email, we were the first
company to introduce a 100% web-native solution to address the need for online customer interaction
management. Since inception, we have designed our products from the ground up for easy browser access from
anywhere at any time, and rapid, flexible deployment via in-house or hosted options. We intend to maintain our
technology leadership by continuing to fine-tune our applications and user interfaces to a 100% web architecture
for maximum performance, user adoption and productivity. We believe that our web-native architecture provides
true global access, improved scalability, easier integration with existing enterprise applications and systems, and
lower deployment costs than alternative products.

Flexible Delivery Options. We believe that offering our solution on a hosted or licensed basis provides
customers with a meaningful choice of deployment options. Customers can choose to license applications for
deployment at their facilities, or employ our hosted operations. They may also choose an in-house
implementation managed remotely by our managed services program. Customers choosing to receive hosted
access to our solutions can focus on other aspects of their business while benefiting from the rapid deployment,
24x7 reliability and support, scalability on demand, and lower up-front investment that the hosting option offers.
We believe that we offer the highest level of deployment flexibility among enterprise-class customer service
software vendors.

Expand Global Distribution Capabilities. We intend to expand our global distribution capabilities through
our direct sales efforts as well as strategic relationships. We maintain a sales presence in 19 countries including
the United Kingdom, India and Japan. With the introduction of muiti-lingual versions of our products (Asian and
Western European language capabilities), we may attempt to further penetrate international markets. In addition
to our direct sales and marketing efforts, we are engaged in a number of formal and informal strategic
relationships with system integrators, consulting firms, technology partners and solution providers.

Products and Services
eGain Service 6 Suite of Applications

eGain Service 6 is a complete customer service management solution. Built for rapidly implementing
next-generation contact-center strategies, it consists of a service process management platform-—the unique and
open eGain SMP™—and best-of-breed applications for self-service and the contact center. Unlike most existing
customer service suites, which are old client-server software packages, eGain Service 6 combines industry best
practices and powerful service process management capabilities with a pure web architecture and an
industry-leading 6th-generation browser-based user interface. The solution offers true multi-channel service and
integrated work management, and is designed to leverage existing investments in contact centers, business
systems, and web sites.

The individual applications in the suite are described below:

* eGain Email is an industry-leading solution for processing inbound customer emails and providing
mission-critical email customer service, incorporating hundreds of best-practices developed over years
of serving innovative global enterprises. Secure messaging, lifecycle audits, and real-time archival are
some of the features that provide eGain customers a next-generation email management platform for
their enterprises. The first email management application designed as a true “application utility,” it can
be implemented by corporate IT to deliver customer email management capability on-demand to
multiple business units within the enterprise. Designed to process very high volumes of emails and
webform requests, eGain Email allows companies to deliver consistent, high-quality service through
flexible process automation, optimized user interface, and powerful reports. eGain Email is an integral
part of the eGain Service 6 suite.




eGain Campaign is a high volume, outbound email management solution used for targeted service and
retention marketing campaigns. eGain Campaign enables businesses to engage in one-to-one
email-based customer interactions, leading to profitable, long-term relationships.

eGain KnowledgeAgent assists in providing high-quality customer service by empowering contact
center agents with knowledge, making every agent as productive and capable as your best agent. It
ensures fast, consistent, and accurate answers, requiring agents to simply enter queries as customers
describe their problems over the phone. eGain KnowledgeAgent uses patented search technology
coupled with natural language and advanced linguistic processing to search, suggest additional
questions, and recommend solutions. Experienced users can choose additional access models like a
visual folder-based view of content to speed their search. Either way, in the course of a natural
conversation with the customer, a service agent is served the right answer by eGain KnowledgeAgent.
In addition, this solution, in conjunction with eGain Content Adapter™, allows an agent to access
information stored in external systems. eGain KnowledgeAgent is an integral part of the eGain Service
6 suite.

eGain LiveWeb is an industry-leading solution for providing real-time web assistance. It incorporates
hundreds of best-practices developed over years of serving innovative global enterprises, including
proxy-based co-browsing, multi-chat interface, secure authentication, scalable load-balancing, and
universal browser support. The first web collaboration application designed as a true “application
utility,” eGain LiveWeb can be implemented by corporate IT to deliver on-demand live web assistance
to multiple business units within an enterprise. Designed to process very high volumes of service
requests, eGain LiveWeb allows you to deliver consistent, high-quality service. eGain LiveWeb is an
integral part of the eGain Service 6 suite.

eGain Self-Service is a comprehensive solution that supports the broadest set of self-service access
options—FAQs, browse, search, guided help, virtual agent technology and case tracking. Shaped by our
experience with hundreds of enterprise customers and innovative organizations, eGain Self-Service
offers a unique combination of rich, multi-access self-service capabilities built on a collaborative
knowledge management framework within eGain SMP™. This framework makes it easy for
organizations to create, maintain, and enhance common content in a distributed manner, as well as
leverage existing content from across the enterprise. eGain Self-Service is an integral part of the eGain
Service 6 suite.

eGain WorkDesk offers a unique solution designed for end-to-end handling of customer service requests
that includes service fulfillment in a multi-channel contact center. eGain WorkDesk enables customer
service agents to track and manage their daily work including customer cases, phone activity, follow-up
tasks and reminders.

eGain Adapters include a set of out-of-the-box integration modules for connecting eGain applications
with content repositories, Call Center Telephony (CTI) solutions, databases, and business applications.
Using eGain Adapters, companies can leverage existing investments and realize the benefits of an
enterprise-wide business operation platform at reduced cost of ownership and reduced time to benefit.
eGain Adapters are of three kinds: eGain Data Adapter, eGain CTI Adapter, and eGain Content Adapter.

Hosted Operations

Our hosted customers receive access to the full functionality of our applications through a standard web
browser and Internet connection. Through a network of our service centers and hosting partners linked by
high-speed Internet connections, we provide our customers with multiple redundant paths to access their hosted
customer service applications. We remotely manage these applications which reside on server machines housed
at leading co-location facilities. We also offer value-added services to our hosted customers, including
application management, database maintenance, mail hosting and anti-virus protection. We have also developed
proprietary web-based hosted service management systems, enabling our service professionals to efficiently
administer and manage large numbers of hosted customer applications.
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Furthermore, the multi-tenant capability of eGain Service 6 allows us to more effectively serve multiple
customers at reduced cost of ownership.

Professional Services

Our worldwide professional services organization provides consulting, hosting, technical support and
education services designed to ensure customer success and build customer loyalty.

*  Consulting Services. Our consulting services group offers rapid implementation services, custom
solution development and systems integration services. Consultants work with customers to understand
their specific requirements, analyze their business needs and implement integrated solutions. We
provide these services independently or in partnership with systems integrators who have developed
consulting expertise on our platform.

* Hosted Services. Our hosted services group provides 24x7 application management, monitoring and
response services. We also provide database services to maintain and enhance the performance,
availability and reliability of production systems as well as network security services.

*  Support Services. We offer a comprehensive collection of support services designed to respond to
inquiries rapidly. Our technical support services are available to customers worldwide under
maintenance agreements.

*  Education Services. Our educational services group provides a comprehensive set of basic and
customized training programs to our customers and partners. Training programs are offered either
online, in-person at the customer site, or at one of our worldwide training centers.

As of fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, we had approximately 78 professionals providing worldwide services
for systems installation, solutions development, application management, and education and support.

Sales and Marketing
Sales Strategy

Our sales strategy is to pursue targeted accounts through a combination of our direct sales force and
strategic alliances. We target our sales efforts at Global 2000 companies. Our North American direct sales
personnel are based at our corporate headquarters in Mountain View, California, with field sales presence
throughout the United States and Canada. Internationally, we have field offices in Ireland, Italy, India, Japan, and
the United Kingdom.

The direct sales force is organized into teams that include both sales representatives and sales consultants.
Our direct sales force is complemented by telemarketing representatives.

We further complement our direct sales force with a series of reseller and sales alliances. Through these
alliances, we are able to leverage additional sales, marketing and deployment capabilities.

Marketing and Partner Strategy

Our marketing strategy is to build market awareness as a leading provider of customer service and contact
center software that enables Global 2000 companies to transform traditional call centers into multi-channel
contact centers that generate profits and value for the entire enterprise. Our marketing also focuses on generating
qualified leads for the sales force.

We employ a wide range of marketing avenues to deliver our message, including print and Internet
advertising, targeted electronic and postal mailing, email newsletters and a variety of trade shows, seminars and
interest groups.




Our marketing group also produces sales tools, including product collateral, customer case studies,
demonstrations, presentations and competitive analyses. In addition, our marketing group performs market
analyses and conducts focus group and customer reviews to identify and develop key partnership opportunities
and product requirements.

We believe that our partners help extend the breadth and depth of our product offerings, drive market
penetration, and augment our professional service capabilities. We believe these relationships are important to
delivering successful, integrated products and services to our customers.

As of fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, there were approximately 44 employees engaged in worldwide sales
and marketing activities.

Customers

We serve a worldwide customer base across a wide variety of industry sectors. No customer accounted for
10% or more of total revenue in the fiscal year just ended. The following is a representative list of companies that
have entered into license agreements for one or more of our products:

Telecommunications Retail Technology
AT&T Crate and Barrel Epson
Charter Communication Gymboree Hewlett-Packard
Verizon HMV IBM
Virgin Mobile Timberland Manufacturing
Vodafone Group . . . PR VAR TI
Zone Telecommunication Financial Services GE Apphances.
ABN AMRO Bank Lockheed Martin
QOutsourced Services ANZ Banking Group
Harte-Hanks Barclays Bank
Software Spectrum Charles Schwab
Spherion Freddie Mac
. GE Capital
Media — HSBC Bark
Emirates Airlines
Inphonic Jan}l 1 dReill
News Interactive 1?;;;;:60}1 ey
Novartis Pharmaceuticals
Snapfish
Competition

The market for customer service and contact center software is intensely competitive. Other than product
innovation and existing customer relationships, there are no substantial barriers to entry in this market, and
established or new entities may enter this market in the near future. While home-grown software developed by
enterprises represents indirect competition, we also compete directly with packaged application software vendors
in the customer service arena, including Avaya, Inc., Firepond, Inc., Genesys Telecommunications
(a wholly-owned subsidiary of Alcatel), Kana Software, Inc., Primus Knowledge Solutions, Inc., RightNow
Technologies, Inc., Serviceware, and Talisma Corp. In addition, we face actual or potential competition from
larger software companies such as Siebel Systems, Inc., PeopleSoft, Inc., Oracle Corporation, SAP Inc. and
similar companies that may attempt to sell customer service software to their installed base.

We believe competition will continue to be fierce and increase as current competitors increase the
sophistication of their offerings and as new participants enter the market. Many of our current and potential

competitors have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, broader brand recognition, and significantly
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greater financial, marketing and other resources. With more established and better-financed competitors, these
companies may be able to undertake more extensive marketing campaigns, adopt more aggressive pricing
policies, and make more attractive offers to businesses to induce them to use their products or services.

Further, any delays in the general market acceptance of our applications would likely harm our competitive
position by allowing our competitors additional time to improve their product and service offerings, and also
provide time for new competitors to develop applications and solicit prospective customers within our target
markets. Increased competition could result in pricing pressures, reduced operating margins and loss of market
share.

Product Development

The market for our products changes rapidly and is characterized by evolving industry standards, swift
changes in customer requirements and frequent new product introductions and enhancements. We believe that
strong product development capabilities are essential to our strategy of maintaining technology leadership. This
includes enhancing current technology, providing excellent quality, performance, and functionality, as well as
developing additional applications and maintaining the competitiveness of our product and service offerings. We
have invested significant time and resources to create a structured process for undertaking all product
development. This process involves several functional groups at all levels within our organization and is
designed to provide a framework for defining and addressing the activities required in bringing product concepts
and development projects to market successfully.

In addition, we continuously analyze market and customer requirements and evaluate technology that we
believe will enhance platform acceptance in the market. We selectively choose partners with superior technology
to enhance features and functionality of our product offerings.

As of fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, there were approximately 66 employees engaged in worldwide
product development activities.

Intellectual Property

We regard our copyrights, service marks, trademarks and similar intellectual property as critical to our
success. We rely on patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret and other laws, as well as confidentiality
procedures and licensing arrangements, to protect the proprietary aspects of our technology and business. We
own four patents in the field of case-based reasoning, and have patents pending on various other aspects of our
technology.

We are continually assessing the propriety of seeking patent and other intellectual property protection for
those aspects of our technology that we believe constitute innovations providing significant competitive
advantages. Pending and future applications may or may not receive the issuance of valid patents and trademarks.

We routinely require our employees, customers, and potential business partners to enter into confidentiality
and nondisclosure agreements before we will disclose any sensitive aspects of our products, technology, or
business plans. In addition, we require employees to agree to surrender to us any proprietary information,
inventions or other intellectual property they generate or come to possess while employed by us. Despite our
efforts to protect our proprietary rights through confidentiality and license agreements, unauthorized parties may
attemnpt to copy or otherwise obtain and use our products or technology. These precautions may not prevent
misappropriation or infringement of our intellectual property. In addition, some of ‘our license agreements with
certain customers and partners require us to place the source code for our products into escrow. These
agreements typically provide that some party will have a limited, non-exclusive right to access and use this code
as authorized by the license agreement if there is a bankruptcy proceeding instituted by or against us, or if we
materially breach a contractual commitment to provide support and maintenance to the party.
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Third parties may infringe or misappropriate our copyrights, trademarks and similar proprietary rights. In
addition, other parties may assert infringement claims against us. Our products may infringe issued patents that
may relate to our products. In addition, because patent applications in the United States are not publicly disclosed
until the patent is issued, applications may have been filed which relate to our software products. We may be
subject to legal proceedings and claims from time to time in the ordinary course of our business, including claims
of alleged infringement of the trademarks and other intellectual property rights of third parties. Intellectual
property litigation is expensive and time-consuming and could divert management’s attention away from running
our business. This litigation could also require us to develop non-infringing technology or enter into royalty or
license agreements. These royalty or license agreements, if required, may not be available on acceptable terms, if
at all, in the event of a successful claim of infringement. Our failure or inability to develop non-infringing
technology or license the proprietary rights on a timely basis would harm our business.

Employees

As of fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, we had 223 full-time employees, of which 66 were in product
development, 81 in services and support, 44 in sales and marketing, and 32 in finance and administration.

None of our employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements. While we believe our relations
with employees are good, our future performance depends largely upon the continued service of our key
technical, sales and marketing, and senior management personnel, none of whom are bound by employment
agreements requiring service for a defined period of time. The loss of services of one or more of our key
employees could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We may not be successful in attracting, training and retaining qualified personnel, and the failure to do so,
particularly in key functional areas such as product development and sales, could materially and adversely affect
our business, results of operations and financial condition. Qur future success will likely depend largely on our
ability to attract and retain experienced sales, technical, marketing and management personnel.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease all facilities used in our business. The following table summarizes our principal properties.

Approximate Lease
Location Principal Use Square Footage Expiration Date
Mountain View, California ...... Corporate Headquarters 16,000 2011
Pune,India ................... Corporate Offices 21,000 2007
Slough, England ......... L European Headquarters 7,000 2008

We believe our facilities are suitable for our uses and are generally adequate to support the current level of
operations for the next 12 months.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Beginning on October 25, 2001, a number of securities class action complaints were filed against us, and
certain of our then officers and directors and underwriters connected with our initial public offering of common
stock in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York (consolidated into In re Initial Public
Offering Sec. Litig.). The complaints alleged generally that the prospectus under which such securities were sold
contained false and misleading statements with respect to discounts and excess commissions received by the
underwriters as well as allegations of “laddering” whereby underwriters required their customers to purchase
additional shares in the aftermarket in exchange for an allocation of IPO shares. The complaints sought an
unspecified amount in damages on behalf of persons who purchased the common stock between September 23,
1999 and December 6, 2000. Similar complaints were filed against 55 underwriters and more than 300 other
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companies and other individuals. The over 1,000 complaints were consolidated into a single action. We reached
an agreement with the plaintiffs to resolve the cases as to our liability and that of our officers and directors. The
settlement involved no monetary payment or other consideration by us or our officers and directors and no
admission of liability. The Court has not yet approved the settlement.

On December 13, 2002, Mindfabric, Inc. filed an action for patent infringement against us. The suit was
settled and resolved in April, 2004 with no cash payments and the execution of a cross-licensing agreement
between the parties.

On February 26, 2003, Golden Gate Plaza, LLC filed a complaint for unlawful detainer against us. On
December 23, 2003 we entered into a settlement agreement with the plaintiff to resolve the case (see Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 13: Litigation). A Request for Dismissal was entered by the
court on January 12, 2004 and the settlement was later approved.

On February 12, 2004, we filed suit against Insight Enterprises, Inc., the acquirer of Comark, Inc., a
value-added reseller of our software, claiming inter alia breach of contract and failure to pay in connection with
a sale of our software to one customer. The lawsuit seeks in excess of $600,000 in damages.

From time to time we are party to routine legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business
and incidental to our business, none of which are expected to have a material adverse impact, as taken
individually or in the aggregate, upon our business, financial position or results of operations. However, even if
these claims are not meritorious, the ultimate outcome of any litigation is uncertain, and it could divert
management’s attention and impact other resources.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.




PARTII

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

(a) Market Information

In Fiscal Year 2003, our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market giving effect to a
one-for-ten reverse stock split on August 20, 2003. In February 2004 eGain’s Common Stock began trading on
the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbol “EGAN.OB”. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated,
high and low sale prices for eGain’s Common Stock as reported by the Nasdag SmallCap Market or the OTC
Bulletin Board. The figures below are on a post-reverse stock split basis.

_I!i_g_h_ Low

Year Ended June 30, 2004

First QUarter .. .......ounvii it $6.40 $2.62

Second QUArter . .. ... ... e 439 175

Third QUarter ... ..ottt e e 4.60 1.65

Fourth Quarter .. ... .. ... e 2.10  1.03
Year Ended June 30, 2003

First QUarter . ... ... ...ttt e $4.90 $1.20

Second Quarter . ....... .. 380 1.00

Third Quarter ... ... 250 1.70

Fourth Quarter .. ... ... i e e 7.20 1.80

(b) Holders

As of September 22, 2004, there were approximately 380 stockholders of record. This number does not
include stockholders whose shares are held in trust by other entities. We estimate that there were approximately
9,100 beneficial stockholders of our common stock as of September 22, 2004.

(¢) Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently anticipate that we
will retain all available funds for use in the operation of our business and do not intend to pay any cash dividends
in the foreseeable future.

(d) Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities remaining

Number of securities to be ~ Weighted-average available for future issuance
issued upon exercise of exercise price of under equity compensation
outstanding options, outstanding options, plans (excluding securities
warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column a)
Plan Category Column a Column b Column ¢
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders .............. 344.733(1) $16.67 286,278
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders ... ... 117,786(2) $24.11 80,903
Total ..... ... ... ... ... 462,519 $18.57 367,181

(1) Includes the aggregate number of securities to be issued upon exercise of options assumed in
connection with our acquisition of several companies (10,349 with a weighted average exercise price of
$57.86). There are no remaining options available for future issuance under these plans.
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(2) Includes the aggregate number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options assumed
in connection with our acquisition of several companies (73 with a weighted average exercise price of
$40.75). There are no remaining options available for future issuance under this plan.

(e) Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities, Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities
(1) Notes and Warrants issued in March 2004
(2) Notes and Warrants issued in October 2003
(3) Notes and Warrants issued in December 2002

The proceeds from such issuances were used by eGain for general working capital purposes.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data set forth on the following page should be read in conjunction with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” our Consolidated
Financial Statements and Notes thereto, and other financial information included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
Historical results are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for future periods.

Revenue:
License ...t
Support and Services .. ....... ..ol

Totalrevenue .......................
Costoflicense ...............covvvinnn..
Cost of support and services .. ..............
Cost of revenue—acquisition related .........

Gross profit (loss) ....................
Operating costs and expenses:

Research and development .................
Sales and marketing ......................
General and administrative .. ...............
Impairment of long-lived assets .............
Amortization of goodwill ..................
Amortization of intangible assets ............
Amortization of deferred compensation .. .....
Restructuring andother . ...................

Total operating costs and expenses .. ... ..

Loss fromoperations ............ ...,
Interestincome .............c. ...
Interest expense and other income (expense) .. ... ..

Netloss ..o

Dividends on convertible preferred stock . .........

Beneficial conversion feature on convertible
preferred stock ....... ... L i

Net loss applicable to common stockholders .......

Per share information:
Basic and diluted net loss per common share . . .

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net
loss per common share ..................

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments . .
Workingcapital . .......... ... ..o
Total @SSetS .. ... i
Long-termdebt ................ ... ... .. ...,

Fiscal Years Ended June 30,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(in thousands, except per share information)

$ 4058 $ 6,095 $ 10,015 $ 24285 $ 5,053
15,545 15,989 20,414 29,152 8,309
19,603 22,084 30,429 53,437 13,362

1,646 1,772 858 782 —
6,462 8,738 16,003 28,620 14,550
— 827 1,448 1,448 103
11,495 10,747 12,120 22,587 (1,291)
2,942 5,869 11,395 22,877 11,752
8,284 9,598 25,147 46,995 27,893
3,447 4,816 8,940 16,389 7,211

— — 36,779 — —

— — 33212 34964 10,881
1,203 1,307 1,852 1,852 64
— 157 961 3291 10,553

23 620 8,964 1,443 71
15,899 22,367 127,250 127,811 68,425
(4,404) (11,620) (115,130) (105,224) (69,716)
16 76 601 3,417 2,047
(506) 68 (1,291) (845) (762)
(4,894) (11,476) (115,820) (102,652) (68,431)

(7,384)  (6,890) 6,447) (5,433) —

— — (43,834)  (19,335) —
$(12,278) $(18,366) $(166,101) $(127,420) $(68,431)
$ (333 S8 (501 $ (4585 $ (36.24) $ (29.19)
3,688 3,664 3,623 3,516 2,344

June 30,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(in thousands)

$ 5181 $ 4407 $ 9892 §$ 42,613 $ 30,192
2,009 (172) 2,281 37,758 11,909
15,161 19,038 35,544 158,151 175,900
6,607 1,974 831 1,720 1,072
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This report on Form 10-K and the documents incorporated herein by reference contain forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. These statements may be identified by the use of the words such
as “anticipates,” “believes, continue,” “could,” “would,” “estimates,” “forecasts, expects,” “intends,”
“may,” “might,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “should,” or “will” and similar expressions or the negative
of those terms. The forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, risks stemming from strategic and
operational choices in recent quarters, our equity structure and the significant risk of dilution, the adequacy of
our capital resources and need for additional financing, our technological leadership and product development
capabilities, the expansion of our strategic relationships and distribution capabilities and our corresponding
ability to grow revenue, the competitive landscape of our industry, our continued net losses since inception, our
limited operating history, liquidation preferences related to our preferred stock, continued lengthy and delayed
sales cycles, broad economic and political instability around the world affecting the market for our goods and
services, the continued need for customer service and contact center software solutions and the continued
acceptance of our Web-native architecture, the effects of cost reductions on our workforce and ability to service
customers, risks from our substantial international operations, adverse results in pending litigation, legal and
regulatory uncertainties and other risks related to protection of our intellectual property assets and the
operational integrity and maintenance of our systems. Our actual results could differ materially from those
discussed in statements relating to our future plans, product releases, objectives, expectations and intentions,
and other assumptions underlying or relating to any of these statements. Factors that could contribute to such
differences include those discussed in “Additional Factors That May Affect Future Results” and elsewhere in this
document. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date hereof. We expressly disclaim any
obligation or understanding to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements
contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or any change in events,
conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

»ow« 3 P2

3 s

Overview

We are a leading provider of customer service and contact center software, used by global enterprises for
over a decade. eGain Service 6™, our software suite, available through licensed or hosted models, includes
integrated, best-in-class applications for customer email management, live web collaboration, virtual agent
customer service, knowledge management, and web self-service. These robust applications are built on the eGain
Service Management Platform (eGain SMP™), a scalable next-generation framework that includes end-to-end
service process management, multi-channel, multi-site contact center management, a flexible integration
approach, and certified out-of-the-box integrations with leading call center and business systems. We market and
sell our products worldwide through our direct sales force and third-party distribution partners.

We were founded in September 1997. Since inception, we have incurred substantial costs developing our
proprietary technological solutions, recruiting and compensating personnel, and purchasing operating assets. As a
result of these efforts, and the decline in technology spending by our customers in recent years'we have incurred
significant losses and had an accumulated deficit of $315.5 million as of June 30, 2004, which includes
approximately $80.3 million related to goodwill charges.

In response to our revenues declining over the last three years we have repeatedly taken actions to reduce
expense rates. As a result of these actions our net loss from operations decreased to $4.4 million in fiscal year
2004 from $11.6 million in fiscal year 2003 and $115.1 million in fiscal year 2002. In addition, net cash used in
operating activities decreased to $2.3 million in fiscal 2004 compared to $5.9 million in fiscal year 2003 and
$27.5 million in fiscal year 2002. With this progress on expense reduction and securing $4.5 million in long-term
debt financing in fiscal 2004, our cash and cash equivalents increased to $5.2 million on June 30, 2004 from
$4.4 million on June 30, 2003. As of June 30, 2004, we had working capital of $2.0 million, compared to a
working capital deficit of $172,000 at June 30, 2003. We believe that existing capital resources will enable us to
maintain current and planned operations for the next 12 months. We intend to continue to make investments in
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product development and technology to enhance our current products and services, develop new products and
services and further advance our solution offerings. We have not achieved profitability on a quarterly or annual
basis. In view of the rapidly evolving nature of our business and limited operating history, we believe that
period-to-period comparisons of our revenue and operating results may not be meaningful and should not be
relied upon as indications of future performance.

In April 2001, we obtained final regulatory approval from the government of India to complete the
acquisition of eGain Communications Private Limited (“eGain India”), formerly Nitman Software Private
Limited, a software development company located in Pune, India. Effective April 23, 2001, we acquired all of
the outstanding capital stock of eGain India for cash. The acquisition has been at the cornerstone of our strategy
of developing a global operating model that allows the company to maintain its commitment to the customer
service and contact center market and innovation while remaining fiscally prudent.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgments,
including those related to revenue recognition, valuation allowances and accrued liabilities, long-lived assets and
restructuring. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Revenue Recognition

We derive revenues from three sources, hosting fees, license fees and services. Services include software
maintenance and support, training and system implementation consulting. Maintenance and support consists of
technical support and software upgrades and enhancements. Significant management judgments and estimates
are made and used to determine the revenue recognized in any accounting period. Material differences may result
in the amount and timing of our revenue for any period if different conditions were to prevail.

We apply the provisions of Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as
amended by SOP 98-9 “Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain
Transactions™ to all transactions involving the sale of software products.

We recognize license revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the product has been
delivered, no significant obligations remain, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collection of the resulting
receivable is probable. In software arrangements that include rights to multiple software products and/or services,
we use the residual method under which revenue is allocated to the undelivered elements based on vendor
specific objective evidence of the fair value of such undelivered elements. The residual amount of revenue is
allocated to the delivered elements and recognized as revenue. Such undelivered elements in these arrangements
typically consist of services.

We recognize hosting services revenue ratably over the period of the applicable agreement as services are
provided. Hosting agreements are typically for a period of one year and automatically renew unless either party
cancels the agreement.

We use signed software license and services agreements and order forms as evidence of an arrangement for
sales of software, hosting, maintenance and support. We use signed engagement letters to evidence an
arrangement for system implementation consulting and training.
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Software is delivered to customers electronically or on a CD-ROM. We assess whether the fee is fixed or
determinable based on the payment terms associated with the transaction. Our standard payment terms are
generally less than 90 days. In instances where payments are subject to extended payment terms, revenue is
deferred until payments become due. We assess collectability based on a number of factors, including the
customer’s past payment history and its current creditworthiness. If we determine that collection of a fee is not
reasonably assured, we defer the revenue and recognize it at the time collection becomes reasonably assured,
which is generally upon receipt of cash payment. If an acceptance period is required, revenue is recognized upon
the earlier of customer acceptance or the expiration of the acceptance period.

When licenses are sold together with consulting and implementation services, license fees are recognized
upon shipment, provided that (1) the above criteria have been met, (2) payment of the license fees is not
dependent upon the performance of the consulting and implementation services, and (3) the services are not
essential to the functionality of the software. For arrangements that do not meet the above criteria, both the
product license revenues and services revenues are recognized in accordance with the provisions of SOP 81-1,
“Accounting for Performance of Construction Type and Certain Production Type Contracts.” When reliable
estimates are available for the costs and efforts necessary to complete the implementation services, we account
for the arrangements under the percentage of completion method pursuant to SOP 81-1. When such estimates are
not available, the completed contract method is utilized.

The majority of our consulting and implementation services and accompanying agreements qualify for
separate accounting. We use vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value for the services and maintenance to
account for the arrangement using the residual method, regardless of any separate prices stated within the
contract for each element. Our consulting and implementation service contracts are bid either on a fixed-fee basis
or on a time-and-materials basis. For a fixed-fee contract, we recognize revenue upon completion of specific
contractual milestones or using the percentage of completion method. For time-and-materials contracts, we
recognize revenue as services are performed.

Maintenance and support revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance contract, which is
typically one year. Training revenue is recognized when training is provided.

Revenue from sales to resellers is recognized either upon delivery to the reseller or on a sell-through basis,
depending on the facts and circumstances of the transaction, such as our understanding of the reseller’s use of our
software, the reseller’s financial status and our past experience with the particular reseller. Accordingly the
decision whether to recognize revenue to resellers either upon delivery or on a sell-through basis requires
significant management judgment. This judgment can materially impact the timing of revenue recognition.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

Effective July 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142 and ceased amortization of goodwill and began reviewing
it annually (or more frequently if impairment indicators arise) for impairment. In addition, we evaluated our
remaining purchased intangible assets to determine that all such assets have determinable lives. We operate under
a single reporting unit and accordingly, all of our goodwill is associated with the entire company. Prior to the
adoption of SFAS No. 142, we amortized goodwill on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of three
years.

In connection with the transitional goodwill impairment evaluation provisions of SFAS 142, we performed a
goodwill impairment review as of July 1, 2002 and found no impairment. We also performed our annual
goodwill impairment review as of April 1, 2004 and found no impairment.

As of July 1, 2002, in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS 144”), we review long-lived
assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in
business circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be fully recoverable. Under
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SFAS 144, an impairment loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to
result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying amount. Impairment, if any,
is assessed using discounted cash flows. Significant management judgment is required in the forecasting of future
operating results which are used in the preparation of projected discounted cash flows and, should different
conditions prevail or judgments be made, material write-downs of net intangible assets and/or goodwill could
occur. In addition, our depreciation and amortization policies reflect judgments on the estimated useful lives of
assets.

Restructuring

We have taken restructuring charges related to excess facilities and have established reserves of estimable
cost (as required by accounting standards) against outstanding commitments for leased properties that we have
abandoned. These reserves are based upon our estimate of triggering events, such as the time required to sublease
the property and the amount of sublease income that might be generated from the date of abandonment and the
expiration of the lease. These estimates are reviewed based on changes in these triggering events. Adjustments to
the restructuring charge will be made in future periods, if necessary, should different conditions prevail from
those anticipated in our original estimate.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts to reserve for potential uncollectable trade receivables. We
review our trade receivables by aging category to identify specific customers with known disputes or
collectability issues. We exercise judgment when determining the adequacy of these reserves as we evaluate
historical bad debt trends, general economic conditions in the U.S. and internationally, and changes in customer
financial conditions. If we made different judgments or utilized different estimates, material differences may
result in additional reserves for trade receivables, which would be reflected by charges in general and
administrative expenses for any period presented.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain items reflected in our consolidated statements of operations expressed
as a percent of total revenues for the periods indicated.

Fiscal Year
2004 2003 2002

Revenue:
License ... 21% 28% 33%
Support and ServiCes . . . ..ot 7%% 2% 67%
Total TEVENMUE . . .ottt 100% 100% 100%
CoSt Of [ICEISE . . o . o e ettt e e e 8% 8% 3%
CoSt Of SUPPOTT . . oot 33% 39% 52%
Cost of revenue—acquisitionrelated ......... ... . ... ... i — 4% 5%
Gross profit (10Ss) .. ... ..o 59% 49%  40%
Research and development ....... .. ... .. 15% 27% 37%
Sales and marketing . ... ... i e 42% 43% 83%
General and administrative .. ... ... ... . e 18% 22% 29%
Impairment of long-lived assets ....... ... oo — — 121%
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets ......................... 6% 6% 115%
Amortization of deferred compensation ............... ... .. ... .. .. ... — 1% 3%
Restructuring and other .. ... .. o — % 3% 30%
Total operating costs and EXPEenSeS . . .. .ottt rtn e _81% 102% 418%
Loss from Operations . . .. ... vttt £2_2)% i?a)% (378)%



Revenue

Overall revenue, which consists of license revenue and support and services revenue, was $19.6 million,
$22.1 million and $30.4 million in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In fiscal year 2004, overall
revenue decreased 11%, or $2.5 million compared to fiscal year 2003. Overall revenue was relatively flat quarter
over quarter throughout fiscal year 2004 so the relative decrease was attributable to the steep revenue decline in
the first quarter of fiscal year 2004 where overall revenue decreased by 15% compared to the last quarter of fiscal
year 2003. For fiscal year 2003, overall revenue decreased 27%, or $8.3 million compared to fiscal year 2002.
The reduction in overall revenue over the last two fiscal years was primarily due to the continuing weak
economic environment, and in particular spending in technology, and its adverse impact on sales of enterprise
software. The weakness was particularly pronounced in the North American market in fiscal 2003 as both
existing and prospective customers postponed purchases or made smaller purchases than in previous years, but
stabilized in fiscal 2004. Revenue from North America declined $1.0 million or 9% in fiscal year 2004 compared
to fiscal year 2003 and declined $6.2 million, or 36% in fiscal year 2003 compared to fiscal year 2002.

License revenue was $4.1 million, $6.1 million and $10.0 million in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. This represents a decreased 33%, or $2.0 million in fiscal year 2004 compared to fiscal year 2003
and a decrease of 39%, or $3.9 million in fiscal year 2003 compared to fiscal year 2002. The decreases over the
last two fiscal years were primarily due to the slowing global economy that resulted in a decline in customer
orders as well as lengthened sales cycles worldwide as well as a shift by new customers to select the hosted
option versus a license purchase of our software.

Support and Services revenue was $15.5 million, $16.0 million and $20.4 million in fiscal years 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively. This represents a decrease of 3%, or $444,000 in fiscal year 2004 compared to fiscal year
2003 and a decrease of 22%, or $4.4 million in fiscal year 2003 compared to fiscal year 2002. The decreases over
the last two fiscal years were primarily due to the reduction in license revenue that resulted in a decline in new
maintenance contracts, customer implementations and system integration projects. In fiscal 2004 support and
services revenue reached its lowest point of $3.8 million in the first quarter but increased quarter over quarter
during the year to:$4.0 million in the fourth quarter. This was primarily due to a reduction in support and hosting
cancellations and an increase in the number of new hosting customers during the year. Hosting revenue was $3.1
million, $3.7 million and $5.6 million in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Even though hosting
revenues declined: year-over-year from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004, we did see the reversal of this trend due to the
increased number of new customers signing up for hosting in fiscal 2004. Hosting revenues increased by
approximately 20% in the second half of fiscal 2004 when compared to the first half of fiscal 2004.

In fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenue.

Cost of License

Cost of license primarily includes the amortization of prepaid third-party software royalties and delivery
costs for shipments to customers. Cost of license decreased 7%, or $126,000 in fiscal year 2004 compared to
fiscal year 2003. Cost of license increased 107%, or $914,000 in fiscal year 2003 compared to fiscal year 2002.
The decrease in fiscal year 2004 was primarily due to the extension of one royalty agreement with a third-party
vendor that resulted in a reduction of $172,000 in the amortization of prepaid royalties. We expect cost of license
to continue to decline in future periods with the expiration or renewal of other third party royalty agreements.

Cost of Support and Services

Cost of support and services includes personnel costs for our hosting services, consulting services and
customer support. It also includes depreciation of capital equipment used in our hosted network, cost of support
for the third-party software and lease costs paid to remote co-location centers. Cost of support and services was
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$6.5 million, $8.7 million and $16.0 million in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The significant
decrease in fiscal years 2003 and 2004 was primarily due to the reduction in worldwide workforce, a decline in
outside contractor services and co-location lease costs as well as the migration of resources to eGain India. Our
occupancy costs and related overhead were also reduced due to the consolidation of excess facilities, the asset
write-offs related to the reduction of work force and the closure of offices in fiscal year 2002 and fiscal year
2003. We do not anticipate a significant increase or decrease in cost of support and services in fiscal year 2005.

Cost of Revenue—Acquisition Related

Cost of revenue—acquisition related costs was $0, $827,000 and $1.4 million in fiscal year 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The decrease was primarily due to a discontinuance of the amortization of acquired workforce
intangibles that was reclassified to goodwill as of July 1, 2002 in accordance with SFAS 142. These amounts
consisted of amortization of developed technology resulting from our business combinations in fiscal year 2000,
The acquired developed technology intangibles were fully amortized in the quarter ended March 31, 2003.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses primarily consist of compensation and benefits for our engineering,
product management and quality assurance personnel and, to a lesser extent, occupancy costs and related
overhead. Research and development expense was $2.9 million, $5.9 million and $11.4 million in fiscal years
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The decreases in fiscal year 2003 and 2004 were primarily due to a decline in
outside contractor services and the migration of development resources to eGain India. Our occupancy costs and
related overhead were also reduced due to the consolidation of excess facilities, the asset write-offs related to the
reduction of work force and the closure of offices in fiscal year 2002 and fiscal year 2003. We do not anticipate a
significant increase or decrease in research and development expenses in fiscal year 2005.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of compensation and benefits for our sales, marketing and
business development personnel, advertising, trade show and other promotional costs and, to a lesser extent,
occupancy costs and related overhead. Sales and marketing expense was $8.3 million, $9.6 million and $25.1
million in fiscal year 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The decreases in fiscal year 2003 and 2004 were
primarily due to a decline in headcount through planned workforce reductions to reflect a tough market and
internal reorganization and a decrease in spending on advertising and marketing programs. The reduced
sales-related expenses in fiscal year 2003 and 2004 included personnel costs, commission and travel expenses.
Our occupancy costs and related overhead were also reduced due to the consolidation of excess facilities, We do
not anticipate a significant increase or decrease in sales and marketing expenses in fiscal 2005.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of compensation and benefits for our finance, human
resources, administrative and legal services personnel, fees for outside professional services, provision for
doubtful accounts and, to a lesser extent, occupancy costs and related overhead. General and administrative
expense was $3.4 million, $4.8 million and $8.9 million in fiscal year 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
decreases in fiscal 2003 and 2004 were primarily due to a decline in headcount through increased efficiencies,
migration of certain accounting and human resource functions to India, the reduction in professional services fees
related to the change in accounting firm, reduced depreciation expense due to assets being fully depreciated, the
discontinuance of certain software maintenance contracts and a significant decrease in bad debt expense. The bad
debt expense was $21,000, $(103,000) and $1.8 million in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The decrease
was due to the improvement in our collection efforts, the guality of customer base and an overall reduction in
accounts receivables. Our occupancy costs and related overhead were also reduced due to the consolidation of
excess facilities. We do not anticipate a significant increase or decrease in general and administrative expenses in
fiscal 2005.
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Goodwill and Gther Intangible Assets

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 141 “Business Combinations” and SFAS 142 “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.” SFAS 141 requires business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for
using the purchase method of accounting. SFAS 141 also included guidance on the initial recognition and
measurement of goodwill and other intangible assets arising from business combinations and includes criteria
that required intangible assets such as assembled workforce to be recognized as part of goodwill. As of July 1,
2002, eGain reclassified $750,000 of assembled workforce from intangibles to goodwill.

Effective July 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142 and ceased amortization of goodwill and began reviewing
it annually (or more frequently if impairment indicators arise) for impairment. In addition, we evaluated our
remaining purchased intangible assets to determine that all such assets have determinable lives. We operate under
a single reporting unit and accordingly, all of our goodwill is associated with the entire company. Prior to the
adoption of SFA No. 142, we amortized goodwill on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of three
years. The purchased intangible assets including customer base and acquired technology are being amortized
over the assets estimated useful life, which ranges from three to four years. The amortizable intangibles were
fully amortized in fiscal year 2004 and remaining intangibles are for goodwill only.

Impairment of Long Lived Assets

In connection with the transitional goodwill impairment evaluation provisions of SFAS 142, we performed a
goodwill impairment review with the assistance of a third party valuation firm as of July 1, 2002 and found no
impairment. We also performed our annual goodwill impairment review with the assistance of a third party
valuation firm as of April 1, 2004 and April 1, 2003 and found no impairment.

As of July 1, 2002, in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS 1447), we review long-lived
assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in
business circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be fully recoverable. Under
SFAS 144, an impairment loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to
result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying amount. Impairment, if any,
is assessed using discounted cash flows. During fiscal 2004 and 2003, we did not have any such losses.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2002, in accordance with SFAS No. 121, we determined that impairment
indicators were present and therefore evaluated the carrying value of our goodwill and other intangible assets.
The evaluation was based on a cash flow forecast for five years ending June 30, 2007, and discounted at the rate
of 34%, which represented our estimated weighted average cost of capital. As a result of the evaluation, we
concluded that the book value of long-lived assets exceeded fair value by $36.8 million and accordingly, this
amount was charged to operations as impairment of long-lived assets in the fourth quarter of 2002.

Valuation and Amortization of Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation is recorded in connection with grants of stock options to employees on the date
of grant when the deemed fair value of the underlying common stock exceeds the exercise price for stock
options. Stock-based compensation is amortized on a graded vesting method over the vesting period of the
individual grants. In addition, we record compensation expense in connection with grants of stock options to
non-employees pursuant to “Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). These grants are periodically revalued as they vest in accordance with SFAS 123
and EITF 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring,
or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.” We recorded amortization of stock-based compensation of
$0, $157,000 and $1.0 million in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Restructuring and Other Expense

Net restructuring expense was $186,000, $620,000 and $9.0 million in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Other income was $163,000 in fiscal year 2004 and related to the gain on disposal of fixed assets.
There was no other expense recorded in fiscal years 2003 and 2002.

Beginning in fiscal 2001 and continuing through the first quarter of fiscal 2004, economic conditions in
North America and many of the other countries in which we operate either deteriorated or stabilized at depressed
levels. This continuing weak economic environment, and in particular spending in technology, has had an
adverse impact on sales of enterprise software. As a result, we have seen a decline in our revenues over the last
three fiscal years. In response to this decline, we initiated a series of steps to streamline operations and better
align operating costs and expenses with revenue trends. Specifically this included establishing restructuring plans
in fiscal years 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004.

Fiscal 2004 plan

In fiscal year 2004, the total restructuring charge relating to the Fiscal 2004 Plan was $80,000. This charge
related to workforce reductions in Europe and was completed and paid in full in fiscal 2004.

In addition, during fiscal 2004 we made provisional adjustments to both Fiscal 2003 and Fiscal 2002 Plans
as follows:

» The adjustment to the Fiscal 2003 Plan was primarily due to the reversal of the remaining accrual of
$74,000 relating to one of our facilities in Sunnyvale, California that we exited in fiscal 2004, $27,000
associated with the closure of our French office, and $14,000 in legal fees related to a lease settlement.

*  The adjustments to the Fiscal 2002 Plan of $139,000, primarily consisted of:

*  $79.000 increase for one of our facilities in Andover, Massachusetts due to a decrease in the
sublease income previously estimated,

»  $14,000 increase due to the write-off of leasehold improvement relating to the termination of a lease
agreement for one of our excess facilities in Novato, California.

*  $46,000 increase to the restructuring accrual for a settlement agreement to terminate a lease
agreement for one of our excess facilities in Novato, California.

The total payments in fiscal year 2004 of $1.2 million consisted of $80,000, $336,000, $725,000 and
$92,000 of expenses accrued in Fiscal 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001 Plans, respectively.

Fiscal 2003 Plan

In fiscal year 2003, the total restructuring charge relating to the Fiscal 2003 Plan was $2.3 million. The $2.3
million expense included $772,000 related to the closure of local offices in Holland, France, Germany, Australia
and Singapore, $225,000 for additional consolidation of excess facilities in North America, $1.2 million in
employee severance payments and $61,000 in professional services and miscellaneous charges related to the
restructuring. Both the employee severance and professional charges have been paid in full in fiscal year 2003.
We expect to pay the remaining balance of restructuring accrual related to excess facilities by the end of fiscal
year 2006.

In addition, during fiscal 2003 we made a provisional adjustment to the Fiscal 2002 Plan by reversing
$1.7 million, previously recorded as a restructuring expense in fiscal 2002. The reversal related to the early

termination of a facility lease agreement in Sunnyvale, California.

The total payments of $3.3 million in fiscal year 2003 consisted of $1.9 million, $1.4 million and $40,000 of
expenses accrued in fiscal year 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The $1.9 million included $1.3 million for
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employee severance payments, professional services and miscellaneous charges related to the restructuring and
$613,000 for excess worldwide facilities recorded in fiscal year 2003.

Fiscal 2002 Plan

In fiscal year 2002, the total restructuring charge relating to the Fiscal 2002 Plan was $9.0 million. These
charges included $6.4 million for the consolidation of our facilities in North America, $1.3 million in write-offs
of leasehold improvement and $15,000 in professional services and miscellanecus charges associated with the
exited facilities. In addition, we recorded a total severance charge of $1.2 million that was primarily due to the
reduction in worldwide workforce of 190 employees across all departments. Both of the employee severance and
professional charges have been paid in full in fiscal year 2002.

Total payments of $4.0 million in fiscal year 2002 consisted of $1.5 million for excess facilities in North
America, $1.3 million in write-offs of leasehold improvement and $1.2 million in employee severance,
professional services and miscellaneous charges accrued in the same fiscal year. Of the total payments, $88,000
was applied to the excess facilities accrued in the Fiscal 2001 Plan.

At the end of fiscal year 2004, the remaining accrual for the Fiscal 2002 Plan includes estimated contingent
payments related to two lease settlements for excess facilities that were originally included in the Fiscal 2002
Plan. As part of separate settlement agreements with the two landlords, in the event we make a distribution of
cash, stock or other consideration to holders of our Series A Preferred with respect to the shares of Series A
Preferred held by such Series A Preferred holders, each of the two landlords would receive a payment equal to
the lesser of (i) $1.0 million or (ii) the amount payable to a holder of shares of Series A Preferred with an
aggregate stated value of $1.0 million. At the end of fiscal year 2004, we estimated the combined value of these
two contingent payments to be $1.2 million.

Fiscal 2001 Plan

In fiscal year 2001, the total restructuring charge relating to the Fiscal 2001 Plan was $1.4 million. These
charges primarily related to a reduction in our worldwide workforce of 141 employees across all departments and
office closures in North America pursuant to the adoption of our expense management strategy. The total charges
were primarily comprised of $917,000 related to severance costs, $263,000 related to office closure costs and
$263,000 related to professional services and miscellaneous charges associated with the employee terminations.
Total payments of $1.2 million were made in fiscal year 2001. This plan was completed and paid in full as of
June 30, 2004.
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Loss from Operations

Loss from operations decreased to $4.4 million in fiscal year 2004 from $11.6 million in fiscal year 2003
and $115.1 million in fiscal year 2002. The decreases were primarily due to our actions in reducing our operating
expenses which included worldwide planned reduction in workforce, closure of international offices and
consolidation of excess facilities in North America, as well as the impact of no longer amortizing goodwill in
fiscal 2003 and 2004,

Interest Income

Interest income consists of interest earned on cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments. Interest
income decreased 79%, or $60,000 in fiscal 2004 compared to 2003. Interest income decreased 87%, or $525,000
in fiscal 2003 compared to fiscal 2002. The significant decrease in fiscal 2004 and 2003 was primarily due to a
decline in our average cash balance.

Interest Expense and Other Income (Expense)

Interest expense increased to $612,000 in fiscal 2004 from $359,000 in fiscal 2003. Interest expense
decreased by $92,000 in fiscal 2003 from $451,000 in fiscal 2002. The increase in fiscal 2004 was primarily due
to the interest of $489,000 from borrowings from related party notes payable and $72,000 related to discount on
warrants compared to the decrease in fiscal 2003 related to the decrease in interest rates and reduced bank
borrowing.

Other income was $106,000 in fiscal 2004 compared to other income of $427,000 in fiscal 2003 and other
expenses of $840,000 in fiscal 2002. The other income in fiscal 2004 consisted of the benefits of $340,000 from
the reversal of an outstanding liability related to an internal use license agreement, $48,000 from the reduction of
the buyout amount for one of our capital equipment leases and partially offset by tax expense. The decrease in
other expenses in fiscal 2003 was principally due to a gain related to a real estate settlement, reduction in tax
expenses and a decrease in the loss on disposal of assets.

Related Party Transactions

During fiscal year 2003, we entered into a note and warrant purchase agreement, discussed further in this
section under the heading “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” with Ashutosh-Roy, our Chief Executive Officer,
pursuant to which Mr. Roy loaned to us $2.0 million in fiscal year 2003 and $2.0 million in fiscal year 2004,
evidenced by two subordinated secured promissory notes and received warrants to purchase 365,509 shares of
our common stock in connection with such loans.

On March 31, 2004, we entered into a note and warrant purchase agreement with Ashutosh Roy, our Chief
Executive Officer, Oak Hill Capital Partners L.P., Oak Hill Capital Management Partners L.P., and FW Investors
L.P. (the “lenders”) pursuant to which the lenders loaned to us $2.5 million evidenced by secured promissory
notes and received warrants to purchase shares of our common stock in connection with such loan as further
discussed under the heading “Liquidity and Capital Resources”.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity (“SFAS 150”). SFAS 150 establishes how an issuer classifies and
measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS 150 is effective
for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning
of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. We adopted this statement on July 1, 2003 and the
adoption did not have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.
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In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities” (FIN 46), which was amended by FIN 46R issued in December 2003. This
interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” addresses
consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities (VIEs) that either: (1) do not have sufficient
equity investment at risk to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial
support, or (2) for which the equity investors lack an essential characteristic of a controlling financial interest.
This Interpretation applies immediately to VIEs created after January 31, 2003. It also applies in the first fiscal
year or interim period ending after March 15, 2004, to VIEs created before February 1, 2003 in which an
enterprise holds a variable interest. FIN 46 requires disclosure of VIEs in financial statements issued after
January 31, 2003, if it is reasonably possible that as of the transition date: (1) the company will be the primary
beneficiary of an existing VIE that will require consolidation or, (2) the company will hold a significant variable
interest in, or have significant involvement with, an existing VIE. We have completed our review of the
requirements of FIN 46. As a result of our review, no entities were identified requiring disclosure or
consolidation under FIN 46,

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In response to our revenues declining over the last three years we have repeatedly taken actions to reduce
expense rates. As a result of these actions net cash used in operations decreased to $2.3 million in fiscal 2004
from $5.9 million in 2003 and $27.5 million in 2002. With this progress on expense reduction and securing $4.5
million in long-term debt during fiscal year 2004, our cash and cash equivalents increased to $5.2 million on June
30, 2004 from $4.4 million on June 30, 2003.

As of June 30, 2004, we have working capital of $2.0 million, compared to a working capital deficit of
$172,000 at June 30, 2003. We believe that existing capital resources will enable us to maintain current and
planned operations for the next 12 months.

On March 31, 2004, we entered into a note and warrant purchase agreement with Ashutosh Roy, our Chief
Executive Officer, Oak Hill Capital Partners L.P., Oak Hill Capital Management Partners L.P., and FW Investors
L.P. (the “lenders”) pursuant to which the lenders loaned to us $2.5 million evidenced by secured promissory
notes and received warrants to purchase shares of our common stock in connection with such loan. The secured
promissory notes have a term of five years and bear interest at an effective annual rate of 12% due and payable
upon the maturity of such notes. We have the option to prepay the notes at any time subject to the prepayment
penalties set forth in such notes. The warrants allow the lenders to purchase up to 312,500 shares at an exercise
price of $2.00 per share. The warrants become exercisable as to fifty percent (50%) of the warrant shares nine
months after issuance of the warrants and as to one hundred percent (100%) of the warrant shares on the first
anniversary of the issuance of the warrants. We recorded $2.28 million in related party notes payable and
$223.,000 of discount on the notes related to the relative value of the warrants issued in the transaction that will
be amortized to interest expense over the five year life of the notes. The fair value of these warrants was
determined using the Black-Scholes valuation method with the following assumptions: an expected life of 3
years, an expected stock price volatility of 75%, a risk free interest rate of 1.93%, and a dividend yield of 0%.

During fiscal year 2003, we entered into a note and warrant purchase agreement with Ashutosh Roy, our
Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to which Mr. Roy will make loans to us evidenced by one or more
subordinated secured promissory notes and will receive warrants to purchase shares of our common stock in
connection with each of such loans. The five year subordinated secured promissory note bears interest at an
effective annual rate of 12% due and payable upon the term of such note. We have the option to prepay each note
at any time subject to the prepayment penalties set forth in such note. On December 31, 2002, Mr. Roy loaned to
us $2.0 million under the agreement and received warrants that allow him to purchase up to 236,742 shares at an
exercise price equal to $2.11 per share. In connection with this loan, we recorded $1.83 million in related party
notes payable and $173,000 of discount on the note related to the relative value of the warrants issued in the
transaction that will be amortized to interest expense over the five year life of the note. The fair value of these
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warrants was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation method with the following assumptions: an expected
life of 3 years, an expected stock price volatility of 75%, a risk free interest rate of 2%, and a dividend yield
of 0%. On October, 31, 2003, we entered into an amendment to the 2002 note and warrant purchase agreement
with Mr. Roy, pursuant to which he loaned to us an additional $2.0 million and received additional warrants to
purchase up to 128,766 shares at $3.88 per share. In connection with this additional loan we recorded $1.8
million in related party notes payable and $195,000 of discount on the notes related to the relative value of the
warrants issued in the transaction that will be amortized to interest expense over the five year life of the note. The
fair value of these warrants was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation method with the following
assumptions: an expected life of 3 years, an expected stock price volatility of 75%, a risk free interest rate of
2.25%, and a dividend yield of 0%.

Prior to our initial public offering on the public markets, operations were primarily financed through the
private placement of convertible preferred stock, a bank line of credit, and financing for capital purchases. On
September 28, 1999, we completed an initial public offering of common stock, in which 5.8 million shares of
common stock were sold (including exercise of an over-allotment option in October 1999), at a price of $12.00
per share. Net proceeds to us from the offering were $63.0 million.

On August 8, 2000, we raised and received net proceeds of $82.6 million through the issuance of shares of
convertible preferred stock and warrants to purchase approximately 383,000 shares of common stock in a private
placement. The convertible preferred stock liquidation value accretes at a rate of 6.75% per annum. During fiscal
years 2002 and 2003, the accretion on the convertible preferred shares totaled $6.5 million and $6.9 million,
respectively. At fiscal year end 2004, the accretion equaled $7.4 million. See also Financing Transaction below
or Note 10 to Consolidated Financial Statements.

On September 20, 2002, we entered into a new accounts receivable purchase agreement (the “AR Facility”)
with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”) (see Note 6 to Consolidated Financial Statements), which replaced the
existing revolving line of credit. The AR Facility provides for the sale of up to $5.0 million in certain qualified
receivables, bears irterest at a rate of prime plus 5.0% per annum and carries a 0.5% monthly administrative fee.
In addition, when entering into the AR Facility, we also combined the existing term loan and equipment loan
with SVB into one term loan facility in the amount of $2.6 million. This new term loan was secured by
establishing a restricted certificate of deposit and was reduced by scheduled amortization payments until the term
loan was paid in full on February 27, 2004. There are no financial or operational covenant requirements under
this agreement. On March 25, 2003, we entered into a modification agreement with SVB which extended the
term of the AR Facility through June 30, 2003 and revised the sale amount of qualified receivables from $5.0
million to $1.9 million. On June 25, 2003, we entered into a modification agreement for the AR Facility with
SVB that extended ithe term of the AR Facility through September 30, 2003. On September 25, 2003, we entered
into a modification agreement with SVB that extended the term of the AR Facility through December 31, 2003
and revised the interest to a rate of 7% per annum or prime plus 3% or, whichever is greater. On December 19,
2003 we entered into a modification agreement with SVB that extended the term of the AR Facility through June
30, 2004. On June 25, 2004, we entered into a modification agreement that extended the term of the agreement
for an additional 3 months. In September 2004, we expect to enter into a new line of credit agreement with SVB,
or extend the term of the AR Facility. At fiscal year end 2004, the outstanding balance under the AR Facility was
$506,000, collateralized by $632,000 of receivables.

At fiscal year end 2004, cash and cash equivalents were $5.2 million, an increase of $774,000 since fiscal
year end 2003. Working capital at fiscal year end 2004 was $2.0 million representing an increase of $2.1 million
since fiscal year end 2003.

Net cash used in operating activities was $2.3 million, $5.9 million and $27.5 million in fiscal years 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. Cash used in operating activities was primarily the result of our net loss, partially
offset by non-cash charges.
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Net cash used in investing activities was $178,000 in fiscal year 2004 compared to $270,000 provided by
investing activities in the fiscal year 2003 and $2.0 million used in investing activities in fiscal years 2002. Cash
used in investing activities in both fiscal years 2004 and 2002 were primarily due to the purchases of equipment,
while net cash provided by investing activities in fiscal year 2003 consisted of sale of property and equipment.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $3.3 million and $375,000 in fiscal 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Cash provided from financing activities was primarily due to the proceeds from the related party
notes, bank borrowings and the issuance of common stock, partially offset by the payments on bank borrowings
and capital leases, accrued interest and amortization of discount on related party notes. The $3.4 million spending
in fiscal year 2002 was primarily due to the payment on bank borrowings.

The following table summarizes eGain’s contractual obligations excluding interest payments as of June 30,
2004 and the effect such obligations are expected to have on its liquidity and cash flow in future periods (in
thousands):

Year Ended June 30,
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total
Capital leases .................... $ 9 $%— $— $ — % — $— $ 9
Operating leases .................. 657 560 574 437 171 343 2,742
Bank borrowings ................. 506 — — — — — 506
Related party notes payable ......... — — — 2,000 4,500 — 6,500
Total .............. ... ...... 1,172 560 574 2437 4,671 343 9,757

The table excludes potential contingent payments of $2.0 million related to two lease settlements. These
contingent payments will be paid in the event we make a distribution of cash, stock or other consideration to
holders of our Series A Preferred with respect to the shares of Series A Preferred held by such Series A Preferred
holders. In such event, each of the two landlords would receive a payment equal to the lesser of (i) $1.0 million
or (ii) the amount payable to a holder of shares of Series A Preferred with an aggregate stated value of $1.0
million.
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Quarterly Results of Operations

The following tables set forth certain unaudited consolidated statement of operations data for the eight
quarters ended June 30, 2004. This data has been derived from unaudited consolidated financial statements that,
in the opinion of management, include all adjustments conmsisting only of normal recurring adjustments,
necessary for a fair presentation of such information when read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial
Statements and Notes thereto.

The unaudited quarterly information should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial
Statements and Notes thereto included elsewhere herein on this Form 10-K. We believe that period-to-period
comparisons of our financial results are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indication
of future performance.

Quarters Ended

June. 30, Mar. 31, Dec.31, Sept.30, June30, Mar.31, Dec. 31, Sept.30,
2004 2004 2003 2003 2003 2003 2002 2002

(in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of
Operations Data:

Revenue:
License .................... $ 743 $1271 $1,254 $ 790 $1,476 $ 983 $ 1,819 $ 1,817
Support and Services . ......... 3977 3949 3836 3,783 3,891 4240 4,004 3854
Total revenue ........... 4,720 5220 5,090 4,573 5,367 5223 5823 5,671
Costoflicense ............... 365 383 447 451 443 443 443 443
Cost of support and services .... 1,541 1,686 1,726 1,509 1,666 1929 2,170 2973
Cost of revenue—acquisition
related .......... ... ..., — — — — — 227 300 300
Gross profit (loss) ........ 2,814 3,151 2917 2613 3,258 2,624 2910 1,955
Operating costs and expenses:
Research andidevelopment . . ... 619 598 660 1,065 1,174 1381 1,381 1,933
Sales and marketing .......... 1,981 2,167 2,011 2,125 2,060 1,840 2224 3474
General and administrative . . ... 777 822 939 909 1,146 1,007 1,213 1,450
Amortization of other intangible
ASSEES .+ .t 289 302 306 306 306 327 337 337
Amortization of deferred
compensation ............. — — — — 21 31 39 66
Restructuring and other ... ... .. (135) ) 35 127 346 512 (1,285) 1,047
Total operating costs and
EXPenses . ............ 3,531 3,885 3,951 4,532 5,053 5,098 3,909 8,307
Loss from operations . . . ........... 717 (734) (1,034) (1,919) (1,795) (2,474) (999) (6,352)
Non-operating income (expense),

NEL oot (263) (218) 144 (153) (61) 9 262 (66)
Netloss ......c.covviineninano... (980)  (952) (890) (2,072) (1,856) (2,465) (737) (6,418)
Dividends on convertible preferred

stock ...l (1,867) (1,867) (1,825) (1,825) (1,747) (1,727) (1,708) (1,708)
Net loss applicable to common

stockholders .................. $(2,847) $(2,819) $(2,715) $(3,897) $(3,603) $(4,192) $(2.445) $(8,126)

Per share information:

Basic and diluted net loss per
commonshare ............. $ 077 8% (0.76) $ (0.74) $ (1.06) $ (0.98) $ (1.14) $ (0.67) § (2.22)

Shares used in computing basic
and diluted net loss per
common share ............. 3,605 3,692 3,688 3676 3,666 3664 3,663 3,660
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ADDITIONAL FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

We have a history of losses and expect continuing losses and may never achieve profitability

We incurred a net loss of $4.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2004. As of June 30, 2004, we had an
accumulated deficit of approximately $315.5 million. We do not know when or if we will become profitable in
the foreseeable future. However, we must continue to spend resources on maintaining and strengthening our
business, and this may, in the near term, have a continued negative effect on our operating results and our
financial condition. If we continue to incur net losses in future periods, we may not be able to retain employees,
or fund investments in capital equipment, sales and marketing programs, and research and development to
successfully compete against our competitors. We also expect to continue to spend financial and other resources
at reduced levels on developing and introducing product and service offerings. Accordingly, if our revenue
declines despite such investments, our business and operating results could suffer. We also may never obtain
sufficient revenues to exceed our cost structure and achieve profitability. If we do not become profitable within
the timeframe expected by financial analysts or investors, the market price of our common stock may further
decline. Even if we achieve profitability, we may be unable to sustain or increase profitability in the future. This
may also, in turn, cause the price of our common stock to demonstrate volatility and/or continue to decline.

If we fail to expand and improve our sales and marketing activities, we may be unable to grow our
business, negatively impacting our operating results and financial condition.

Expansion and growth of our business is dependent on our ability to develop a productive North American
sales force. Moreover, many of our competitors have sizeable sales forces and greater resources to devote to sales
and marketing, which results in their enhanced ability to develop and maintain customer relationships. Thus,
failure to develop our sales force and/or failure of our sales and marketing investments to translate into increased
sales volume and enhanced customer relationships may hamper our efforts to achieve profitability. This may
impede our efforts to ameliorate operations in other areas of the company and may result in further decline of our
common stock price.

Due to the complexity of our eService platform and related products and services, we must utilize highly
trained sales personnel to educate prospective customers regarding the use and benefits of our products and
services as well as provide effective customer support. Because, in the past, we have experienced turnover in our
sales force and have fewer resources than many of our competitors, our sales and marketing organization may not
be able to successfully compete with those of our competitors.

We must compete successfully in our market segment

The market for customer service and contact center software is intensely competitive. Other than product
development and existing customer relationships, there are no substantial barriers to entry in this market, and
established or new entities may enter this market in the near future. While home-grown software developed by
enterprises represents indirect competition, we also compete directly with packaged application software vendors
in the customer service arena, including Avaya, Inc., Epiphany, Inc., Genesys Telecommunications (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Alcatel), Kana Software, Inc., Primus Knowledge Solutions, Inc., RightNow Technologies,
Inc., Serviceware, and Talisma Corp. In addition, we face actual or potential competition from larger software
companies such as Siebel Systems, Inc., PeopleSoft, Inc., Oracle Corporation, SAP, Inc. and similar companies
who may attempt to sell customer service software to their installed base.

We believe competition will continue to be fierce and increase as current competitors enhance the
sophistication of their offerings and as new participants enter the market. Many of our current and potential
competitors have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, broader brand recognition, and significantly
greater financial, marketing and other resources. More established and better-financed, these companies may be
able to undertake more extensive marketing campaigns, adopt more aggressive pricing policies, and make more
attractive offers to businesses to induce them to use their products or services.

31



Further, any delays in the roll out or general market acceptance of our applications would likely harm our
competitive position by allowing our competitors additional time to improve their product and service offerings,
and also provide time for new competitors to develop applications and solicit prospective customers within our
target markets. Increased competition could result in pricing pressures, reduced operating margins and loss of
market share.

We face a variety of risks stemming from strategic and operational decisions we have made in recent
quarters

In recent quarters we have made a series of key decisions relating to cost reduction, debt accrual and
operational structure. Such decisions have posed challenges to and will continue to affect the infrastructure, debt
and equity structure and the operations of the company. If such decisions have unanticipated consequences, they
may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and future results of operations. We have
significantly cut the cost structure through reductions in force and the movement of certain key business
functions to operations in India. We have also reduced our work force overall by 45% since fiscal year ended
2002. In addition, in excess of 50% of all employees and the majority of all software development is now done in
India with an Indian workforce. As a result, our cash position, although sustainable to fund operations in the short
term, leaves little room for error in the forecasting and achievement of revenue goals.

While we have achieved significant cost savings through such measures, we will be unable to quickly
reverse the course of such actions and the initial costs associated with such restructuring may be lost if the
infrastructure changes do not enhance our results. In addition, the continued and aggressive restructuring over
time has reduced our personnel and resources to minimal levels where the margin of operational error is very
low. To the extent we have made poor decisions about the cutting of certain resources, such loss of assets may
contribute to an inability to effectively operate our company, properly serve customers or successfully achieve
sales goals. Finally, a failure to meet our revenue forecasts despite such cost-cutting measures, will leave us with
insufficient resources to fund growth initiatives and, accordingly, our results and future financial condition will
likely suffer.

Due to our limited operating history and the emerging market for our products and services, revenue and
operating expenses are unpredictable and may fluctuate, which may harm our operating results and
financial condition

Due to the emerging nature of the multi-channel contact center market and other similar factors, our revenue
and operating results may fluctuate from quarter to quarter. Our revenues in certain past quarters fell and could
continue to fall short of expectations if we experience delays or cancellations of even a small number of orders. It
is possible that our operating results in some quarters will be below the expectations of financial analysts or
investors. In this event, the market price of our common stock is also likely to decline.

A number of factors are likely to cause fluctuations in our operating results, including, but not limited to, the
following:

» demand for our software and budget and spending decisions by information technology departments of
our customers;

* seasonal trends in technology purchases;

» the announcement or introduction of new or enhanced products and services by us or by our competitors
and other competitive pressure from new and existing market participants;

* our ability to attract and retain customers;
» litigation relating to our intellectual proprietary rights; and
» budget, purchasing and payment cycles, timing and revenue recognition of customer contracts and

potential customer contracts.
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In addition, we base our expense levels in part on expectations regarding future revenue levels. In the short
term, expenses, such as employee compensation and rent, are relatively fixed. If revenue for a particular quarter
is below expectations, we may be unable to proportionately reduce our operating expenses for that quarter.
Accordingly, such a revenue shortfall would have a disproportionate effect on expected operating results for that
quarter. Moreover, we believe that any further significant reductions in expenses would be difficult to achieve
given current operating levels. For this reason, period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may also
not be a good indication of our future performance.

We may need additional capital, and raising such additional capital may be difficult or impossible and will
likely significantly dilute existing stockholders

In response to declining revenues we have repeatedly taken actions to reduce expense rates. As a result of
these actions net cash used in operations decreased to $2.3 million in fiscal 2004 from $5.9 million in 2003 and
$27.5 million in 2002. With this progress on expense reduction and securing $4.5 million in long term debt
during fiscal year 2004, our cash and cash equivalents increased to $5.2 million on June 30, 2004 from $4.4
million on June 30, 2003.

As of June 30, 2004, we have working capital of $2.0 million, compared to a working capital deficit of
$172,000 at June 30, 2003. We believe that existing capital resources will enable us to maintain current and
planned operations for the next 12 months. However, our working capital requirements in the foreseeable future
are subject to numerous risks and will depend on a variety of factors, in particular, that revenues maintain at the
levels achieved in fiscal year 2004 and that customers continue to pay on a timely basis, and we may need to
secure additional financing due to unforeseen or unanticipated market conditions. Such financing may be
difficult to obtain on terms acceptable to us and will almost certainly dilute existing stockholder value.

The conversion of our preferred shares and the exercise of the related warrants would result in a very
significant number of additional shares being issued, which could result in a decline in the market price of
our common stock ‘

On August 8, 2000, we issued 35.11 shares of non-voting Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock
{(“Series A™), $100,000 stated value per share, and 849.89 shares of non-voting Series B Cumulative Convertible
Preferred Stock (“Series B”), $100,000 stated value per share in a private placement to certain investors. The
Series B shares automatically converted into Series A shares upon stockholder approval on November 20, 2000
at the annual stockholders meeting. In addition, investors received warrants to purchase an aggregate of 383,000
shares of our common stock with a current warrant exercise price of $56.875 per share. The Series A shares have
a liquidation preference of $100,000 per share, or an aggregate liquidation preference of $88.5 million, which
increases on a daily basis at an annual rate of 6.75% from August 8, 2000, compounded on a semi-annual basis
(the “Liquidation Value”). The Series A shares are convertible into common stock (including all amounts
accreted from August 8, 2000) at a conversion price of $56.875 per share.

To the extent the preferred shares are converted into common stock (including all amounts accreted from
August 8, 2000), a very significant number of shares of common stock may be sold into the market, which could
decrease the price of our common stock. If not sooner converted, on August 8, 2005 we must either, at our
option, (i) redeem each outstanding share of Series A, at a redemption price equal to the Liquidation Value plus
any declared but unpaid dividends or (ii) convert the Series A shares into common stock at a price per share
equal to 95% of the average closing bid price per share of the common stock on the 20 consecutive trading days
immediately prior to the redemption date. At recent stock prices, such conversion would mean very substantial
dilution to the holders of our common stock. By way of illustration, based upon 95% of the average closing bid
price per share of the common stock for the 20 consecutive trading days immediately prior to June 30, 2004 the
Series A shares would be convertible into 90.2 million additional shares of common stock. We currently have
only 3.7 million shares of common stock issued and outstanding.
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We have been in discussions with the Series A holdeérs and hope to renegotiate certain terms and conditions
of the redemption of the preferred stock prior to August 8, 2005. Regardless of the timing or success of any such
resolution, the result of any such conversion would nonetheless also cause significant dilution to the holders of
the common stock. We can make no assurances as to when the renegotiation of certain terms of our Series A
shares will occur, if at all.

Our preferred stock carries a substantial liquidation preference

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of Series A shares would be entitled to
receive, prior to distribution of any proceeds to holders of common stock, proceeds equal to the greater of
(i) $88.5 million (plus increases in such liquidation preference at an annual rate of 6.75% from August 8, 2000)
or (ii) the amount the holders of the Series A shares would have received had they converted their shares into
common stock immediately prior to such liquidation, dissolution or winding up. If we enter into a transaction
pursuant to which we sell or transfer all or substantially all of our assets or we enter into a merger with another
company, then at the option of the holder of Series A shares, (A) each share of Series A may be converted into
convertible equity securities of the entity acquiring us, or (B) each Series A share may convert into shares of
common stock based on the Liquidation Value, calculated as of the later of (x) the closing date of such
transaction or (y) August 8, 2003. In the event that we entered into a merger or sale in which the total value of the
transaction would be less than the Liquidation Value, a buyer would unlikely be willing to assume the liquidation
preferences and other obligations represented by the Series A shares. Consequently, based on our current capital
structure, we anticipate that a transaction resulting in such a sale would result in substantially all of the proceeds
of such transaction being distributed to the holders of Series A shares with little, if any, consideration, available
to our common stock holders.

Our common stock has been delisted and thus the price and liquidity of our common stock has been
affected and our ability to obtain future equity financing may be further impaired

In February 2004, we were delisted from the Nasdaq SmallCap Market due to noncompliance with
Marketplace Rule 4310(c)(2)(B), which requires companies listed to have a minimum of $2,500,000 in
stockholders’ equity or $35,000,000 market value of listed securities or $500,000 of net income from continuing
operations for the most recently completed fiscal year or two of the three most recently completed fiscal years.

Our common stock now trades in the over-the-counter market on the OTC Bulletin Board owned by the
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., which was established for securities that do not meet the listing requirements of the
Nasdaq National Market or the Nasdaq SmallCap Market. The OTC Bulletin Board is generally considered less
efficient than the Nasdaq SmallCap Market. Consequently, selling our common stock is likely more difficult
because of diminished liquidity in smaller quantities of shares likely being bought and sold, transactions could be
delayed, and securities analysts’ and news media coverage of us may be further reduced. These factors could
result in lower prices and larger spreads in the bid and ask prices for shares of common stock.

Our listing on the OTC Bulletin Board, or further declines in our stock price, may greatly impair our ability
to raise additional necessary capital through equity or debt financing, and significantly increase the dilution to
our current stockholders caused by any issuance of equity in financing or other transactions. The price at which
we would issue shares in such transactions is generally based on the market price of our common stock and a
decline in the stock price could result in our need to issue a greater number of shares to raise a given amount of
funding.

In addition, as our common stock is not listed on a principal national exchange, we are subject to Rule 15g-9
under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. That rule imposes additional sales practice
requirements on broker-dealers that sell low-priced securities to persons other than established customers and
institutional accredited investors. For transactions covered by this rule, a broker-dealer must make a special
suitability determination for the purchaser and have received the purchaser’s written consent to the transaction
prior to sale. Consequently, the rule may affect the ability of broker-dealers to sell our common stock and affect
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the ability of holders to sell their shares of our common stock in the secondary market. Moreover, investors may
be less interested in purchasing low-priced securities because the brokerage commissions, as a percentage of the
total transaction value, tend to be higher for such securities, and some investment funds will not invest in low-
priced securities (other than those which focus on small-capitalization companies or low-priced securities).

Our lengthy sales cycles and the difficulty in predicting timing of sales or delays may impair our operating
results

The long sales cycle for our products may cause license revenue and operating results to vary significantly
from period to period. The sales cycle for our products can be six months or more and varies substantially from
customer to customer. Because we sell complex and deeply integrated solutions, it can take many months of
customer education to secure sales. While our potential customers are evaluating our products before, if ever,
executing definitive agreements, we may incur substantial expenses and spend significant management effort in
connection with the potential customer. Our multi-product offering and the increasingly complex needs of our
customers contribute to a longer and unpredictable sales cycle. Consequently, we often face difficulty predicting
the quarter in which expected sales will actually occur. This contributes to the uncertainty and fluctuations in our
future operating results. In particular, the economic slowdown in North America and globally has caused and
may continue to cause potential customers to delay or cancel major information technology purchasing decisions.
In addition, general weakness in the global securities markets, recessionary corporate spending levels and the
protracted slump in technology spending specifically, has caused our average sales cycle to further increase and,
in some cases, has prevented deals from closing that we believed were likely to close. Consequently, we may
miss our revenue forecasts and may incur expenses that are not offset by corresponding revenue.

Our failure to expand strategic and third-party distribution channels would impede our revenue growth

To grow our revenue base, we need to increase the number of our distribution partners, including software
vendors and resellers. Our existing or future distribution partners may choose to devote greater resources to
marketing and supporting the products of our competitors that could also harm our financial condition or resuits
of operations. Our failure to expand third-party distribution channels would impede our future revenue growth.
Similarly, to increase our revenue and implementation capabilities, we must continue to develop and expand
relationships with systems integrators. We sometimes rely on systems integrators to recommend our products to
their customers and to install and support our products for their customers. We likewise depend on broad market
acceptance by these systems integrators of our product and service offerings. Our agreements generally do not
prohibit competitive offerings and systems integrators may develop, market or recommend software applications
that compete with our products. Moreover, if these firms fail to implement our products successfully for their
customers, we may not have the resources to implement our products on the schedule required by their
customers. To the extent we devote resources to these relationships and the partnerships do not proceed as
anticipated or provide revenue or other results as anticipated our business may be harmed. Once partnerships are
forged, there can be no guarantee that such relationships will be renewed in the future or available on acceptable
terms. If we lose strategic third party relationships, fail to renew or develop new relationships, or fail to fully
exploit revenue opportunities within such relationships, our results of operations and future growth may suffer.

We may experience a further decrease in market demand due to the slowed economy, which has also been
further stymied by the concerns of terrorism, war, and social and political instability in the regions in
which we do business

Spending on technology solutions by corporations and government enterprises has been markedly slow to
rebound and the industry continues to be mired in an economic slump. In addition, the terrorist attacks in the
United States and Europe and turmoil and war in the Middle East, Asia and elsewhere has increased the
uncertainty in the United States, the European Union and Asian economies and may further add to the prolonged
decline in the United States business environment. The war on terrorism, along with the effects of a terrorist
attack and other similar events, the war in Iraq, military activities in Afghanistan, and hostilities between India
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and Pakistan, could contribute further to the slowdown of the already slumping market demand for goods and
services, including digital communications software and services. If the economy continues to decline as a result
of the recent economic, political and social turmoil, or if there are further terrorist attacks in the United States
and Europe, or as a result of the war in the Middle East and Asia, particularly India, we may experience further
decreases in the demand for our products and services, which may harm our operating results.

We depend on broad market acceptance of our applications and of our business model

We depend on the widespread acceptance and use of our applications as an effective solution for businesses
seeking to manage high volumes of customer communication over the Internet while providing improved
customer service. While we believe the potential to be very large, we cannot accurately estimate the size or
growth rate of the potential market for such product and service offerings generally, and we do not know whether
our products and services in particular will achieve broad market acceptance. The market for eService software is
relatively new and rapidly evolving, and concerns over the security and reliability of online transactions, the
privacy of users and quality of service or other issues may inhibit the growth of the Internet and commercial
online services. If the market for our applications fails to grow or grows more slowly than we currently
anticipate, our business will be seriously harmed.

Furthermore, our business model is premised on business assumptions that are still evolving. Historically,
customer service has been conducted primarily in person or over the telephone. Our business model assumes that
both customers and companies will increasingly elect to communicate via the Internet (assisted and unassisted
online service), as well as demanding integration of the online channels into the traditional telephone-based call
center. Our business model also assumes that many companies recognize the benefits of a hosted delivery model
and will seek to have their eService applications hosted by us. If any of these assumptions is incorrect, our
business will be seriously harmed and our stock price will decline.

We may not be able to respond to the rapid technological change of the customer service and contact
center industry

The eService industry is characterized by rapid technological change, changes in customer requirements and
preferences, and the emergence of new industry standards and practices that could render our existing services,
proprietary technology and systems obsolete. We must continually develop or introduce and improve the
performance, features and reliability of our products and services, particularly in response to competitive
offerings. Our success depends, in part, on our ability to enhance our existing services and to develop new
services, functionality and technology that address the increasingly sophisticated and varied needs of prospective
customers. If we do not properly identify the feature preferences of prospective customers, or if we fail to deliver
product features ‘that meet the standards of these customers, our ability to market our service and compete
successfully and to increase revenues could be impaired. The development of proprietary technology and
necessary service enhancements entails significant technical and business risks and requires substantial
expenditures and lead-time. We may not be able to keep pace with the latest technological developments. We
may also be unable to use new technologies effectively or adapt services to customer requirements or emerging
industry standards or regulatory or legal requirements. More generally, if we cannot adapt or respond in a
cost-effective and timely manner to changing industry standards, market conditions or customer requirements,
our business and operating results will suffer.

Cost reduction initiatives may adversely affect the morale and performance of our personnel, which could
affect our ability to retain high performers

To streamline operations and better align operating costs and expenses with revenue trends, we have
restructured our organization several times in recent years. The result has been substantial reductions in our
workforce over time and reductions in our employees’ salaries numerous times since the quarter ended December
31, 2001. Such reductions in workforce and salary levels may continue to affect employee morale, create concermn
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among existing employees about job security, and contribute to distractions that drain productivity. These issues
may also lead to attrition beyond our planned workforce reductions and reduce our ability to meet the needs of
our current and future customers. In addition, many of the employees who were terminated may have possessed
specific knowledge or expertise and their absence may create significant difficulties. This personnel reduction
may also subject us to the risk of litigation, which may adversely impact our ability to conduct our operations and
may cause us to incur significant expense. In addition, the workforce reductions previously completed have
increased our dependence on our remaining employees and senior management. Any attrition beyond our
planned workforce reductions could reduce our ability to develop new products and services, provide acceptable
levels of customer service and meet the needs of our current and future customers and harm our results of
operations. In particular, increased levels of attrition in the Indian workforce on which we deeply rely for
research and development and where we have moved significant resources in recent years would have significant
effects on the company and its results of operations.

Our success will also depend in large part on the skills, experience and performance of highly motivated
senior management, engineering, sales, marketing and other key personnel. The loss of the services of any of our
senior management or other key personnel, including our Chief Executive Officer and co-founder, Ashutosh Roy,
could harm our business.

Our international operations involve various risks

We derived 48% of our revenues from international sales for the fiscal year 2004 compared to 49% for the
fiscal year 2003. Including those discussed above, our international sales operations are subject to a number of
specific risks, such as:

» foreign currency fluctuations and imposition of exchange controls;

* expenses associated with complying with differing technology standards and language translation
issues;

+ difficulty and costs in staffing and managing our international operations;
» difficulties in collecting accounts receivable and longer collection periods;
e various trade restrictions and tax consequences; and

* reduced intellectual property protections in some countries.

In addition, we intend to continue to expand and move our operations into international environments and to
spend significant amounts of resources to do so. Through eGain India, we currently have a significant number of
employees representing in excess of 50% of our total workforce located in India, more than a half employed in
research and development. Although the movement of certain operations internationally was principally
motivated by cost cutting, the continued management of these remote operations will require significant
management attention and financial resources that could adversely affect our operating performance. Our
reliance on our workforce in India makes us particularly susceptible to disruptions in the business environment in
that region. In particular, sophisticated telecommunications links, high speed data communications with other
eGain offices and customers, and overall consistency and stability of our business infrastructure are vital to our
day to day operations, and any impairment of such infrastructure will cause our financial condition and results to
suffer. The maintenance of stable political relations between both the United States and the European Union, and
India are also of great importance to our operations.

Any of these risks could have a significant impact on our product development, customer support or
professional services. To the extent the benefit of maintaining these operations abroad does not exceed the
expense of establishing and maintaining such activities, our operating results and financial condition will suffer.
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Difficulties in implementing our products could harm our revenues and margins

We generally recognize revenue from a customer sale when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
the product has been delivered, the arrangement does not involve significant customization of the software, the
license fee is fixed or determinable and collection of the fee is probable. If an arrangement requires significant
customization or implementation services from us, recognition of the associated license and service revenue
could be delayed. The timing of the commencement and completion of the these services is subject to factors that
may be beyond our control, as this process requires access to the customer’s facilities and coordination with the
customer’s personnel after delivery of the software. In addition, customers could delay product implementations.
Implementation typically involves working with sophisticated software, computing and communications systems.
If we experience difficulties with implementation or do not meet project milestones in a timely manner, we could
be obligated to devote more customer support, engineering and other resources to a particular project. Some
customers may also require us to develop customized features or capabilities. If new or existing customers have
difficulty deploying our products or require significant amounts of our professional services, support, or
customized features, revenue recognition could be further delayed or canceled and our costs could increase,
causing increased variability in our operating results.

Our reserves may he insufficient to cover receivables we are unable to collect

We assume a certain level of credit risk with our customers in order to do business. Conditions affecting any
of our customers could cause them to become unable or unwilling to pay us in a timely manner, or at all, for
products or services we have already provided them. For example, if the current economic conditions continue to
decline, our customers may experience financial difficulties and be unable to pay their bills. In the past, we have
experienced collection delays from certain customers, and we cannot predict whether we will continue to
experience similar or more severe delays in the future. Although we have established reserves to cover losses due
to delays or inability to pay, there can be no assurance that such reserves will be sufficient to cover our losses. If
losses due to delays or inability to pay are greater than our reserves, it could harm our business, operating results
and financial condition.

Pending litigation and infringement claims could be costly to defend and distract our management team

We may be involved in legal proceedings and claims from time to time in the ordinary course of our
business, including claims of alleged infringement of the intellectual property or proprietary rights of third
parties, employment claims and other commercial contract disputes. Third parties may also infringe or
misappropriate our copyrights, trademarks and other proprietary rights for which we may be required to file suit
to protect or mediate our rights. In the past we have had lawsuits brought or threatened against us in a variety of
contexts including but not limited to claims related to issues associated with our initial public offering of
common stock, breach of contract and litigation associated with the termination of employees.

From time to time, parties have also asserted or threatened infringement claims, and may continue to do so.
Because the contents of patent applications in the United States are not publicly disclosed until the patent is
issued, applications may have been filed which relate to our software products. In particular, intellectual property
litigation is expensive and time-consuming and could also require us to develop non-infringing technology or
enter into royalty or license agreements. These royalty or license agreements, if required, may not be available on
acceptable terms, if at all, in the event of a successful claim of infringement. Our failure or inability to develop
non-infringing technology or license the proprietary rights on a timely basis would harm our business.

Where appropriate, we intend to vigorously defend all claims. However, any actual or threatened claims,
even if not meritorious or material, could result in the expenditure of significant financial and managerial
resources. The continued defense of these claims and other types of lawsuits could result in and could divert
management’s attention away from running our business. Negative developments in lawsuits could cause our
stock price to decline as well. In addition, required amounts to be paid in settlement of any claims, and the legal
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fees and other costs associated with such settlement cannot be estimated and could, individually or in the
aggregate, materially harm our financial condition.

We rely on trademark, copyright, trade secret laws, contractual restrictions and patent rights to protect
our intellectual property and proprietary rights and if these rights are impaired our ability to generate
revenue will be harmed

We regard our patents, copyrights, service marks, trademarks, trade secrets and similar intellectual property
as critical to our success, and rely on trademark and copyright law, trade secret protection and confidentiality
and/or license agreements with our employees, customers and partners to protect our proprietary rights. We have
numerous registered trademarks as well as common law trademark rights in the United States and internationally.
In addition, we own several patents in the area of case-based reasoning. We will seek additional trademark and
patent protection in the future. We do not know if our trademark and patent applications will be granted, or
whether they will provide the protection eGain desires, or whether they will subsequently be challenged or
invalidated. It is difficult to monitor unauthorized use of technology, particularly in foreign countries, where the
laws may not protect our proprietary rights as fully as in the United States. Furthermore, our competitors may
independently develop technology similar to our technology.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights through confidentiality and license agreements,
unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or otherwise obtain and use our products or technology. These
precautions may not prevent misappropriation or infringement of our intellectual property. In addition, we
routinely require employees, customers, and potential business partners to enter into confidentiality and
nondisclosure agreements before we will disclose any sensitive aspects of our products, technology, or business
plans. In addition, we require employees to agree to surrender any proprietary information, inventions or other
intellectual property they generate or come to possess while employed by us. In addition, some of our license
agreements with certain customers and partners require us to place the source code for our products into escrow.
These agreements typically provide that some party will have a limited, non-exclusive right to access and use this
code as authorized by the license agreement if there is a bankruptcy proceeding instituted by or against us, or if
we materially breach a contractual commitment to provide support and maintenance to the party.

Unknown software defects could disrupt our products and services and problems arising from our
vendors’ products or services could disrupt operations, which could harm our business and reputation

Our product and service offerings depend on complex software, both internally developed and licensed from
third parties. Complex software often contains defects or errors in translation or integration, particularly when
first introduced or when new versions are released or localized for international markets. We may not discover
software defects that affect our new or current services or enhancements until after they are deployed. It is
possible that, despite testing by us, defects may occur in the software and we can give no assurance that our
products and services will not experience such defects in the future. Furthermore, our customers generally use
our products together with products from other companies. As a result, when problems occur in the integration or
network, it may be difficult to identify the source of the problem. Even when our products do not cause these
problems, these problems may cause us to incur significant warranty and repair costs, divert the attention of our
engineering personnel from product development efforts and cause significant customer relations problems.
These defects or problems could result in damage to our reputation, lost sales, product liability claims, delays in
or loss of market acceptance of our products, product returns and unexpected expenses, and diversion of
resources to remedy errors.

We may need to license third-party technologies and may be unable to do so

To the extent we need to license third-party technologies, we may be unable to do so on commercially
reasonable terms or at all. In addition, we may fail to successfully integrate any licensed technology into our
products or services. Third-party licenses may expose us to increased risks, including risks associated with the
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integration of new technology, the diversion of resources from the development of our own proprietary
technology, and our inability to generate revenue from new technology sufficient to offset associated acquisition
and maintenance costs. Our inability to obtain and successfully integrate any of these licenses could delay
product and service development until equivalent technology can be identified, licensed and integrated. This in
turn would harm our business and operating resuits,

Our stock price has demonstrated volatility and overall declines since being listed on the public market
and continued market conditions may cause further declines or fluctuations

The price at which our common stock trades has been and will likely continue to be highly volatile and
show wide fluctuations and substantial declines due to factors such as the following:

< our capital structure, in particular the presence and terms of the preferred stock liquidation preferences
and redemption rights;

+ the thinly traded nature of our stock on the OTC Bulletin Board;
» concerns related to liquidity of our stock, financial condition or cash balances;

» actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results, our ability to meet announced or anticipated
profitability goals and changes in or failure to meet securities analysts’ expectations;

« announcements of technological innovations and/or the introduction of new services by us or our
competitors;

+ developments with respect to intellectual property rights and litigation, regulatory scrutiny and new
legislation;

» conditions and trends in the Internet and other technology industries; and

* general market and economic conditions,

Furthermore, the stock market has in recent quarters experienced significant price and volume fluctuations
that have affected the market prices for the common stock of technology companies, particularly Internet
companies, regardless of the specific operating performance of the affected company. These broad market
fluctuations may cause the market price of our common stock to increase and decline.

In addition, in past periods of volatility in the market price of a particular company’s securities, securities
class action litigation has been brought against that company following such declines. To the extent our stock
price precipitously drops in the future, we may become involved in this type of litigation. Litigation of this kind,
or involving intellectual property rights, is often expensive and diverts management’s attention and resources,
which could continue to harm our business and operating results.

Unplanned system interruptions and capacity constraints and failure to effect efficient transmission of
data of customer communications and data over the Internet could harm our business and reputation

Our customers have, in the past experienced some interruptions with the eGain-hosted operations. We
believe that these interruptions will continue to occur from time to time. These interruptions could be due to
hardware and operating system failures. As a result, our business will suffer if we experience frequent or long
system interruptions that result in the unavailability or reduced performance of our hosted operations or reduce
our ability to provide remote management services. We expect to experience occasional temporary capacity
constraints due to sharply increased traffic or other Internet wide disruptions, which may cause unanticipated
system disruptions, slower response times, impaired quality, and degradation in levels of customer service. If this
were to continue to happen, our business and reputation could be seriously harmed.

The recent growth in the use of the Internet has caused frequent interruptions and delays in accessing the
Internet and transmitting data over the Internet. Interruptions also occur due to systems burdens brought on by
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unsolicited bulk email or “Spam,” malicious service attacks and hacking into operating systems, viruses, worms
and “Trojan” horses, the proliferation of which may be beyond our control and may seriously impact ours and
our customers’ businesses.

Because we provide Internet-based eService software, interruptions or delays in Internet transmissions will
harm our customers’ ability to receive and respond to online interactions. Therefore, our market depends on
improvements being made to the entire Internet infrastructure to alleviate overloading and congestion.

Our success largely depends on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of our computer and
communications hardware and network systems. Most of our computer and communications systems are located
in Mountain View, California. Due to our locations, our systems and operations are vulnerable to damage or
interruption from fire, earthquake, power loss, telecommunications failure and similar events.

We have entered into service agreements with some of our customers that require minimum performance
standards, including standards regarding the availability and response time of our remote management services.
If we fail to meet these standards, our customers could terminate their relationships with us, and we could be
subject to contractual refunds and service credits to customers. Any unplanned interruption of services may harm
our ability to attract and retain customers.

We may be liable for activities of customers or others using our hosted operations

As a provider of customer service and contact center software for the Internet, we face potential liability for
defamation, negligence, copyright, patent or trademark infringement and other claims based on the actions of our
customers, and their customers, or others using our solutions or communicating through our networks. This
liability could result from the nature and content of the communications transmitted by customers through the
hosted operations. We do not and cannot screen all of the communications generated by our customers, and we
could be exposed to liability with respect to this content. Furthermore, some foreign governments, including
Germany and China, have enforced laws and regulations related to content distributed over the Internet that are
more strict than those currently in place in the United States. In some instances criminal liability may arise in
connection with the content of Internet transmissions.

Although we carry general liability and umbrella liability insurance, our insurance may not cover claims of
these types or may not be adequate to indemnify us for all liability that may be imposed. There is a risk that a
single claim or multiple claims, if successfully agserted against us, could exceed the total of our coverage limits.
There also is a risk that a single claim or multiple claims asserted against us may not qualify for coverage under
our insurance policies as a result of coverage exclusions that are contained within these policies. Should either of
these risks occur, capital contributed by our stockholders might need to be used to settle claims. Any imposition
of liability, particularly liability that is not covered by insurance or is in excess of insurance coverage could harm
our reputation and business and operating results, or could result in the imposition of criminal penalties.

If our system security is breached, our business and reputation could suffer and we may face liability
associated with disclosure of sensitive customer information

A fundamental requirement for online communications and transactions is the secure transmission of
confidential information over public networks. Third parties may attempt to breach our security or that of our
customers. We may be liable to our customers for any breach in our security and any breach could harm our
business and reputation. Although we have implemented network security measures, our servers are vulnerable to
computer viruses, physical or electronic break-ins and similar disruptions, which could lead to interruptions,
delays, or loss of data. We may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to license encryption
technology and additional technologies to protect against security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by
any breach. Since our applications frequently manage sensitive and personally identifiable customer information,
and we may also be subject to claims associated with invasion of privacy or inappropriate disclosure, use or loss

41




of this information and fraud and identity theft crimes associated with such use or loss. Any imposition of
liability, particularly liability that is not covered by insurance or is in excess of insurance coverage, could harm
our reputation and our business and operating results.

The regulatory environment for and certain legal uncertainties in the operation of our business and our
customer’s business could impair our growth or decrease demand for our services or increase our cost of
doing business

Few laws currently apply directly to activity on the Internet and related services for businesses operating
commercial online service. However new laws are frequently proposed and other laws made applicable to
Internet communications every year both in the U.S. and internationally. In particular, in the operation of our
business we face risks associated with privacy, confidentiality of user data and communications, consumer
protection and pricing, taxation, content, copyright, trade secrets, trademarks, antitrust, defamation and other
legal issues. In particular, legal concerns with respect to communication of confidential data have affected our
financial services and health care customers due to newly enacted federal legislation. The growth of the industry
and the proliferation of ecommerce services may prompt further legislative attention to our industry and thus
invite more regulatory control of our business. Further, the growth and development of the market for
commercial online transactions may prompt calls for more stringent consumer protection laws that may impose
additional burdens on those companies engaged in ecommerce. Moreover, the applicability to the Internet of
existing laws in various jurisdictions governing issues such as property ownership, sales and other taxes, libel
and personal privacy is uncertain and may take years to resolve.

In addition, the applicability of laws and regulations directly applicable to the businesses of our customers,
particularly customers in the fields of financial services, will continue to affect us. The security of information
about our customers’ end-users continues to be an area where a variety of laws and regulations with respect to
privacy and confidentiality are enacted. As our customers implement the protections and prohibitions with
respect to the transmission of end-user data, our customers will look to us to assist them in remaining in
compliance with, this evolving area of regulation. In particular the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act contains restrictions
with respect to the use and protection of banking records for end-users whose information may pass through our
system.

The imposition of more stringent protections and/or new regulations and the application of existing laws to
our business could burden our company and those with which we do business. Further, the adoption of additional
laws and regulations could limit the growth of our business and that of our business partners and customers. Any
decreased generalized demand for our services, or the loss of or decrease, in business, by a key partner due to
regulation or the expense of compliance with any regulation, could either increase the costs associated with our
business or affect revenue, either of which could harm our financial condition or operating results.

Finally, we face increased regulatory scrutiny and potential criminal liability for our executives associated
with various accounting and corporate governance rules promulgated under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, We
have reviewed and will continue to monitor ail of our accounting policies and practices, legal disclosure and
corporate governance policies under the new legislation, including those related to relationships with our
independent accountants, enhanced financial disclosures, internal controls, board and board committee practices,
corporate responsibility and loan practices, and intend to fully comply with such laws. Nevertheless, such
increased scrutiny and penalties involve risks to both eGain and our executive officers and directors in
monitoring and insuring compliance. A failure to properly navigate the legal disclosure environment and
implement and enforce appropriate policies and procedures, if needed, could harm our business and prospects.

We may engage in future acquisitions or investments that could dilute our existing stockholders, cause us
to incur significant expenses or harm our business

We may review acquisition or investment prospects that might complement our current business or enhance
our technological capabilities. Integrating any newly acquired businesses or their technologies or products may
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be expensive and time-consuming. To finance any acquisitions, it may be necessary for us to raise additional
funds through public or private financings. Additional funds may not be available on terms that are favorable to
us, if at all, and, in the case of equity financings, may result in dilution to our existing stockholders. We may not
be able to operate acquired businesses profitably or otherwise implement our growth strategy successfully. If we
are unable to integrate newly acquired entities or technologies effectively, our operating results could suffer.
Future acquisitions by us could also result in large and immediate write-offs, the conversion of our preferred
stock into common stock, incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities, or amortization of expenses related to
goodwill and other intangibles, any of which could harm our operating results.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We develop products in the United States and India and sell these products internationally. Generally, sales
are made in local currency. As a result, our financial results could be affected by factors such as changes in
foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic conditions in foreign markets. To date, the effect of changes
in foreign currency exchange rates on revenues and operating expenses has not been material. We do not
currently use derivative instruments to hedge against foreign exchange risk.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

eGain Communications Corporation
Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2004 and 2003
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
REPORT OF BDO SEIDMAN, LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
eGain Communications Corporation
Mountain View, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of eGain Communications Corporation as of
June 30, 2004 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ deficit and comprehensive
loss, and cash flows for the year then ended. We have also audited the schedule listed in the accompanying index.
These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of eGain Communications Corporation at June 30, 2004, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the
information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, effective July 1, 2002, eGain
Communications Corporation adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”

/s/  BDO Seidman; LLP

San Francisco, California
August 5, 2004
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP,
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
eGain Communications Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of eGain Communications Corporation as of
June 30, 2003 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for
each of the two years in the period ended June 30, 2003. Our audits also included the financial statement
schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 for the two years in the period ended June 30, 2003. These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of eGain Communications Corporation at June 30, 2003 and the consolidated
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended June 30, 2003, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly
in all material respects the information set forth therein.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that eGain Communications
Corporation will continue as a going concern. As more fully described in Note 1, the Company has incurred
significant operating losses and negative cash flows since inception. The Company has not achieved profitability
and may not be able to realize sufficient revenues to achieve or sustain profitability in the future. These
conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s
plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 1. The financial statements do not include any
adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts
and classification of liabilities that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of
accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets in fiscal 2003.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Palo Alto, California
August 8, 2003, except for Note 14 as to which the date is September 29, 2003
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eGAIN COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashand cashequivalents .......... .. ... . .. . .. . . . . .
Restricted Cash . ... e
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $138 and $185 at June
30, 2004 and 2003, respectively . ... ...
Prepaid and other current assets . ............ .. i e

Total CUITENE ASSELS . . .. ot e e
Property and equipment, NEL .. . ... .. oottt
GoodwWill . . o e
Intangible assets, Met . .. ... ..ot e
O her @SSELS . . o . oottt e

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable . ... ...
Accrued COMPENSALION . . ... ..ot e
Accrued liabilities . . ... .o
Deferred revenue . ......... o
Current portion of accrued restructuring ...............oiiuiinnnnnnnenae...
Bank DOITOWINES . . . . oottt e
Current portion of notes payable ........... ... . ... . . i i il
Current portion of capital lease obligations ................. ...,

Total current liabilities ......... ... ... . . . .
Related party notes payable ......... ... i
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion . .. ...,
Accrued restructuring, net of current portion . . ... .. e
Other long term liabilities . . ... .. .o e

Total lidbilities . ... ... .o e e
Commitments and contingencies (notes 8 and 13)

Stockholders’ (deficit) equity:

Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred stock: $0.001 par value; 0.890 shares
authorized, 0.885 issued and outstanding at June 30, 2004 and 2003; aggregate
liquidation preference of $114,652 at June 30,2004 .......... ... ... ... ....

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 100,000 shares authorized, 3,696 and 3,668 shares
issued and outstanding at June 30,2004 and 2003 ... ... ... .. ...

Additional paid-incapital ......... .. e
Notes receivable from stockholders ......... ... . .. . .
Deferred stock cCOmMPensation . . .......... .ttt
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (Ioss) . ......... i
Accumulated deficit . ... ..o

See accompanying notes.

48

June 30,

2004 2003
$ 5,181 $ 4,407
12 791
2,876 3,270
1,408 2,897
9,477 11,365
473 1,192
4,880 4,880
— 1,204
331 397
$ 15,161 $ 19,038
$ 1,036 $ 1,486
765 864
1,335 1,918
3,731 4,333
86 1,194
506 1,649
— 78
9 15
7,468 11,537
6,607 1,964
— 10
1,264 1,203
242 243
15,581 14,957
108,755 101,371
4 37
206,721 213,620
94) (102)
— (38)
(290) (185)
(315,516) (310,622)
420) 4,081
$ 15,161 $ 19,038




eGAIN COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share information)

Revenue:
LACenSe . ..ot e
Support and SEIVICES . ... ..t e

Total revenue ........ ... ... . . e
Costof license ....... ... i
Cost of support and SETVICES ... ... ivi it
Cost of revenue—acquisitionrelated . ................... ... . ...,

Gross profit (I08s) . ... ..o

Operating costs and expenses:
Researchand development . ........ ... ... ... .. ... . i,
-Salesand marketing . ........ ...
General and administrative .......... ... ... .. . e
Impairment of long-lived assets ........... ... ..o i,
Amortizationof goodwill ........... .. .. ... .. . ..
Amortization of other intangible assets ................... . ... .....
Amortization of deferred compensation . ............ ... o il
Restructuring andother ........ ... . .. i

Total operating costs and €Xpenses . ..............coeeuuiiunenn.n

Loss from operations . ...........i.utit i e e
INterest INCOMIE . .. .o\ v ittt i et i
Interest expense and other income (EXpense) . .. .......covvveenviunnn ..

Netloss ..o
Dividends on convertible preferred stock ........... ... ... ... .. ...
Beneficial conversion feature on convertible preferred stock ..............

Net loss applicable to common stockholders ...........................

Per share information:
Basic and diluted net loss per common share ........................

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per common share . . ..

See accompanying notes.
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Years Ended June 30,

2004

2003

2002

$ 4058 $ 6,095 $ 10,015

15,545 15989 20,414
19,603 22,084 30,429
1,646 1,772 858
6,462 8,738 16,003
— 827 1,448
11,495 10,747 12,120
2942 5,869 11,395
8,284 9598 25,147
3447 4,816 8,940
— — 36,779
— — 33,212
1,203 1,307 1,852
— 157 961
23 620 8,964
15,899 22,367 127,250
(4,404) (11,620) (115,130)
16 76 601
(506) 68 (1,291)
(4,894) (11,476) (115,820)
(7,384)  (6,890)  (6,447)
— — (43,834)

$(12,278) $(18,366) $(166,101)

$ (333) 8§ (5.01) $ (45.85)

3,688

3,664

3,623




180t $ (TTY0IONS (c8D)$ 89 ¢ (zons 0CO'EITS L€ § 899 [LEIOIS L ittt £002 ‘0€ ANNI LV SHONVIVE
zL'1n $  — — — — — — — — — I LR R TP R ss0] aaTsuayarduro))
o) W) — ) — — — — — — — e siuaunsnlpe uonejsuen Aouaund ufolog
— — — — — — — — — — — e sonumodas Ambso puw 1gop uo ured pazijearun
OLYID § v OLr'In - - — - — — — T T SSO[ 19N
:ss0] 2AIsuaya1duio))
16T — — LS1 — — — — — — e uonesuadwos Y2018 PaLIafop JO UOTIRZIIOW Y
— — - 79 — (29) — — — I e uonesuadwiod 001 PaLIdfa(]
€L1 — — — — €Ll — — — I $3j0U Aped pajRIal UO JUBLIE AL
— — _ _ . . _ . _ T EGTH
aseyoind yo0)s doKo[dwa fopun }o01S UOWILIOD JO dURNSS]
z — — — 1 1 — z — e saseyoindal Jo 1ou
‘suondo y20)s Jo as1aroxa uodn ¥o0)s UOWILIOD JO BoURNSS]
- - — — - (068°9) - - 0689 — e Y18 pariajaid ajqIIaAUD U0 SPUSPIAL]
— — — — — — — — — e I $1500
Q0URNSSI JO J2U “Y00)S paLIajaid 9[qIIIaAUO0D JO IoURASS|
69%'C1 $  (9r1'66D)$ 6 ¢ Lso) ¢ (€o$ 86£°07$ g $ 999°c  I8%¥'¥6 § T e T00T ‘0€ ANNI LY SHONV IV
(LLY'SID$ — — — — — — — — — T sso[ aatsusyaiduwio)y
54! %4l — %7l — — — — — — — e sjuounsnlpe UONBISURI} AOUdXIND UFII0]
— — — — — — — —_— — — — e $a1LIND3S A1nba pue 1qap uo ured paziearun
OZ8'SID$ (0z8'sI1)  (OTSID — — — — — — — et $S0[ 19N
:ss0[ aAlsuayaIduo))
196 — — +98 — LL e — — — e uonesuaduiod ¥o0}s PaLIdJIP JO UOHBZILOUY
— — — 0L — (€0L) — — — —— e uonesuadwod y20)s parIjacy
VNN _ — L _ MNN _ @N _ T T Ak T A T T S Cd—n—
aseyound x001s 99K0jdWwd IOpUN ¥O01$ UOWIWOD JO DUBNSS]
0s1 - - - LLT (Lzn — W - T T soseoIndox 3o Jou
‘suondo Jo01s JO SIOIXD uodn JO01s UOWWOD JO SOURNSS]
- - - - - (Ly1'9) - - Ly¥'9 — e Y2018 Pa115Ja1d S[qNIBAUOD UO SPUBPIAL(]
o _ _ _ _ i l . il U St §1500
20URNSSI JO 12U ‘Y2018 pauajard 2[qIIAAUOD JO doURNSS]
FI8'6T1$  (9Te'e8D$ r8) $ bp8' s (080)$ SLELTTS 98§ vPO'E pEO'88$ 1 Tttt 1007 ‘0€ ANNS LV SHONVIVE
$S07| Annby g (sso1) uopes SIIploy ende) junouly  saaeyg unoury saaeys
JAISUIY SIaproy pajen auroouy -uadwmo)) B U - u-preg
-aadwo)) -}301§ -unady AlsUaYy ¥ooisg wodq [eUOnIppY 035 uowrwoy 01§ P11
e10, -axdwoy) PILIIPR( - AYTAIINY A1qna4u07)
RO SAJON
PIIBNUMIIY

(spuesnoy) ur)
SSOT HAISNIHIAJINOD ANV ALINOY (LIDIAH@) STYATTOHADIOLS 40 SINAWALVLS AALVAITOSNOD

NOILVIOJY O SNOLLVOINNIWINOD NIVD?

50




-soj0u Suiuedwosor 23§

\\

0Th)$ (15198 (060$ —$ t6)$ 1209078 P $  969'C SSL'801S 1
(666'7)$ — — — — — — — — —
(son (son — (son) — — — — — — —
P68 1)S  (F68°D) (F68°F) — — — — — — — —
— — - 8¢ — (8£) - — - —
81p — — — — 8IP — — — —
@ — — — — @ — €l — —
8S — — — 8 0s — Sl — —
— — — — — (P8¢°L) — — ¥8¢°L —
— — — — — %3 (33) — — —
$S07§ Annbi FIRlREN ¢ (sso]) uones SIap[oY rends) junowly  SaJeyS  JUnOWY  SAUeyS
aAISUAY  SI9pIoY paren awoou] ~uaduio -0IS ur-preg -
2idwoy  -poIg -wrnddy JAISUDY xuc.wo wosy [Euonippy  POIS uowwoy H0IS patridjalg
el -a1dwo)) PP IqeArRIY AaheAu0)
PO S3I0N

pARUWINIY

(spuesnoy} ur)

NOILVIOJHO0D SNOLLVDINNNNOD NIVD?

..................... #0027 “0€ ANAC LV SHONVIVE
.............................. sso[ aAlsuayaidwo))

........... syuaunsnipe uonejsues LoUa11nd UFRI0]
....... seyunaas Kyinba pue 1gap uo uted paziearun
..................................... $S07 19N
:$50] aAaIsuayaidwo))
........... uonesuadios Yoo paLIaJap JO UOLBZILIOWY
........................ uonesuadwiod Y201 parIafe(
....................... sojou Kjred paje|al uo JURLIE A
......................................... :N—Q
oseyaind yo01s 99K0(dws 1apun YO0IS UOWUWIOD JO SOULNSS]
............................... saseyoindal Jo 1ou
‘suondo J0031s JO 9S1019%9 uodn Y2018 UOUILIOD JO OULNSS]
............... 30018 pai1ajald 5]qIIAATOS UO SPUAPIAI(Y
........................ 111ds ¥203s 01 anp Juaunsnlpy
........................................ 1509
2DUBRSST JO 19U §001$ paliaya1d 9]qIHIaAu0D JO 3oUBRNSS]

(panunuo))—SSOT AAISNAHAAJNOD ANV ALINOA (LIDIAA@) SYTATOHMDOLS 40 SINFWALV.LS AALVAI'TOSNOD

51



COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Years Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002
Cash flows from operating activities:
Nt 1SS « oottt $(4,894) $(11,476) $(115,820)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation . . ... vttt e 1,060 3,940 6,852
Loss / (gain) on disposal of fixedassets .. .......................... (163) 334 1,846
Impairment of long-lived assets .......... ... ... .. ... .. — — 36,779
Amortization of goodwill . ...... ... ... — — 33,209
Amortization of other intangible assets ............................ 1,204 2,133 3,300
Amortization of deferred compensation. ............. ... ... ....... — 157 961
Accrued interest and amortization of discount on related party notes . . . . . 560 137 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Restricted cash ... e 779 (791) —
Accounts.receivable . ... ... 394 1,698 8,835
Prepaid and other current assets . ..................iviiii.. 1,489 1,575 (543)
Other @SSBLS vttt e e e 66 1,862 1,603
Accounts:payable .......... ... (450) (1,690) (2,221)
Accrued cOmpensation . ........... it 99) (1,630) (3,815)
Other accrued liabilities . ........ ... ... .. ... ... .. ... . ... (583) (244) (3,057)
Accrued reStruCturing . . .. .o vttt e (1,047) (2,698) 4,875
Deferred revenue . ........... . 0.ttt (602) 778 (1,883)
Other liabilities . . ... .. ... . e 29 1,596
Other . .. 1 — —
Net cash used in operating activities . ................coviirvrnenennn .. (2,286) (5,886) (27,483)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment ...............c..ciiiiiiiin., 217 96) (1,966)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment ........................ 39 366 12
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities ....................... (178) 270 (1,954)
Cash flows from financing activities: :
Payments on borrowings . ... e (3,324) (3,366) (7,013)
Payments on capital lease obligations ............................... (16) (420) (940)
Proceeds fromborrowings ....... ... 2,103 2,159 4,152
Proceeds from related party notes payable . . .......................... 4,500 2,000 —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of repurchases ............ 80 2 374
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ....................... 3,343 375 (3,427)
Effect of exchange rate differencesoncash ............................. (105) (244) 143
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ..................... 774 (5,485) (32,721
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningof year.......................... 4,407 9,892 42,613
Cash and cash equivalents atendof year .. ............................. $5181 $ 4407 $ 9,892
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid forinterest .......... ... it $ 123§ 327 S 422
Equipment acquired under capital leases ................. ... ... ..... — — 41
Deferred compensation on stock options . ........... .. ... ... ... — — (703)

See accompanying notes.
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eGAIN COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Organization, Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation

We are a leading provider of customer service and contact center software, used by global enterprises for
over a decade. eGain Service 6™, our software suite, available through licensed or hosted models, includes
integrated, best-in-class applications for customer email management, live web collaboration, virtual agent
customer service, knowledge management, and web self-service. These robust applications are built on the eGain
SMP™, a scalable next-generation framework that includes end-to-end service process management,
multi-channel, multi-site contact center management, a flexible integration approach, and certified out-of-the-box
integrations with leading call center and business systems.

We have prepared the condensed consolidated financial statements pursuant to the rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and included the accounts of our wholly-owned subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

In response to our revenues declining over the last three years we have repeatedly taken actions to reduce
expense rates. As a result of these actions our net loss from operations decreased to $4.4 million in fiscal year
2004 from $11.6 million in fiscal year 2003 and $115.1 million in fiscal year 2002. In addition, net cash used in
operating activities decreased to $2.3 million in fiscal 2004 from $5.9 million in fiscal year 2003 and
$27.5 million in fiscal year 2002. With this progress on expense reduction and securing $4.5 million in long-term
debt financing in fiscal 2004, our cash and cash equivalents increased to $5.2 million on June 30, 2004 from
$4.4 million on June 30, 2003. As of June 30, 2004, we had working capital of $2.0 million, compared to a
working capital deficit of $172,000 at June 30, 2003. We believe that existing capital resources will enable us to
maintain current and planned operations for the next 12 months. However, our working capital requirements in
the foreseeable future are subject to numerous risks and will depend on a variety of factors, in particular, that
revenues maintain at the levels achieved in fiscal year 2004 and that customers continue to pay on a timely basis,
and we may need to secure additional financing due to unforeseen or unanticipated market conditions. Such
financing may be difficult to obtain on terms acceptable to us and will almost certainly dilute existing
stockholder value.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of eGain and our wholly-owned subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts in the consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform with
the current year presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The estimates are based upon information available as of the
date of the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of each of our international subsidiaries is the local currency of the country in
which it operates. Assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries are translated at month-end exchange rates,
and revenues and expenses are translated at the average monthly exchange rates. The resulting cumulative
translation adjustmients are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Gains and
losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in the consolidated statements of operations and,
to date, have not been significant.

Cash and Cash equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. As of June 30, 2004 and 2003, all of our investments were classified as cash equivalents, which
consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30,
2004 2003
Cash . o $5,181 $4,159
Money market funds ... ... ..t e — 2
Certificates of deposit .. ...t — —_
Commercial Paper . ... ..ot e — 246

$5.181 $4,407

Restricted Cash

On September 20, 2002, we entered into a new accounts receivable purchase agreement with Silicon Valley
Bank (“SVB”) (see note 6 to Consolidated Financial Statements), as part of this agreement a new loan facility in
the amount of $Z.6 million was secured by establishing a restricted certificate of deposit in the amount of
$2.6 million. This restricted certificate of deposit is recorded as Restricted Cash. The amount of the restricted
certificate of deposit is reduced as scheduled amortization payments on the term loan are made and as of
February 29, 2004, the term loan was paid in full.

Collateralized Receivables

On September 20, 2002, eGain entered into an accounts receivable purchase agreement (the “AR Facility”)
with SVB. The AR Facility originally provided for the sale of up to $5.0 million in certain qualified receivables.
On March 25, 2003, eGain entered into a new modification agreement that reduced the amount to $1.9 miilion in
certain qualified receivables. On June 25, 2004, eGain entered into a new modification agreement that extended
the term of the agreement. As of June 30, 2004 the outstanding balance under the AR Facility was $506,000,
collateralized by $632,000 of qualified receivables.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and
debt. We do not have any derivative financial instruments. We believe the reported carrying amounts of its
financial instruments approximate fair value, based upon their short-term nature and comparable market
information available at the respective balance sheet dates and for the notes payable that the interest rates
remained substantially unchanged between the date of the notes payable and the balance sheet date.
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Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents and trade accounts receivable. We are exposed to credit risk in the event of default by these
institutions to the extent of the amount recorded on the balance sheet. We invest excess cash primarily in
commercial paper and money market funds, which are highly liquid securities that bear minimal risk. In addition,
we have investment policies and procedures that are reviewed periodically to minimize credit risk.

Our customer base extends across many different industries and geographic regions. We perform ongoing
credit evaluations of our customers with outstanding receivables and generally do not require collateral. In
addition, we established an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of
customers, historical trends and other information. In the fiscal years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, no
single customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenue.

Sales to customers outside of North America accounted for $9.4 million, $10.9 million and $13.0 million of
our total revenue in the fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the respective assets (3 years).
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of their corresponding lease term or the estimated useful
lives of the improvements (5 years). Leased equipments are depreciated over the lesser of the lease term or 3
years.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 141 “Business Combinations” and SFAS 142 “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.” SFAS 141 requires business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for
using the purchase method of accounting. SFAS 141 also included guidance on the initial recognition and
measurement of goodwill and other intangible assets arising from business combinations and includes criteria
that required intangible assets such as assembled workforce to be recognized as part of goodwill. As of July 1,
2002, eGain reclassified $750,000 of assembled workforce from intangibles to goodwill.

Effective July 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142 and ceased amortization of goodwill and began reviewing
it annually (or more frequently if impairment indicators arise) for impairment. In addition, we evaluated our
remaining purchased intangible assets to determine that all such assets have determinable lives. We operate under
a single reporting unit and accordingly, all of our goodwill is associated with the entire company. Prior to the
adoption of SFAS No. 142, we amortized goodwill on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of three
years. The purchased intangible assets including customer base and acquired technology are being amortized
over the asset’s useful life, which ranges from three to four years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In connection with the transitional goodwill impairment evaluation provisions of SFAS 142, we performed a
goodwill impairment review as of July 1, 2002 and found no impairment. We also performed our annual
goodwill impairment review as of April 1, 2004 and April 1, 2003 and found no impairment.
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As of July 1, 2002, in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS 144™), we review long-lived
assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in
business circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be fully recoverable. Under
SFAS 144, an impairment loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to
result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying amount. Impairment, if any,
is assessed using discounted cash flows. For fiscal years 2003 and 2004, we did not have any such losses.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2002, in accordance with SFAS No. 121, we determined that impairment
indicators were present and therefore evaluated the carrying value of our goodwill and other intangible assets.
The evaluation was based on a cash flow forecast for five years ending June 30, 2007, and discounted at the rate
of 34%, which represented our estimated weighted average cost of capital. As a result of the evaluation, we
concluded that the book value of long-lived assets exceeded fair value by $36.8 million and accordingly, this
amount was charged to operations as impairment of long-lived assets in the fourth quarter of 2002.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue in accordance with Statement of Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition
(“*SOP 97- 2", as amended. Under SOP 97-2, revenue from license fees is recognized when persuasive evidence
of an agreement exists, delivery of the product has occurred, no significant eGain obligations remain, the fee is
fixed or determinable, and collectibility is probable. License revenue in multiple element contracts is recognized
using the residual method when there is vendor specific objective evidence of the fair value of all undelivered
elements in an arrangement but vendor specific objective evidence of fair value does not exist for one or more of
the delivered elements in an arrangement. Under the residual method, the total fair value of the undelivered
elements, as indicated by vendor specific objective evidence, is deferred and the difference between the total
arrangement fee and the amount deferred for the undelivered elements is recognized as revenue related to the
delivered elements. If sufficient vendor-specific objective evidence does not exist for undelivered elements in an
arrangement, all revenue from the arrangement is deferred until the earlier of the point at which (a) such
sufficient vendor-specific objective evidence does exist for the undelivered elements or (b) all elements of the
arrangement without sufficient vendor-specific objective evidence have been delivered.

Support and service revenue is primarily derived from hosting services, consulting fees, maintenance
agreements, and training. Revenue from hosting services is recognized ratably over the period of the agreement
as services are provided. Hosting agreements are typically for a period of one year and automatically renew
unless either party cancels the agreement. Service revenue from consulting and training, billed on a time and
materials basis, is recognized as performed. Service revenue on fixed price service arrangements is recognized
upon completion of specific contractual milestone events, or based on an estimated percentage of completion as
work progresses. Maintenance agreements include the right to software updates on an if-and-when-available
basis. The fair value of maintenance revenue, established by annual maintenance renewals of existing customers,
is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis as service revenue over the life of the related agreement, which
is typically one year.

In all cases, we assess whether the service element of the arrangement is essential to the functionality of the
other elements of the arrangement. In this determination, we focus on whether the services include significant
alterations to the features and functionality of the software, whether the services involve the building of complex
interfaces, the timing of payments and the existence of milestones. In making this determination, we consider the
following: (1) the relative fair value of the services compared to the software, (2) the amount of time and effort
subsequent to delivery of the software until the interfaces or other modifications are completed, (3) the degree of
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technical difficulty in building the interfaces or other modifications, and (4) any contractual cancellation,
acceptance, or termination provisions for failure to complete the interfaces. In those instances where eGain
determines that the service elements are essential to the other elements of the arrangement, eGain accounts for
the entire arrangement in accordance with Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 45, “Long-Term
Construction-Type Contracts,” using the relevant guidance from SOP 97-2 and SOP 81-1, “Accounting for
Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.”

Revenue from sales to resellers are recognized either upon delivery to the reseller or on a sell-through basis,
depending on the facts and circumstances of the transaction, such as our understanding of the reseller’s use of our
software, the reseller’s financial status and our past experience with the particular reseller. Accordingly the
decision whether to recognize revenue to resellers either upon delivery or on a sell-through basis requires
significant management judgment. This judgment can materially impact the timing of revenue recognition.

Software Development Costs

We account for software development costs in accordance with SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed,” whereby costs for the development of new
software products and substantial enhancements to existing software products are included in research and
development expense as incurred until technological feasibility has been established, at which time any
additional costs are capitalized. Technological feasibility is established upon completion of a working model. To
date, software development costs incurred in the period between achieving technological feasibility and general
availability of software have not been material and have been charged to operations as incurred.

Advertising Costs

We expense advertising costs as incurred. Total advertising expenses for the fiscal years ended June 30,
2004, 2003 and 2002 were $168,000, $53,000 and $269,000, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for our stock-based compensation arrangements with employees using the intrinsic-value
method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.
Deferred stock-based compensation is recorded on the date of grant when the deemed fair value of the underlying
common stock exceeds the exercise price for stock options or the purchase price for the shares of common stock.

Deferred compensation is amortized on a graded vesting method over the vesting period of the individual
grants. In addition, eGain records compensation expense in connection with grants of stock options to non-
employees pursuant to “Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). These grants are periodically revalued as they vest in accordance with SFAS 123
and “EITF 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or
in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.”

As of June 30, 2004, the outstanding balance of deferred stock compensation was $0. We amortized $0,
$157,000 and $884,000 of deferred compensation in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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eGain has adopted the disclosure requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, Transition and Disclosure. Pro forma information regarding net
income (loss) has been determined as if we had accounted for our employee stock options under the fair value
method prescribed by SFAS 123 (in thousands, except per share data):

June 30,
2004 2003 2002
As Reported:
Net loss applicable to common stockholders ............... $(12,278) $(18,366) $(166,101)
Basic and diluted net loss pershare ...................... (3.33) 5.0DH) (45.85)
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method .................. (588) (434) (3,339)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in
reported Netloss . ... 0 157 961
Pro Forma:
Net loss applicable to common stockholders ... ............ $(12,866) $(18,643) $(168,479)
Basic and diluted net loss pershare ...................... (3.49) (5.09) (46.50)

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS 109”). Under this method, deferred tax
liabilities and assets are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of differences between the carrying
amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities.

Comprehensive Loss

eGain reports comprehensive loss and its components in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income (“SFAS 130"). Under SFAS 130, comprehensive income
includes all changes in equity during a period except those resulting from investments by or distributions to
owners. Total comprehensive loss for each of the three years ended June 30, 2004 is shown in the statement of
stockholders’ equity. Accumulated other comprehensive loss presented in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets at June 30, 2004 consists solely of accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments.
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Net Loss Per Common Share
Basic net loss per common share is computed using the weighted-average number of shares of common

stock outstanding.

The following table represents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per common share (in thousands,
except per share data):

Year ended June 30,
2004 2003 2002

Net loss applicable to common stockholders ... ................. $(12,278) $(18,366) $(166,101)
Basic and diluted:

Weighted-average common shares outstanding ............. 3,688 3,666 3,650

Less weighted-average common shares subject to repurchase . . _ 2 27

Weighted-average common shares used in computing basic and

diluted net loss per common share . .. ................... 3,688 3,664 3,623

Basic and diluted net loss per common share ................... $ (333)% (501)$ (45.85)

Outstanding options and warrants to purchase 1,210,660, 931,322 and 620,800 shares of common stock at
June 30, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively, and convertible preferred stock convertible into 2,015,868,
1,886,050 and 1,764,900 shares of common stock at June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, were not
included in the computation of diluted net loss per common share for the periods presented as a result of their
anti-dilutive effect. Such securities could have a dilutive effect in future periods.

Segment Information

Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise for which discrete financial information is
available and regularly reviewed by the company’s chief operating decision-maker to make decisions about
resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance. Our chief operating decision-makers, as
defined under SFAS No. 131, are our executive management team. Qur chief operating decision-maker reviews
financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by separate information about operating
results by geographic region for purposes of making operating decisions and assessing financial performance.
Accordingly, we operate in one segment, the development, license, implementation and support of our customer
service infrastructure software solutions.
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Information relating to our geographic areas for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 is as
follows (in thousands):

Operating
Total Earning Identifiable
Revenues (Loss) Assets
Year ended June 30, 2004
North America ...... ... i i $10,170 $ (3,545) $ 6,499
Europe ...... . ... 8,750 1,012 2,812
India ... o e — (2,047) 617
ASIAPacific .. ... 683 176 353

$19,603 $ (4,404) $10,281

Year ended June 30, 2003:

North AMEriCa . ...ttt e $11,223 $ (9,319) §$ 8,237
BUrope ... e 9,983 525 3,716
India . ... o — (2,407) 550
AsiaPacific ... . . 878 (419) 451

$22,084 $ (11,620) $12,954

Year ended June 30, 2002:

North AMerica . .......o i e $17,393 $(111,791) $22,466
Burope ... 11,354 (186) 3,635
India ... — (2,119) 627
AsiaPacific ....... .. . 1,682 (1,034) 599

$30,429 $(115,130) $27,327

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting for
Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity (“SFAS 150”). SFAS 150
establishes how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both
liabilities and equity. SFAS 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31,
2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. We do
not expect this statement to have a material effect on our operating results or financial position.

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities” (FIN 46), which was amended by FIN 46R issued in December 2003. This interpretation
of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” addresses consolidation by business
enterprises of variable interest entities (VIEs) that either: (1) do not have sufficient equity investment at risk to
permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support, or (2) for which the
equity investors lack an essential characteristic of a controlling financial interest. This Interpretation applies
immediately to VIEs created after January 31, 2003. It also applies in the first fiscal year or interim period ending
after March 15, 2004, to VIEs created before February 1, 2003 in which an enterprise holds a variable interest. FIN
46 requires disclosure of VIEs in financial statements issued after January 31, 2003, if it is reasonably possible that
as of the transition date: (1) the company will be the primary beneficiary of an existing VIE that will require
consolidation or, (2) the company will hold a significant variable interest in, or have significant involvement with,
an existing VIE. We have completed our review of the requirements of FIN 46. As a result of our review, no entities
were identified requiring disclosure or consolidation under FIN 46.
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2. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

In April 2001, eGain obtained final regulatory approval from the government of India to complete the
acquisition of eGain Communications Private Limited (“eGain India”), formerly Nitman Software Private
Limited, an ecommerce software development company located in Pune, India. Effective April 23, 2001, eGain
acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of eGain India in exchange for a $921,000 cash payment and
transaction costs totaling $65,000. The acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting and the results of eGain India’s operations have been combined with those of eGain since the date of
acquisition. This purchase resulted in $301,000 of goodwill. See Note 3 regarding a substantial impairment in the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2002.

On June 29, 2000, eGain acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Inference Corporation
(“Inference”), a developer of one-to-one sales, service and support solutions over the Web, for $80.1 million. We
issued 590,000 shares of our common stock in the acquisition and assumed options that can be exercised for
161,000 shares of its common stock. The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting
and the results of Inference’s operations have been combined with those of eGain since the date of acquisition.
This purchase resulted in $76.1 million of goodwill and other intangible assets that are being amortized, net of
impairment charges, over estimated useful lives ranging from three to four years. See Note 3 regarding a
substantial impairment in the year ended June 30, 2002.

On March 7, 2000, we acquired all of the assets and liabilities of Big Science Company (“Big Science”), a
developer of self-service software products for $34.2 million. We issued 74,000 shares of our common stock in
the acquisition and assumed options that can be exercised for 5,000 shares of our common stock. The acquisition
was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and the results of Big Science’s operations have
been combined with those of eGain since the date of acquisition. This purchase resulted in $34.4 million of
goodwill and other intangible assets that are being amortized over an estimated useful life of three years. See
Note 3 regarding a substantial impairment in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002.

3. PURCHASED INTANGIBLE ASSETS INCLUDING GOODWILL

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 141 “Business Combinations” and SFAS 142 “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.” SFAS 141 requires business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for
using the purchase method of accounting. SFAS 141 also included guidance on the initial recognition and
measurement of goodwill and other intangible assets arising from business combinations and includes criteria
that required intangible assets such as assembled workforce to be recognized as part of goodwill. As of July 1,
2002, eGain reclassified $750,000 of assembled workforce from intangibles to goodwill.

Effective July 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142 and ceased amortization of goodwill and began reviewing
it annually (or more frequently if impairment indicators arise) for impairment. In addition, we evaluated our
remaining purchased intangible assets to determine that all such assets have determinable lives. We operate under
a single reporting unit and accordingly, all of our goodwill is associated with the entire company. Prior to the
adoption of SFAS No. 142, we amortized goodwill on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of three
years. The purchased intangible assets including customer base and acquired technology are being amortized
over the assets’ useful life, which ranges from three to four years.

In connection with the transitional goodwill impairment evaluation provisions of SFAS 142, we performed a

goodwill impairment review as of July 1, 2002 and found no impairment. We also performed our annual
goodwill impairment review as of April 1, 2004 and found no impairment.
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As of July 1, 2002, in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS 144”), we review long-lived
assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in
business circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be fully recoverable. Under
SFAS 144, an impairment loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to
result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying amount. Impairment, if any,
is assessed using discounted cash flows. In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2002, in accordance with SFAS No.
121, we determined that impairment indicators were present and therefore evaluated the carrying value of our
goodwill and other intangible assets. The evaluation was based on a cash flow forecast for five years ending June
30, 2007, and discounted at the rate of 34%, which represented our estimated weighted average cost of capital.
As a result of the evaluation, we concluded that the book value of long-lived assets exceeded fair value by $36.8
million and accordingly, this amount was charged to operations as impairment of long-lived assets in the fourth
quarter of 2002, During fiscal 2004, we did not have any such losses.

The following table provides a summary of the carrying amount of goodwill which includes amounts
originally allocated to assembled workforce (in thousands):

June 30, June 30,

2004 2003
Gross carrying amount of goodwill after impairment charge ........................ $ 86,664 $ 86,664
Accumulated amortization of goodwill ...... ... ... ... . . ... (81,784) (81,784)
Net carryingaamount of goodwill ....... ... . o i i $ 4880 $ 4,880

Purchased intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed
over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, generally 3 to 4 years. The following table summarizes
the carrying amount of other intangible assets that continue to be amortized and excludes amounts originally
allocated to assembled workforce (in thousands):

June 30, 2004
Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount
Acquired customerbase .......... ... i $4,901 $(4,901) $ —
Acquired developed technology .......... ... ... ... ... ... ..., 3,694 (3,694) —
Total . . e $8,595 $(8,595) $ —
June 30, 2003
Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount
Acquired customerbase . ... ... $4,901 $(3,697) $1,204
Acquired developed technology .......... ... .. ... ... .. ...... 3,694 (3,694) —
037 O $8,595 $(7,391) $1,204

The amortization expense on these intangible assets for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004 was $1.2 million
compared to $2.1 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003 and $3.3 million for the fiscal year ended June
30, 2002. The intangible assets were fully amortized as of June 30, 2004.

Upon adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Number 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets”, (“SFAS 142”), in its fiscal year beginning July 1, 2002, we are required to present specific

62




[ ¥

eGAIN COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

disclosures under the transitional provisions of SFAS 142. The following table presents the loss for all periods
presented, as adjusted, to exclude the amortization of goodwill (in thousands, except per share data; unaudited):

June 30,
2004 2003 2002

As Reported:

Net loss applicable to common stockholders ....................... $(12,278) $(18,366) $(166,101)

Basic and diluted net loss pershare .............. ... ... ..., (3.33) (5.01) (45.85)
Add:

Amortizationof goodwill ....... .. ... — — 33,212

Amortization of acquired workforce intangible previously classified as

purchasedintangible . . ......... .. ... .. i — — 750

Pro Forma:

Net loss applicable to common stockholders ....................... $(12,278) $(18,366) $(132,137)

Basic and diluted netloss per share . ............. . ... . ... . ... (3.33) (5.0DH) (36.47)
4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following:

June 30,
2004 2003

Computers and eqUIPMENE . .. ...\ttt ettt $ 1,792 314,029

Furniture and fiXTUIES . .. . oot 195 1,258

Leasehold improvements . ... .........uuiotiiinninne .. 239 653

Total .. 2,226 15,940
Accumulated depreciation and amortization .............. ... ... (1,753) (14,748)
Property and equipment, Bet . . ... ... . $ 473 $ 1,192

Depreciation expense was $1.1 million, $3.9 million and $6.9 million for the years ended June 30, 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. The decreased accumulated depreciation that resulted from disposal of fixed assets
was $681,000 and $2.0 million at June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Included in computers and equipment at June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 are computer hardware and software
as well as equipment under capital leases. The total cost of leased equipment declined to $63,000 in fiscal 2004
from $1.2 million and $2.3 million in fiscal 2003 and 2002, respectively. The accumulated depreciation related to
the leased equipment was $54,000, $1.2 million and $2.0 million at June 30, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.
The decrease was primarily due to the reclassification from leased equipment to computer equipment for the
buyout. The total of fully depreciated assets as of June 30, 2004 was $19.0 million.

5. RELATED PARTY NOTES PAYABLE

During fiscal year 2003, we entered into a note and warrant purchase agreement with Ashutosh Roy, our
Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to which Mr. Roy will make loans to us evidenced by one or more
subordinated secured promissory notes and will receive warrants to purchase shares of our common stock in
connection with each of such loans. The five year subordinated secured promissory note bears interest at an
effective annual rate of 12% due and payable upon the term of such note. We have the option to prepay each note
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at any time subject to the prepayment penalties set forth in such note. On December 31, 2002, Mr. Roy loaned to
us $2.0 million under the agreement and received warrants that allow him to purchase up to 236,742 shares at an
exercise price equal to $2.11 per share. In connection with this loan, we recorded $1.83 million in related party
notes payable and $173,000 of discount on the note related to the relative value of the warrants issued in the
transaction that will be amortized to interest expense over the five year life of the note. The fair value of these
warrants was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation method with the following assumptions: an expected
life of 3 years, an expected stock price volatility of 75%, a risk free interest rate of 2%, and a dividend yield
of 0%. On October, 31, 2003, we entered into an amendment to the 2002 note and warrant purchase agreement
with Mr. Roy, pursuant to which he loaned to us an additional $2.0 million and received additional warrants to
purchase up to 128,766 shares at $3.88 per share. In connection with this additional loan we recorded $1.8
million in related party notes payable and $195,000 of discount on the notes related to the relative value of the
warrants issued in the transaction that will be amortized to interest expense over the five year life of the note. The
fair value of these warrants was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation method with the following
assumptions: an expected life of 3 years, an expected stock price volatility of 75%, a risk free interest rate of
2.25%, and a dividend yield of 0%.

On March 31, 2004, we entered into a note and warrant purchase agreement with Ashutosh Roy, our Chief
Executive Officer, Oak Hill Capital Partners L.P., Oak Hill Capital Management Partners L.P., and FW Investors
L.P. (the “lenders”) pursuant to which the lenders loaned to us $2.5 million evidenced by secured promissory
notes and received warrants to purchase shares of our common stock in connection with such loan. The secured
promissory notes have a term of five years and bear interest at an effective annual rate of 12% due and payable
upon the maturity of such notes. We have the option to prepay the notes at any time subject to the prepayment
penalties set forth in such notes. The warrants allow the lenders to purchase up to 312,500 shares at an exercise
price of $2.00. The warrants become exercisable as to fifty percent (50%) of the warrant shares nine months after
issuance of the warrants and as to one hundred percent (100%) of the warrant shares on the first anniversary of
the issuance of the warrants. We recorded $2.28 million in related party notes payable and $223,000 of discount
on the notes related to the relative value of the warrants issued in the transaction that will be amortized to interest
expense over the five year life of the notes. The fair value of these warrants was determined using the Black-
Scholes valuation method with the following assumptions: an expected life of 3 years, an expected stock price
volatility of 75%, a risk free interest rate of 1.93%, and a dividend yield of 0%. The principal and interest due on
the loan as of fiscal year end 2004 was $2.4 million. As of June 30, 2004, warrants to purchase 312,500 shares of
common stock were outstanding but not yet vested.

6. BANK BORROWINGS

On September 20, 2002, we entered into a new accounts receivable purchase agreement (the “AR Facility”)
with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”) (see Note 6 to Consolidated Financial Statements), which replaced the
existing revolving line of credit. The AR Facility provides for the sale of up to $5.0 million in certain qualified
receivables, bears interest at a rate of prime plus 5.0% per annum and carries a 0.5% monthly administrative fee.
In addition, when entering into the AR Facility, we also combined the existing term loan and equipment loan
with SVB into one term loan facility in the amount of $2.6 million. This new term loan was secured by
establishing a restricted certificate of deposit and was reduced by scheduled amortization payments until the term
loan was paid in. full on February 27, 2004. There are no financial or operational covenant requirements under
this agreement. On March 25, 2003, we entered into a modification agreement with SVB which extended the
term of the AR Facility through June 30, 2003 and revised the sale amount of qualified receivables from $5.0
million to $1.9 million. On June 25, 2003, we entered into a modification agreement for the AR Facility with
SVB that extended the term of the AR Facility through September 30, 2003. On September 25, 2003, we entered
into a modification agreement with SVB that extended the term of the AR Facility through December 31, 2003

64




eGAIN COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

and revised the interest to a rate of 7% per annum or prime plus 3% or, whichever is greater. On December 19,
2003 we entered into a modification agreement with SVB that extended the term of the AR Facility through June
30, 2004. On June 25, 2004, we entered into a modification agreement that extended the term of the agreement
for an additional 3 months. In September 2004, we expect to enter into a new line of credit agreement with SVB,
or extend the term of the AR Facility. At fiscal year end 2004, the outstanding balance under the AR Facility was
$506,000, collateralized by $632,000 of receivables.

7. INCOME TAXES

Net loss before income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30,
2004 2003 2002
United States .. ...t $(5,248) $(10,276) $(108,374)
FOreign . ..o e 354 (1,200) (7,446)
Total .. e $(4,894) $(11,476) $(115,820)

The following table reconciles the federal statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate of the provision for
income taxes:

June 30,
2004 2003 2002
Federal statutory inCome taX Tate .. ......c.uvrvnnen ... 34.0% 340% 34.0%
CUITENt StAtE LAXES . . vttt e et et e e et e e 0.3) — —
Permanent iteIms . . ... oottt it e s 02 ©1H —
Net change in valuation allowance ............ ... .. .ot .. (29.1) (28.5) (149) -
Effective taXx rate . ... . i e 44% 54% 19.1%

Due to operating losses and the inability to recognize the benefits therefrom, there is no provision for
income taxes for the years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 or 2002.

As of June 30, 2004, we had a federal net operating loss carryforward of approximately $195.9 million. We
also had federal research and development credit carryforwards of approximately $2.0 million. The net operating
loss and credit carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2005 through 2024, if not utilized.

Utilization of the net operating losses and credits may be subject to a substantial limitation due to the

“change in ownership” provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and similar state provisions. The annual
limitation may result in the expiration of net operating losses and credits before utilization.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the net tax effects of net operating loss and credit carryforwards
and of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and the
amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities for
federal and state income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

June 30,
2004 2003

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards ........... ... ... i $ 70,800 $ 68,900

Research credits . ... ..ot e 4,400 3,000

Capitalized research and development ............. ... ... ... ... .... 1.500 1,800

Other individual immaterial items . .......... i, 1,300 2,000

Total deferred tax assets .. ... ...ttt 78,000 75,700

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets . .................c.ciuuur.n.. $(75,800) $(74,200)
Subtotal . ... 2,200 1,500
Deferred tax liabilities:

QOther intangibles ............................................... $ (2 200) $ (l 500)
Net Deferred Tax ASSelS . ..ttt ettt e e $ — 5 —
CUITENE . . ottt et et e e e e e e $ 620 $ 900
Non-Current . ... 75,180 73,300
Total valuation allowance . . .. ...t $ 75,800 $ 74,200

FASB No. 109 provides for the recognition of deferred tax assets if realization of such assets is more likely
than not. Based upon the weight of available evidence, which includes our historical operating performance and
the reported cumulative net losses in all prior years, we have provided a full valuation allowance against our net
deferred tax assets.

The net valuation allowance increased by $1.5 million, $2.9 million and $16.1 million during the fiscal
years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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8. LEASE COMMITMENTS

We lease our facilities under noncancelable operating leases that expire at various dates through fiscal year
2011. Rent expense for facilities under operating leases was $1.3 million, $1.8 million and $5.1 million for the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In addition, we generated sublease rental income
of $162,000 and $370,000 for the fiscal years 2004 and 2003, respectively. We also lease certain computer
hardware and software under capital leases that expire at various dates through fiscal year 2005. A summary of
future minimum lease payments is as follows (in thousands):

Capital Operating

Fiscal Year Leases _Leases

2005 . $10 $ 657

20006 . .o e — 560

2007 — 574

200 —— 437

2000 L — 171

Thereafter . ... ... .. e — 343
Total minimum lease payments .............. .0t irnenannn.. 10 $2,742

Less amount representing imputed interest . ... ... i n

Present value of net minimum capital lease payments ........................ 9

Less Current POrtiON .. ...ttt e 9

Capital leases, excluding current portion . ........ ... ... .. . . ... LS

Out of the total $2.8 million operating leases commitment, $59,000 has been included in restructuring
expenses during fiscal 2002, 2003 and 2004 associated with the consolidation of excess facilities in North
America.

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We sponsor an employee savings and retirement plan (the “401(k) Plan”) as allowed under Section 401(k)
of the Internal Revenue Code. The 401(k) Plan is available to all domestic employees who meet minimum age
and service requirements, and provides employees with tax deferred salary deductions and alternative investment
options. Employees may contribute up to 60% of their salary, subject to certain limitations. eGain, at the
discretion of its Board of Directors, may make contributions to the 401(k) Plan. We have not contributed to the
401(k) Plan since its inception.

10. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Convertible Preferred Stock

On August 8, 2000, we issued 35.11 shares of non-voting Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock
(“Series A”), $100,000 stated value per share, and 849.89 shares of non-voting Series B Cumulative Convertible
Preferred Stock (“Series B”), $100,000 stated value per share in a private placement to certain investors. The
Series B shares automatically converted into Series A shares upon stockholder approval on November 20, 2000
at the annual stockholders meeting. In addition, the investors received warrants to purchase approximately
382,600 shares of our common stock (the “Warrants™). The total proceeds of the offering were $88.5 million. The
Series A shares have a liquidation preference of $100,000 per share which increases on a daily basis at an annual
rate of 6.75% from August 8, 2000, compounded on a semi-annual basis. The Series A aggregate liquidation
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preference was $114.7 million at June 30, 2004. In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our
operations, before any distribution or payment to holders of common stock, Series A stockholders shall be
entitled to be paid the greater of (i) the liquidation value, or (i) an amount equal to the amount that Series A
stockholders would be entitled to receive if they had converted their shares to common stock immediately prior
to the record date in connection with such liquidation, dissolution or winding up. A consolidation, merger or
other business combination resulting in the holders of the issued and outstanding voting securities immediately
prior to such transaction owning or controlling a majority of the voting securities of the continuing or surviving
entity immediately following such transaction shall not be deemed to be a liquidation, dissolution or winding up
(unless in connection therewith, the liquidation of us is specifically approved). The Series A stockholders are
entitled to cash dividends only when and if declared by the board of directors. The Series A shares are
convertible at the option of the holder into common stock at any time.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Series A agreement, on August 8, 2001, the conversion price of
the Series A shares underwent a reset from the original conversion price of $92.517 per share to $56.875 per
share. As a result of this adjustment of the conversion price, the currently outstanding Series A shares were
convertible into approximately 166,000 shares of common stock as of August 8, 2001. In addition, on August 8,
2001, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Warrant agreement, the exercise price of the Warrants
underwent an adjustment from the original exercise price of $92.517 per share to $56.875 per share. This
adjustment to the exercise price of the Warrants will not result in the issuance of additional warrants or shares of
common stock upon the exercise of the Warrants.

The net cash proceeds of the offering, after expenses, were $82.6 million. In order to determine whether a
beneficial conversion feature existed in connection with the offering, the proceeds were discounted by $25.3
million, representing the valuation of the 382,600 warrants issued in connection with the sale of Series A and B
shares. After reducing the proceeds by the value of the warrants, the remaining proceeds were used to compute a
discounted conversion price, which was compared to the fair market value of our common stock at the date of
issuance to determine whether a beneficial conversion feature existed. Based upon the accounting literature in
effect at the time of the issuance of the Series A shares, (EITF 98-5, “Accounting for Convertible Securities with
Beneficial Conversion Features or Contingently Adjustable Conversion Ratios”), the initial beneficial conversion
charge of $19.3 million was measured using an intrinsic value methodology at the date of issuance (the
“commitment date”) and recognized at the date the Series A became convertible. In addition, the contingent
beneficial conversion charge was measured at the commitment date but not recognized as the contingency (reset
on August 8, 2001) had not been resolved. The incremental amount recognized at the date of reset was limited to
the allocated proceeds of $63.2 million, less the initial charge of $19.3 million. During the year ended June 30,
2002, $43.8 million was allocated to the beneficial conversion feature and was included in net loss applicable to
common stockholders.

We have the option to convert the Series A shares into common stock after August 8, 2003 if the closing bid
price of our common stock on 20 of the 30 consecutive trading days prior to the date of notice requesting
conversion is equal to or greater than 250% of the initial conversion price (or $231.30 per share). If not sooner
converted, on August 8, 2005 we must either, at our option, redeem the Series A shares for cash or convert the
Series A shares into common stock at a price per share equal to 95% of the average closing bid price per share of
our common stock on the 20 consecutive trading days immediately prior to the redemption date.

Accrued dividends, representing the increase in liquidation value at the rate of 6.75% per annum, are
charged against additional paid-in capital and are included in net loss applicable to common stockholders. For of
the fiscal years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, accrued dividends were $7.4 million, $6.9 million and $6.4
million respectively.

68




e¢GAIN COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Common Stock

On September 28, 1999, eGain completed an initial public offering in which it sold 500,000 shares of
common stock at $120.00 per share for net proceeds of $54.7 million. In October 1999, the underwriters
exercised an over-allotment option of 75,000 shares resulting in net proceeds of $8.3 million.

Certain option holders have exercised options to purchase shares of restricted common stock in exchange for
five-year, full recourse promissory notes. The notes bear interest ranging from 5.0% to 6.0% and expire at
various dates through June 2004. eGain has the right to repurchase all unvested shares at the original exercise
price upon employee termination. The number of shares subject to this repurchase right decreases as the shares
vest under the original option terms, generally four years. There were no shares subject to repurchase at June 30,
2004 and 2003, and 7,594 and 48,500 shares subject to repurchase at June 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

We have reserved shares of common stock for issuance at June 30, 2004 as follows:

Stock Options:
Options outstanding . . . .. ..ottt e 462,519
Reserved for future grants . ....... ... . 367,181
Employee Stock Purchase Plan . .......... .. . ... . 111,987
WaATTANES . oot e e e e e e e 1,060,641
Conversion of Preferred stock . . ... ... . o i 2,015,868

4,018,196

Common Stock Warrants

In connection with the acquisition of Sitebridge on April 30, 1999, we assumed warrants to purchase 12,100
shares of our common stock at a price of $9.916 per share, which expired in May 2003 and were never exercised.
In addition, we assumed warrants to purchase 3,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $2.754 per share,
which expired in October 2001 and were never exercised.

On August 8, 2000, we issued 35.11 shares of non-voting Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock
(“Series A™), $100,000 stated value per share, and 849.89 shares of non-voting Series B Cumulative Convertible
Preferred Stock (“Series B”), $100,000 stated value per share in a private placement to certain investors. The
Series B shares automatically converted into Series A shares upon stockholder approval on November 20, 2000
at the annual stockholders meeting. In addition, investors received warrants to purchase an aggregate of 383,000
shares of our common stock with a current warrant exercise price of $56.875 per share.

On December 24, 2002, we entered into a note and warrant purchase agreement with Ashutosh Roy, the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to which Mr. Roy will make loans to us evidenced by one or more
subordinated secured promissory notes and will receive warrants to purchase shares of the our common stock in
connection with such loans. The fair value of these options was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation
method with the following assumptions: an expected life of 3 years, an expected stock price volatility of 75%, a
risk free interest rate of 2%, and a dividend yield of 0%. We recorded $1.83 million in related party notes
payable and $173,000 of discount on the notes related to the value of the warrants issued in the transaction that
will be amortized to interest expense ratably over the five year life of the note with conformed charges.

On October 31, 2003, we entered into an amendment to the 2002 purchase agreement with Mr. Roy. The fair
value of these options was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation method with the following
assumptions: an expected life of 3 years, an expected stock price volatility of 75%, a risk free interest rate of
2.25%, and a dividend yield of 0%. We recorded $1.8 million in related party notes payable and $195,000 of
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discount on the notes related to the value of the warrants issued in the transaction that will be amortized to
interest expense ratably over the five year life of the note with conformed charges.

On March 31, 2004, we entered into a note and warrant purchase agreement with Ashutosh Roy, our Chief
Executive Officer, Oak Hill Capital Partners L.P., Oak Hill Capital Management Partners L.P., and FW Investors
L.P. (the “lenders”) pursuant to which the lenders loaned to us $2.5 million evidenced by secured promissory
notes and received warrants to purchase shares of our common stock in connection with such loan. The fair value
of these warrants was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation method with the following assumptions: an
expected life of 3 years, an expected stock price volatility of 75%, a risk free interest rate of 1.93%, and a
dividend yield of 0%. We recorded $2.28 million in related party notes payable and $223,000 of discount on the
notes related to the relative value of the warrants issued in the transaction that will be amortized to interest
expense over the five year life of the notes.

Activity is summarized as follows:

Weighted
Warrants Average
‘ Qustanding Exercise Price
Beginning balance ........... ... 15,100 8.49
Warrants issued to preferred shareholders . .......... ... . .. o il 382,632 56.88
Warrants outstanding as of June 30,2001 ....... .. ... ... .. ... . . 397,732 55.04
Expiration of warrants assumed at April 1999 . ... ... .. ... .. ool (3,000) 2.75
Warrants outstanding as of June 30,2001 ......... ... . ... ... . L 394,732 55.44
Expiration of warrants assumed at April 1999 ... ... .. ... .. o (12,100) 9.92
Warrants issued per Note & Warrant Agreement with AshutoshRoy .............. 236,742 2.11
Warrants outstanding as of June 30,2003 ....... ... ... ... ... oL 619,374 35.95
Warrants issued per Amendment to Note & Warrant Agreement with

Ashutosh ROY . . ..o 128,766 3.88
Warrants issued per Note & Warrant Agreement with the lenders ................. 312,500 2.00
Warrants outstanding as of June 30,2004 . ....... ... .. ... .. 1,060,640 22.05

1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) allows eligible employees to purchase common
stock through payroll deductions of up to 15% of an employee’s compensation, subject to certain limitations. The
ESPP has a one-year offering period that begins in May or November of each year, depending on which date the
participant elects to enter the ESPP. The purchase price of the common stock will be equal to §5% of the lower
of (1) the fair market value per share on the participant’s entry date into the offering period or (2) the fair market
value per share on each semi-annual purchase date during the offering period. A total of 200,000 shares of
common stock have been reserved for issuance under the ESPP, of which 88,013 shares had been issued as of
June 30, 2004. During the years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 there were 12,561, 655 and 28,694 shares
issued under the ESPP, respectively.

Tender Offer

In May 2001, we announced a voluntary stock option exchange program for our employees. Under the
program, our employees were given the opportunity, if they chose, to cancel certain outstanding stock options
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previously granted to them with an exercise price equal to or greater than $40.00 in exchange for an equal
number of replacement options to be granted at a future date, at least six months and one day from the
cancellation date, which was August 10, 2001. Those employees electing to participate in the exchange program
were required to exchange all options granted to such employees during the six-month period prior to the
cancellation date. Under the exchange program, options for 101,400 shares of our common stock were tendered
and cancelled and 87,800 shares were issued as replacement grants on February 11, 2002 at a price of $14.30.
There were 1,400 untendered options associated with the exchange program that are subject to variable
accounting. There was no compensation expense associated with these options recorded during fiscal 2004, 2003
and 2002.

2000 Stock Plan

In July 2000, the board of directors adopted the 2000 Non-Management Stock Option Plan (the “2000
Plan™), which provides for the grant of nonstatutory stock options to employees, advisors and consultants of
¢Gain. Options under the 2000 Plan shall be granted at a price not less than 85% of the fair market value of the
common stock on the date of grant. eGain’s board of directors determines the fair market value (as defined in the
2000 Plan) of the common stock, date of grant and vesting schedules of the options granted. The options
generally vest ratably over 4 years and expire no later than 10 years from the date of grant.

The following table represents the activity under the 2000 Plan:

Shares
Available Weighted
for Options Average
Grant Outstanding Price
Balance at June 30, 2001 ... ... . e 58,611 141,389 $92.25
Options granted .. ... ... ot (57,780) 57,780 $12.71
Optionscanceled ...... ...t 74,880  (74,880) $91.91
Balance at June 30, 2002 . ... ... 75,711 124,289 $55.48
Options granted .. ...ttt (17,388) 17,388 $ 178
Options exercised .. ...t — (1,131) $ 1.60
Optionscanceled ........ ... i 57,992  (57,992) $53.46
Balance at June 30,2003 . ... ... 116,315 82,554 $46.33
Options granted . ... ... . (60,245) 60,245 $ 3.19
Options exercised . ...\ttt — (253) $ 1.60
Options canceled . ......... .o 24,833 (24,833) $47.55
Balance at June 30, 2004 . . ... . . 80,903 117,713 $24.10

1998 Stock Plan

In June 1998, the board of directors adopted the 1998 Stock Plan (the “1998 Plan”), which provides for
grant of stock options to eligible participants. Options granted under the 1998 Plan are either incentive stock
options or nonstatutory stock options. Incentive stock options may be granted to employees with exercise prices
of no less than the fair value of the common stock and nonstatutory options may be granted to eligible
participants at exercise prices of no less than 85% of the fair value of the common stock on the date of grant.
eGain’s board of directors determines the fair market value (as defined in the 1998 Plan) of the common stock,
date of grant and vesting schedules of the options granted. The options generally vest ratably over a period of
four years and expire no later than 10 years from the date of grant. Options are generally exercisable upon grant,
subject to repurchase rights by eGain until vested.
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The following table represents the activity under the 1998 Plan:

Shares Weighted
Available Options Average
for Grant Outstanding Price

Balance at June 30, 2001 .. ... .. .. e 283,727 341,908 $100.93
Options granted .. ... it e (401,994) 401,994 § 13.34
Options exercised . .. ...ttt e — (6,090) $ 11.01
Optionscanceled . ... i 277,445 (277,445) $ 96.77
Repurchases .......... .. i 16,327 —

Balance at June 30, 2002 . ... .. e 175,505 460,367 $ 28.14
Options granted . .. .. .oovu it e (73,484) 73484 $ 1.80
Options exercised . ..... ...ttt —_ 2,037y $ 1.59
Optionscanceled .. .......... . . i 197,520 (197,520) $ 31.94
Repurchases ........ ... . i 1,223 —

Balance at June 30, 2003 .. .. e 300,764 334294 $ 20.26
Options granted . . ... ..ottt e (124,550) 124,550 § 2.84
Options eXerCiSEd .. ..ottt e — (14,396) $ 3.39
Optionscanceled . ... it e 110,064 (110,064) $ 17.33
Repurchases ........ ... i — —

Balance at June 30,2004 . .. ... .. 286,278 334,384 $ 15.40

In connection with the acquisition of Sitebridge, eGain assumed options to purchase 111,400 shares of
common stock, of which none were outstanding as June 30, 2004. In connection with the acquisitions of Big
Science and Inference, eGain assumed options to purchase 5,000 and 161,000 shares of common stock,
respectively, of which none and 10,422, respectively, were outstanding as of June 30, 2004.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable as of June 30,
2004:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted

Range of Remaining  Average Average
Exercise Contractual  Exercise Exercise
Prices Number Life Price Number Price
$1.60 46,378 8.31 $ 160 36,849 $ 1.60
$1.70-$2.00 10,768 9.06 $ 190 4878 $ 1.99
$2.40-%2.40 79,925 9.44 $ 240 0 $ .00
$3.32-$3.32 70,974 9.21 $ 332 13460 $ 3.32
$4.00-$9.30 53,161 7.99 $ 502 29763 $ 520
$10.00-%$14.30 63,589 7.43 $ 1290 49923 § 1291
$15.80-$20.70 63,898 7.38 $ 18.68 49,751 §$ 18.10
$22.20-$86.75 52,491 5.95 $ 6183 45792 $ 60.20
$86.88-$405.00 20,585 6.09 $108.49 17,356 $100.60
$408.13-$408.13 750 S_fté $408.13 500 $408.13

$1.60-$408.13 462,519 8.01 $ 18.57 248272 $ 26.26
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Stock-Based Compensation

Pro forma information regarding net loss and net loss per share is required by SFAS 123 as if eGain had
accounted for its stock-based awards to employees under the fair value method of SFAS 123. The fair value of
eGain’s stock-based awards to employees was estimated using the Black-Scholes multiple option pricing model.
The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options
that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, the Black-Scholes model requires the
input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. eGain’s stock-based awards
to employees have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and changes in the
subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate. Therefore, in management’s opinion,
the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its stock-based
awards to employees.

The fair value of eGain’s stock-based awards to employees was estimated assuming no expected dividends
and the following weighted-average assumptions:

Options ESPP
W00 0@ WM 2003 2002
Expected life (years) ................... 350 350 328 050 050 0.50
Expected stock price volatility ........... .75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Risk-free interestrate .................. 297% 2.18% 3.92% 1.36% 1.34% 2.70%

The weighted-average fair value of options granted in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002
was $1.54, $0.93 and $7.00, respectively.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of an option is amortized to expense over the
vesting period of the option. eGain’s pro forma information, which includes the stock option plans and the ESPP,
for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 is as follows (in thousands except for basic and diluted
net loss per common share information):

2004 2003 2002
Net loss applicable to common stockholders—actual ............ $(12,278) $(18,366) $(166,101)
Net loss applicable to common stockholders—pro forma ......... (12,866) (18,643) (168,479
Net loss per common share:
Basicand diluted actual . ................ ... .. .. .. ..... $ (3.33) % (5.01) $ (4585
Basicand diluted proforma ......... ... ... ... ... ... (3.49) (5.09) (46.50)

11. RESTRUCTURING EXPENSE
Background

Beginning in fiscal 2001 and continuing through the first quarter of fiscal 2004, economic conditions in
North America and many of the other countries in which we operate either deteriorated or stabilized at depressed
levels. This continuing weak economic environment, and in particular spending in technology, has had an
adverse impact on sales of enterprise software. As a result, we have seen a decline in our revenues over the last
three fiscal years. In response to this decline, we initiated a series of steps to streamline operations and better
align operating costs and expenses with revenue trends. Specifically, we took the following actions:

*  We reduced the discretionary portion of our operating costs through various cost control initiatives,
including: (i) reducing marketing expenditures; (ii) movement of certain key business functions from
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North America to India; (iii) temporary reduction in salaries (fiscal 2002) in North America and Europe;
(iv) eliminating the majority of bonuses or realigning bonuses more closely with achievement of
financial objectives; (v) reducing depreciation, primarily through reduced capital expenditures; and (vi)
reducing other discretionary expenditures, such as costs related to outside consultants, travel and
recruiting.

In order to further align our operating structure with anticipated revenue levels, we restructured our
operations towards the end of fiscal 2001 (the “Fiscal 2001 Plan”). The Fiscal 2001 Plan consisted
primarily of reductions in our workforce and office closures in North America. The plan was completed
and paid‘in full as of June 30, 2004.

Based on our continued evaluation of economic conditions and a continued decline in our revenues we
initiated a further restructuring of our operations in fiscal 2002 (the “Fiscal 2002 Plan”). The Fiscal
2002 Plan consisted primarily of the consolidation of excess facilities, the abandonment of certain assets
in connection with the consolidation of excess and further reductions in our workforce.

Based on our continued evaluation of economic conditions and a continued decline in our revenues we
initiated a further restructuring of our operations in fiscal 2003 (the “Fiscal 2003 Plan™). The Fiscal
2003 Plan consisted primarily of the further reductions in our workforce, the consolidation of excess
facilities in North America and the closure of several local offices throughout the world.

Based on our continued evaluation of economic conditions and a continued decline in our revenues we
initiated ‘a further restructuring of our operations in the first fiscal quarter of 2004 (the “Fiscal 2004
Plan™). The Fiscal 2004 Plan consisted of further reductions in our workforce in Europe. The employee
severance payments relating to the Fiscal 2004 Plan have been paid in full in fiscal year 2004.

Fiscal 2004 plan

In fiscal year 2004, the total restructuring charge relating to the Fiscal 2004 Plan was $80,000. This charge
related to workforce reductions in Europe and was completed and paid in full in fiscal 2004.

In addition, during fiscal 2004 we made provisional adjustments to both Fiscal 2003 and Fiscal 2002 Plans
as follows:

The adjustment to the Fiscal 2003 Plan was primarily due to the reversal of the remaining accrual of
$74,000 relating to one of our facilities in Sunnyvale, California that we exited in fiscal 2004, $27,000
associated with the closure of our French office, and $14,000 in legal fees related to a lease settlement.

The adjustments to the Fiscal 2002 Plan of $139,000, primarily consisted of:

¢ $79,000 increase for one of our facilities in Andover, Massachusetts due to a decrease in the
sublease income previously estimated,

*  $14,000 increase due to the write-off of leasehold improvement relating to the termination of a lease
agreement for one of our excess facilities in Novato, California.

*  $46,000 increase to the restructuring accrual for a settlement agreement to terminate a lease
agreement for one of our excess facilities in Novato, California.

The total payments in fiscal year 2004 of $1.2 million consisted of $80,000, $336,000, $725,000 and
$92,000 of expenses accrued in Fiscal 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001 Plans, respectively.
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Fiscal 2003 Plan

In fiscal year 2003, the total restructuring charge relating to the Fiscal 2003 Plan was $2.3 million. The $2.3
million expense included $772,000 related to the closure of local offices in Holland, France, Germany, Australia
and Singapore, $225,000 for additional consolidation of excess facilities in North America, $1.2 million in
employee severance payments and $61,000 in professional services and miscellaneous charges related to the
restructuring. Both the employee severance and professional charges have been paid in full in fiscal year 2003.
We expect to pay the remaining balance of restructuring accrual related to excess facilities by the end of fiscal
year 2006.

In addition, during fiscal 2003 we made a provisional adjustment to the Fiscal 2002 Plan by reversing $1.7
million, previously recorded as a restructuring expense in fiscal 2002. The reversal related to the early
termination of a facility lease agreement in Sunnyvale, California.

The total payments of $3.3 million in fiscal year 2003 consisted of $1.9 million, $1.4 million and $40,000 of
expenses accrued in fiscal year 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The $1.9 million included $1.3 million for
employee severance payments, professional services and miscellaneous charges related to the restructuring and
$613,000 for excess worldwide facilities recorded in fiscal year 2003.

Fiscal 2002 Plan

In fiscal year 2002, the total restructuring charge relating to the Fiscal 2002 Plan was $9.0 million. These
charges included $6.4 million for the consolidation of our facilities in North America, $1.3 million in write-offs
of leasehold improvement and $15,000 in professional services and miscellaneous charges associated with the
exited facilities. In addition, we recorded a total severance charge of $1.2 million that was primarily due to the
reduction in worldwide workforce of 190 employees across all departments. Both of the employee severance and
professional charges have been paid in full in fiscal year 2002..

Total payments of $4.0 million in fiscal year 2002 consisted of $1.5 million for excess facilities in North
America, $1.3 million in write-offs of leasehold improvement and $1.2 million in employee severance,
professional services and miscellaneous charges accrued in the same fiscal year. Of the total payments, $88,000
was applied to the excess facilities accrued in the Fiscal 2001 Plan.

At the end of fiscal year 2004, the remaining accrual for the Fiscal 2002 Plan includes estimated contingent
payments related to two lease settlements for excess facilities that were originally included in the Fiscal 2002
Plan. As part of separate settlement agreements with the two landlords, in the event we make a distribution of
cash, stock or other consideration to holders of our Series A Preferred with respect to the shares of Series A
Preferred held by such Series A Preferred holders, each of the two landlords would receive a payment equal to
the lesser of (i) $1.0 million or (ii) the amount payable to a holder of shares of Series A Preferred with an
aggregate stated value of $1.0 million. At the end of fiscal year 2004, we estimated the combined value of these
two contingent payments to be $1.2 million.

Fiscal 2001 Plan

In fiscal year 2001, the total restructuring charge relating to the Fiscal 2001 Plan was $1.4 million. These
charges primarily related to a reduction in our worldwide workforce of 141 employees across all departments and
office closures in North America pursuant to the adoption of our expense management strategy. The total charges
were primarily comprised of $917,000 related to severance costs, $263,000 related to office closure costs and
$263,000 related to professional services and miscellaneous charges associated with the employee terminations.
Total payments of $1.2 million were made in fiscal year 2001. This plan was completed and paid in full as of
June 30, 2004.
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12,  WARRANTIES

We generally warrant that the program portion of our software will perform substantially in accordance with
certain specifications for a period of 90 days. Our liability for a breach of this warranty is either a return of the
license fee or providing a fix, patch, work-around or replacement of the software.

We also provide standard warranties against and indemnification for the potential infringement of third
party intellectual property rights to our customers relating to the use of our products, as well as indemnification
agreements with certain officers and employees under which we may be required to indemnify such persons for
liabilities arising out of their duties to the company. The terms of such obligations vary. Generally, the maximum
obligation is the amount permitted by law.

Historically, costs related to these guarantees have not been significant, however we cannot guarantee that a
warranty reserve will not become necessary in the future.

13. LITIGATION

Beginning on October 25, 2001, a number of securities class action complaints were filed against us, and
certain of our then officers and directors and underwriters connected with our initial public offering of common
stock in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York (consolidated into In re Initial Public
Offering Sec. Litig.). The complaints alleged generally that the prospectus under which such securities were sold
contained false and misleading statements with respect to discounts and excess commissions received by the
underwriters as well as allegations of “laddering” whereby underwriters required their customers to purchase
additional shares in the aftermarket in exchange for an allocation of IPO shares. The complaints sought an
unspecified amount in damages on behalf of persons who purchased the common stock between September 23,
1999 and December 6, 2000. Similar complaints were filed against 55 underwriters and more than 300 other
companies and other individuals. The over 1,000 complaints were consolidated into a single action. We reached
an agreement with the plaintiffs to resolve the cases as to our liability and that of our officers and directors. The
settiement involved no monetary payment or other consideration by us or our officers and directors and no
admission of liability. The Court has not yet approved the settlement.

On December 11, 2002 we entered into a settlement with Synergism Investors to terminate an existing lease
agreement for one of our excess facilities. Under this agreement, we agreed to pay $1,325,000 (the “Settlement
Amount”) to Synergism. Of this obligation, $325,000 was secured through a certified deposit and paid in January
2003. The remaining balance will be paid to Synergism in the event we makes a distribution of cash, stock, or
other consideration (each, a “Preferred Payment”) to the holders of eGain’s 6.75% Series A Cumulative
Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred”) with respect to the shares of Series A Preferred held by
them. Synergism will receive prior to any such Preferred Payment to holders of Series A Preferred a cash
payment equal to the lesser of (i) an amount equal to $1,000,000 (the “Initial Payment Value™) plus an amount
which would increase and accumulate at an annual rate equal to 6.75% of the Initial Payment Value; (ii) the
portion of the Preferred Payment made with respect to 10 shares of Series A Preferred, which shares have an
aggregated stated value of $1,000,000. As of June 30, 2004, we have accrued $1 million of the total potential
contingent payment.

On December 13, 2002, Mindfabric, Inc. filed an action for patent infringement against us. The suit was
settled and resolved in April, 2004 with no cash payments and the execution of a cross-licensing agreement
between the parties.

On February 26, 2003, Golden Gate Plaza, LLC filed a complaint for unlawful detainer against us. On
December 23, 2003 we entered into a settlement agreement with the plaintiff to resolve the case. A Request for
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Dismissal was entered by the court on January 12, 2004 and the settlement was later approved. Under this
agreement, we agreed to pay up to $1.5 million (the “Settlement Amount™) to the landlord. Of this obligation,
$456,000 was paid in January 2004. The remaining balance will be paid in the event we make a distribution of
cash, stock, or other consideration to holders of our 6.75% Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (the
“Series A Preferred”) with respect to the shares of Series A Preferred held by such Series A Preferred holders. In
such event, the landlord would receive a payment equal to the lesser of (i) $1.0 million or (ii) the amount payable
to a holder of shares of Series A Preferred with an aggregate stated value of $1.0 million. As of December 31,
2003 we have accrued $247,000 of the total potential $1.0 million contingent payment based on our current
estimate of the future payout under the lease settlement.

On February 12, 2004, we filed suit against Insight Enterprises, Inc., the acquirer of Comark, Inc., a
value-added reseller of our software, claiming inter alia breach of contract and failure to pay in connection with
a sale of our software to one customer. The lawsuit seeks in excess of $600,000 in damages.

From time to time we are party to routine legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business
and incidental to our business, none of which are expected to have a material adverse impact, as taken
individually or in the aggregate, upon our business, financial position or results of operations. However, even if
these claims are not meritorious, the ultimate outcome of any litigation is uncertain, and it could divert
management’s attention and impact other resources.

14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

None.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,”
as such term is defined in Rule 13a-14(c) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), that
are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in Securities
and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures,
management recognized that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are
met. Additionally, in designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to
apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. The
design of any disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated
goals under all potential future conditions.

Based on their evaluation as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this Annual Report on Form
10-K, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, subject to the limitations
noted above, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that material information relating to
us, including our consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to them by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this Annual Report on Form 10-K was being prepared.

(b) Changes in internal controls. There were no significant changes in our internal controls or, to our

knowledge, in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of their
evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this item (with respect to Directors) is incorporated by reference from the |
information under the caption “Election of Directors” contained in eGain’s Proxy Statement to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the solicitation of proxies for the Company’s 2004 |
Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”). |

|

The following table sets forth information regarding eGain’s current executive officers as of September 22, i
2004: ‘

Name Age Position ;
AshutoshRoy ........ 38 Chief Executive Officer and Chairman i
Eric Smit ............ 42  Chief Financial Officer i
Promod Narang ....... 46 Vice President of Products and Engineering

Ashutosh Roy co-founded eGain and has served as Chief Executive Officer and a director of eGain since
September 1997 and President since October 2003. From May 1995 through April 1997, Mr. Roy served as
Chairman of WhoWhere? Inc., an Internet-service company co-founded by Mr. Roy. From June 1994 to April
1995, Mr. Roy ce-founded Parsec Technologies, a call center company based in New Delhi, India. From August
1988, to August 1992, Mr. Roy worked as Software Engineer at Digital Equipment Corp. Mr. Roy holds a B.S. in
Computer Science from the Indian Institute of Technology, New Delhi, a Masters degree in Computer Science
from Johns Hopkins University and an M.B.A. from Stanford University.

Eric Smit has served as Chief Financial Officer since August 2002. From April 2001 to July 2002, Mr. Smit |
served as Vice President, Operations of eGain. From June 1999 to April 2001, Mr. Smit served as Vice President, ‘
Finance and Administration of eGain. From June 1998 to June 1999, Mr. Smit served as Director of Finance of |
eGain. From December 1996 to May 1998, Mr. Smit served as Director of Finance for WhoWhere? Inc., an |
Internet services company. From April 1993 to November 1996, Mr. Smit served as Vice President of Operations ;
and Chief Financial Officer of Velocity Incorporated, a software game developer and publishing company. Mr. |
Smit holds a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting from Rhodes University, South Africa.

Promod Narang has served as Vice President of Engineering of eGain since March 2000. Mr. Narang joined
eGain in October 1998, and served as Director of Engineering prior to assuming his current position. Prior to
joining eGain, Mr. Narang served as President of VMpro, a system software consulting company from
September 1987 to October 1998. Mr. Narang holds a Bachelors of Science in Computer Science from Wayne
State University.

The information contained under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance”
in the definitive Proxy Statement for the Company’s 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein
by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information contained under the heading “Executive Compensation” and under the captions “Director
Compensation,” and “Recent Option Grants” in the definitive Proxy Statement for eGain’s 2004 Annual Meeting |
of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference. ‘w
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information contained under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” in the definitive Proxy Statement for eGain’s 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information contained under the caption “Related Party Transactions™ in the definitive Proxy Statement
for eGain’s 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information contained under the heading “Principal Accounting Fees and Services” in the definitive
Proxy Statement for eGain’s 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(a) 1. Financial Statements

See Index to Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Report.

2. Financial Statement Schedule
Financial statement schedule, which is included at the end of this report:
Schedule [I—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
All other schedules have been omitted since they are either not required, not applicable or the information
has been included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
3. Exhibits

See the exhibits listed under Item 15(c) or filed or incorporated by reference herein. Each management
contract or compensation plan or arrangement required to be filed has been identified.

{b) Reports on Forms 8-K

Reports on Form 8-K:

1. Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 16, 2004 relating to press release filed announcing
quarter ended June 30, 2004 resulits of operations and financial condition.

(c) Exhibits
The exhibits listed below are filed or incorporated by reference herein.

Exhibit ‘
No. Description of Exhibits

2.1(a)  Agreement and Plan of Reorganization among eGain, Sitebridge Corporation, ECC Acquisition
Corporation, Wendell Lansford, Prakash Mishra and Chelsea M.C. LLC dated as of April 30, 1999.

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of February 7, 2000, by and among
eGain, Big Science Corporation (“BSC”) and certain shareholders of BSC, filed on eGain’s Current
Report on Form 8-K on March 22, 2000, and incorporated by reference herein.

2.3(b) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 16, 2000, between Inference Corporation, Intrepid
Acquisition Corporation, and eGain.

Certificate of Correction of Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed with the Secretary of State of
the state of Delaware on February 13, 2001.

Certificate of Amendment of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed with the
Secretary of State of the state of Delaware on August 19, 2003.

Amended and Restated Bylaws filed as Exhibit 3.3 to eGain’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
File No. 333-83439, originally filed with the Commission on July 22, 1999, as subsequently amended,
and incorporated by reference herein.

4.1(a) Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement dated as of April 30, 1999.

42 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of August 8, 2000, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to eGain’s Current
Report on Form §-K dated August 15, 2000, and incorporated by reference herein.

43 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to eGain’s Current Report on Form
8-K dated August 15, 2000, and incorporated by reference herein.
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Exhibit
No.

4.4

10.1(a)
10.2(a)#

10.3(a)#
10.4(a)#
10.5(a)

10.6(a)

10.7(a)

10.8(a)#

10.9(a)#

10.10#

10.11#

10.12#

10.13#

10.14#

10.15#

10.16

Description of Exhibits

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to eGain’s Current Report on Form
8-K dated April 4, 2004, and incorporated by reference herein.

Form of Indemnification Agreement.

Social Science, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan (assumed by eGain in connection with Sitebridge
acquisition).

Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Plan and forms of stock option agreements thereunder.
1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Golden Gate Commercial Lease Agreement dated as of July 21, 1998 between Registrant and Golden
Gate Commercial Company.

Starter Kit Loan and Security Agreement dated as of August 7, 1998 between Registrant and Imperial
Bank.

Senior Loan and Security Agreement No. 6194 dated as of October 15, 1998 between Registrant and
Phoenix Leasing Incorporated.

Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of June 24, 1998 between Registrant and
Ashutosh Roy.

Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of June 24, 1998 between Registrant and
Gunjan Sinha.

Amended and Restated Inference Corporation 1993 Stock Option Plan assumed by eGain
Communications Corporation (assumed by eGain in connection with Inference acquisition), filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to Inference Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, No. 333-92386 and to
Exhibit 10.4 to Inference Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended
January 31, 1999, and incorporated by reference herein.

¢Gain Communications Corporation 2000 Non-management Stock Option Plan, filed with the
Commission on September 28, 2000 on eGain’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2000, and incorporated by reference herein.

Inference Corporation 1998 Non-Management Stock Option Plan, filed with the Commission on April
29, 1999 as Exhibit 10.6 to Inference Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended January 31, 1999, and incorporated by reference herein.

Inference Corporation 1998 New Hire Stock Option Plan (assumed by eGain in connection with
Inference acquisition), filed with the Commission on September 3, 1999 as Exhibit 10.7 from
Inference Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, No. 333-86471, and incorporated by
reference herein.

Inference Corporation Private Placement Stock Option Plan (assumed by eGain in connection with
Inference acquisition), filed with the Commission on September 3, 1999 as Exhibit 10.7 from
Inference Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, No. 333-86471, and incorporated by
reference herein.

Inference Corporation Fourth Amended and Restated Incentive Stock Option Plan and Nonqualified
Stock Option Plan (assumed by eGain in connection with Inference acquisition), Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Inference Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, No. 333-
92386.

Securities Purchase Agreement, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to eGain’s Current Report on Form §-K dated
August 15, 2000, and incorporated by reference herein.
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Exhibit
No.

10.17

10.18

10.19(c)

10.20(¢c)

10.21(c)

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

16.1

Deseription of Exhibits

Amended and Restated Starter Kit Loan and Security Agreement between Registrant and Imperial
Bank dated as of March 29, 2001, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to eGain’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2001, filed with the Commission on May 15, 2001, and incorporated by
reference herein.

Loan and Security Agreement between eGain and Silicon Valley Bank, dated March 27, 2002, filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to eGain’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, and
incorporated by reference herein.

Waiver and Loan Modification Agreement between eGain and Silicon Valley Bank, dated May 16,
2002.

Second Waiver and Loan Modification Agreement between eGain and Silicon Valley Bank, dated
June 25, 2002.

Third Waiver and Loan Modification Agreement between eGain and Silicon Valley Bank, dated
August 30, 2002.

Accounts Receivable Purchase Agreement between eGain and Silicon Valley Bank, dated
September 20, 2002, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to eGain’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2002.

Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement by and between eGain Communications Corporation and
Ashutosh Roy dated as of December 24, 2002, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to eGain’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 27, 2002.

Form of Subordinated Secured Promissory Note, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to eGain’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 27, 2002.

Subordination Agreement and Consent by and between Ashutosh Roy and Silicon Valley Bank dated
as of December 24, 2002, filed as Exhibit 10.4 to eGain’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on December 27, 2002.

Accounts Receivable Purchase Modification Agreement between eGain and Silicon Valley Bank,
dated March 25, 2003, filed on eGain’s annual report on 10-KA on October 16, 2003, and
incorporated by reference herein.

Accounts Receivable Purchase Modification Agreement between eGain and Silicon Valley Bank,
dated September 19, 2003, filed on eGain’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2003, and incorporated by reference herein.

Amendment #2 to Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement by and between eGain Communications
Corporation and Ashutosh Roy dated October 31, 2003, filed on eGain’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003, and incorporated by reference herein.

Accounts Receivable Purchase Modification Agreement between eGain and Silicon Valley Bank,
dated December 19, 2003, filed on eGain’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
December 31, 2003, and incorporated by reference herein.

Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement by and between eGain Communications Corporation and the
Lenders dated as of March 31, 2004, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to eGain’s Current Report on form 8-K on
April 4, 2004, and incorporated by reference herein.

Form of Subordinated Secured Promissory Note, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to eGain’s Current Report on
form 8-K on April 4, 2004, and incorporated by reference herein.

Subordination Agreement and Consent by and between the Lenders and Silicon Valley Bank dated as
of March 31, 2004, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to eGain’s Current Report on form 8-K on April 4, 2004, and
incorporated by reference herein.

Letter from Emst & Young LLP to the Securities and Exchange Commission, dated as of March 31,
2004, filed on eGain’s Current Report on form 8-K on April 1, 2004, and incorporated by reference
herein.
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Exhibit
No. Description of Exhibits

21.1 Subsidiaries of eGain Communications Corporation.

23.1 Consent of BDO Seidman, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
23.2 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24.1 Power of Attorney (see Signature Page).

31.1 Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e) Certification of Chief Executive Officer.

31.2 Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002 of Ashutosh Roy, Chief Executive Officer.

322 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002 of Eric Smit, Chief Financial Officer.

(a) Incorporated by reference to eGain’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-83439, originally
filed with the Commission on July 22, 1999, as subsequently amended.

(b) Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to Proxy Statement Prospectus, dated May 22, 2000, that forms a
part of eGain’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A, filed with the Commission on May 15, 2000 (File
No. 333-34848).

(¢) Incorporated by reference to eGain’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002
filed with the Commission on September 30, 2002.

# Indicates management contract or compensation plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized on September 28, 2004.

eGAIN COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

By: /s/  ASHUTOSH Roy

Ashutosh Roy
Chief Executive Officer

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes
and appoints Ashutosh Roy and Eric Smit, and each of them, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents,
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all
capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this annual report, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and
other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and
thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person,
hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact and agents or their substitute or substitutes
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been
signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

Name it Date

/s/ AsHUTOSH Roy Chief Executive Officer and Director September 28, 2004
Ashutosh Roy (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ ERIC SMIT Chief Financial Officer September 28, 2004
‘Eric Smit (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ MARK A. WOLFSON Director September 28, 2004

Mark A. Wolfson

/s/ DAvVID BROWN Director September 28, 2004

David Brown

/s!/ GUNJAN SINHA Director September 28, 2004
Ganjan Sinha

Director September 28, 2004

Phiroz P. Darukhanavala




SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(in thousands)

Amounts
Balance at  Additions Written
Beginning Charged to  Off, Net of Balance at
of Period Expense  Recoveries End of Period

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:

Yearended June 30,2004 . ... ... .. ..., $ 185 $ 32 $ 79 $138
Year ended June 30,2003 ...... ... ..., $ 560 $@(103) $ 272 $185
Yearended June 30,2002 .......... ... . ... .. ... $1,398 $1,794 $2,632 $560
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K/A
(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2004
or

(] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 0-30260

eGain Communications Corporation

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 77-0466366 77-0466366
(State or other jurisdiction (I.R.S. Employer
of incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
345 E. Middlefield Road, Mountain View, California 94043 (650) 230-7500
(Address of principal executive offices, including zip code) (Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90
days. Yes No[]

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (Section
229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge,
in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any
amendment to this Form 10-K. []

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates, on the OTC
Bulletin Board on December 31, 2003 (the last business day of registrants second quarter of fiscal 2004) was
approximately $1,346,422. For purposes of the foregoing calculation only, the registrant has included in the
shares owned by affiliates the beneficial ownership of voting and non-voting common equity of officers and
directors, and affiliated entities, of the registrant and members of their families. Such inclusion shall not be
construed as an admission that any such person is an affiliate for any other purpose.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act). Yes[ ] No

As of October 20, 2004, there were 3,695,739 shares of Common Stock, $0.001 par value, outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

This Form 10-K/A is being filed solely for the purpose of including the information required by Part III,
which eGain had intended to incorporate by reference to its Proxy Statement to be filed for the 2004 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders. This Form 10-K/A does not reflect events occurring after the filing of the original Form
10-K, or modify or update the disclosures therein except to add the information included in PART III in the
amendment set forth below.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table sets forth information regarding eGain’s current directors and executive officers as of
October 20, 2004:

Name Aﬁ Position

AshutoshRoy ............ 38 Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
EricSmit ................ 42  Chief Financial Officer

Promod Narang ........... 46  Vice President of Products and Engineering
Gunjan Sinha .. ........... 37 Director

Mark A. Wolfson ......... 52  Director

David G. Brown .......... 47  Director

Phiroz P. Darukhanavala.... 56 Director

Ashutosh Roy co-founded eGain and has served as Chief Executive Officer and a Director of eGain since
September 1997 and as President and Chief Executive Officer since October 1, 2003. From May 1995 through
April 1997, Mr. Roy served as Chairman of WhoWhere? Inc., an Internet-services company co-founded by Mr.
Roy. From June 1994 to April 1995, Mr. Roy co-founded Parsec Technologies, a call center company based in
New Delhi, India. From August 1988 to August 1992, Mr. Roy worked as software engineer at Digital
Equipment Corp. Mr. Roy holds a B.S. in Computer Science from the Indian Institute of Technology, New Delhi,
a Masters degree in Computer Science from Johns Hopkins University and an MBA from Stanford University.

Eric Smit has served as Chief Financial Officer since August 2002. From April 2001 to July 2002, Mr. Smit
served as Vice President, Operations of eGain. From June 1999 to April 2001, Mr. Smit served as Vice President,
Finance and Administration of eGain. From June 1998 to June 1999, Mr. Smit served as Director of Finance of
eGain. From December 1996 to May 1998, Mr. Smit served as Director of Finance for WhoWhere? Inc., an
Internet services company. From April 1993 to November 1996, Mr. Smit served as Vice President of Operations
and Chief Financial Officer of Velocity Incorporated, a software game developer and publishing company. Mr.
Smit holds a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting from Rhodes University, South Africa.

Promod Narang has served as Vice President of Engineering of eGain since March 2000. Mr. Narang joined
eGain in October 1998, and served as Director of Engineering prior to assuming his current position. Prior to
joining eGain, Mr. Narang served as President of VMpro, a system software consulting company from
September 1987 to October 1998. Mr. Narang holds a Bachelors of Science in Computer Science from Wayne
State University.

Gunjan Sinha co-founded eGain and has served as a Director of eGain since inception in September 1997
and as President of eGain from January 1, 1998 until September 30, 2003. From May 1995 through April 1997,
Mr. Sinha served as President of WhoWhere? Inc. an Internet-services company co-founded by Mr. Sinha. Prior
to co-founding WhoWhere? Inc., Mr. Sinha was a hardware developer of multiprocessor servers at Olivetti
Advanced Technology Center. In June 1994, Mr. Sinha co-founded Parsec Technologies. Mr. Sinha holds a
degree in Computer Science from the Indian Institute of Technology, New Delhi, a Masters degree in Computer
Science from UC Santa Cruz, and a Masters degree in Engineering Management from Stanford University.
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Mark A. Wolfson has served as a Director of eGain since June 1998. Dr. Wolfson has served as a managing
partner of Oak Hill Capital Management, Inc. since 1998, a Principal of Oak Hill Venture Partners, since 1999
and a Vice-President of Keystone, Inc. since 1995. Since 2001, Dr. Wolfson has held the title of Consulting
Professor at the Stanford University Graduate School of Business, where he has been a faculty member since
1977, including a three-year term as Associate Dean, and formerly held the title of Dean Witter Professor. Dr.
Wolfson serves on the board of directors of 230 Park

Investors, Accretive Healthcare, Financial Engines and Investment Technology Group. Dr. Wolfson holds a
Ph.D. from the University of Texas, Austin and a B.S. and Masters degree from the University of Iilinois.

David G. Brown has served as a director of eGain since August 2000. Since August 1999, Mr. Brown has
served as the managing partner of Oak Hill Venture Partners. Prior to August 1999, Mr. Brown was Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Keystone, Inc. Prior to May 1998, Mr. Brown served as a principal of
Arbor Investors, LLC (since August 1995), as well as a Vice President of Keystone, Inc. (since August of 1993).
Mr. Brown serves on the board of directors of ProQuest and several privately held companies. Mr. Brown holds a
B.A. degree from Bowdoin College and an M.B.A. from the Amos Tuck School of Business Administration.

Phiroz P. Darukhanavala has served as a member of eGain’s Board of Directors since September 2000. Dr.
Darukhanavala has served in various capacities with BP Amoco p.l.c. and The British Petroleum Company since
1975, most recently as Vice President and Chief Technology Officer for Group Digital business. Before
assuming his current position, Dr. Darukhanavala was Director of Global IT Services for the BP Group
responsible for the rollout of the Common Operating Environment project worldwide and IT Functional Chief for
BP-Exploration. Dr. Darukhanavala has also served as CIO of BP-Alaska and Director of BP-Exploration
Business Systems. Dr. Darukhanavala holds a Ph.D. and M.S. degrees in Operations Research from Case
Western Reserve University in Cleveland, Ohio.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Under the securities laws of the United States, eGain’s directors, executive officers and any persons holding
more than 10% of eGain’s common stock are required to report their initial ownership of eGain’s common stock
and any subsequent changes in that ownership to the Securities and Exchange Commission. Specific due dates
for these reports have been established and eGain is required to identify those persons who failed to timely file
these reports. All of the filing requirements were satisfied for fiscal 2004 except that in June 2004, due solely to
administrative error that was corrected as soon as it was determined, the Company made late Form 5 filings with
respect to option grants to executives Eric Smit, Promod Narang and Arnold Adriaanse.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
Compensation of Directors

Directors of eGain do not currently receive any fees for service on the Board of Directors. Directors are
reimbursed for their expenses for each meeting attended. Pursuant to eGain’s 1998 Stock Plan, each non-
employee director will receive, if re-elected as a director at the 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, an option
to purchase 500 shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the common stock
on the date of grant. Such options will vest on the first anniversary of the grant.

Executive Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes information concerning compensation paid to eGain’s Chief Executive
Officer and each of eGain’s other four most highly compensated executive officers whose total annual salary and
bonus exceeded $100,000, for services rendered in all capacities to eGain during the fiscal years ended June 30,
2004, 2003 and 2002. These individuals are referred to as the “named executive officers.”
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Long-Term

Annual Compensation Compensation
Security
Fiscal Underlying
Name and Principal Position Year Salary($) Bonus($) Other($) Options(#)
AshutoshRoy (1) ....... ... ... . i 2004 29,183 — — —
President and Chairman 2003 50,012 — — 625
2002 31,268 — — 2,499
Amold Adriaanse (2) ........ .. .. 2004 143,971 73,378 -—_ 10,000
Sr. Vice President of Worldwide Sales 2003 138,633 30,797 — 1,790
and Services 2002 95,192 —_ 50,000 30,833
ErcSmit (3) ...t 2004 143,500 — — 10,000
Chief Financial Officer 2003 128,212 15,000 — 9,000
2002 136,442 20,644 —_— 600
Anand Subramaniam (4) ......... ... . .. . ... 2004 126,037 — _— —
Vice President of Marketing 2003 112,799 — — 8,500
2002 35311 6,923 — 2,400
PromodNarang (5) ........ ... i, 2004 121,600 2,772 — 35,000
Vice President of Products & Technology 2003 93461 4,327 — 1,080
2002 108,981 4,725 —_ 39,999
(1) Mr. Roy’s grant of an option to purchase 2,499 shares and Mr. Sinha’s grant of an option to purchase 2,499

@
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shares in fiscal 2002 were immediately vested in full. Mr. Roy’s grant of an option to purchase 625 shares
was immediately vested in full.

Mr. Adriaanse’s grant of an option to purchase 30,000 shares in fiscal 2002 vests as to 1/48 of shares each
full month. Mr. Adriaanse’s grant of an option to purchase 833 shares in fiscal 2002 vested equally over
three months. Mr. Adriaanse’s grant of an option to purchase 1,790 shares in fiscal 2003 was immediately
vested in full. Mr. Adriaanse’s grant of an option to purchase 10,000 shares in fiscal 2004 vests as to 1/48 of
the shares each full month. Mr. Adriaanse resigned in August 2004.

Mr. Smit’s grant of an option to purchase 600 shares in fiscal 2002 vests as to 50% immediately and /12 of
the remaining shares each full month thereafter. Mr. Smit’s grant of an option to purchase 1,500 shares in
fiscal 2003 was immediately vested in full. Mr. Smit’s grant of an option to purchase 7,500 shares in fiscal
2003 vests as to 1/48 of the shares each full month. Mr. Smit’s grant of an option to purchase 10,000 shares
in fiscal 2004 vests as to 1/48 of the shares each full month.

Mr. Subramaniam’s grant of an option to purchase 2,400 shares in fiscal 2002 vests as to 25% of the shares
on the first anniversary of such option’s grant date and 1/36 of the remaining shares each full month
thereafter. Mr. Subramaniam’s grant of an option to purchase 1,300 shares in fiscal 2003 was immediately
vested in full. Mr. Subramaniam’s grant of an option to purchase 7,200 shares in fiscal 2003 vests as to 1/48
of the shares each full month.

Mr. Narang’s grant of an option to purchase 10,499 shares in fiscal 2002 vests as to 33% of the shares on the
first anniversary of such option’s grant date and 1/24 of the remaining shares each full month thereafter. Mr.
Narang’s grant of an option to purchase 7,000 shares in fiscal 2002 was immediately vested in full. Mr.
Narang’s grant of an option to purchase 16,875 shares in fiscal 2002 vests as to 1/36 of the shares each full
month. Mr. Narang’s grant of an option to purchase 5,625 shares in fiscal 2002 vests as to 10% of the shares
on the first anniversary of such option’s grant date and 1/108 of the remaining shares each full month
thereafter. Mr. Narang’s grant of an option to purchase 1,080 shares in fiscal 2003 was immediately vested
in full. Mr. Narang’s grant of an option to purchase 35,000 shares in fiscal 2004 vests as to 1/48 of the
shares each full month.



|
|
Recent Option Grants J
\
i

The following tables set forth certain information as of June 30, 2004 and for the fiscal year then ended with
respect to stock options granted to and exercised by the individuals named in the Summary Compensation Table |
above. ‘

Potential Realizable Value at

\

Percentage of Assumed Annual Rates of |

Number of  Total Options . Stock Price Appreciation |

Uslfg::ll)tflitlsg Efr;ll;‘lﬁtyee%st (i)n 1123?5?;’51%3: Expiration for Option Term(1) }

Name Options Fiscal 2004 ($/Share) Date 5%(3) 10%(S) !
AshutoshRoy .................. 0 0.0 0 0
Armold Adriaanse ............... 10,000 5.4 2.40 12/08/13 15,096 38,256
EricSmit ...................... 10,000 54 2.40 12/08/13 15,096 38,256
Anand Subramaniam . ............ 0 0.0 12/08/13 0 0
Promod Narang ................. 35,000 18.9 2.40 12/08/13 52,836 133,896

(1) Potential realizable value assumes that the stock price increases from the exercise price from the date of
grant until the end of the option term (10 years) at the annual rate specified (5% and 10%). Annual
compounding results in total appreciation of approximately 62.9% (at 5% per year) and 159.4% (at 10% per
year). The assumed annual rates of appreciation are specified in SEC rules and do not represent eGain’s
estimate oriprojection of future stock price growth. ‘

Aggregate Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year-End Option Values

Value of
Number of Unexercised |
Unexercised In-the Money |
Options at Options at ‘
Shares June 30, 2004 June 30, 2004(1) |
Acquired on Value Exercisable/ Exercisable/ |
Name Exercise Realized($) Unexercisable Unexercisable |
!
AshutoshRoy ......... .. ... .. ... ... .. — $— 3,124 — — — ;
Amold Adriaanse ...... ... . .. — — 20,748 21,875 — —
EricSmit ....... ... ... .. . . — — 7,581 14,219 — — ‘
Anand Subramaniam . ............ ... ... ... — — 4750 4,800 — —
PromodNarang ............................ — — 32,789 44,628 — — ‘J

(1) Calculated on the basis of the fair market value of the underlying securities at June 30, 2004 ($1.05 per;
share) minus the exercise price. Some options listed in the table have an exercise price that is greater than,
the fair market value therefore there are no in-the-money options.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

j

The following table sets forth information concerning the beneficial ownership of Common Stock of eGain
as of October 20, 2004 for the following: i

shares of eGain’s common stock; i

» each person or entity who is known by eGain to own beneficially more than 5% of the outstanding

e each of eGain’s current directors; |

» eGain’s chief executive officer and four other most highly compensated executive officers during thé
fiscal year ended June 30, 2004; and i

» all directors and executive officers of eGain as a group.
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Unless otherwise noted, the address of each named beneficial owner is that of eGain.

The percentage ownership is based on 3,695,739 shares of eGain common stock outstanding as of October
20, 2004. All shares subject to the conversion of Series A Preferred Stock and options and warrants exercisable
within 60 days after October 20, 2004 are deemed to be beneficially owned by the person or entity holding such
preferred stock, options and warrants. In computing the percentage ownership of any person, the amount of
shares is deemed to include the amount of shares beneficially owned by such person (and only such person) by
reason of such acquisition rights. Unless otherwise indicated below, the persons and entities named in the table
have sole voting and sole investment power with respect to all shares beneficially owned, subject to community
property laws where applicable.

Shares of Percentage of
Common Stock Common Stock
Beneficially Owned  Beneficially Owned

5% Stockholders:

OHCP GenPar, LP. (1) ... . i e 904,353 19.7%
201 Main Street, Suite 2415
Ft. Worth, TX 76102

Elliott Associates, L.P. (2) ... ... 298,561 75
712 Fifth Avenue
New York, NY 10019

L Taylor Crandall (3) ... ... e 296,217 7.4

201 Main Street, Suite 3100
Ft. Worth, TX 76102

Robert M. Bass (4) . ... i e 284,931 7.2
201 Main Street, Suite 3100
Ft. Worth, TX 76102

Granite Private Equity ILLLC (5) . ... 236,523 6.0
One Cablevision Center
Liberty, NY 12754

Deutsche Bank A. G. (6) ... ..o e i 208,697 5.4
60 Wall Street
New York, NY 10005

Directors and Executive Officers:

Ashutosh Roy (7) ... o 898,833 21.7
Gunjan Sinha (8) . ... ot 599,824 15.6
Promod Narang (9) . .. ... . i 83,625 2.2
BricSmit (10) ... ... 48,498 1.3
Mark A. Wolfson (11) . ... e 18,166 *
David G. Brown (12) . ...t e e 17,666 *
Phiroz P. Darukhanavala (13) ........ ... ... ... ... .. ... . ... ..... 11,000 *
Anand Subramaniam (14) .. ... ... 7,300 *
Amold Adriaanse . ... e e — *
All executive officers and directors as a group (9 persons) (15) .......... 1,684,912 31.3

*  Indicates less than one percent.

(1) Includes 744,742 shares subject to the conversion of preferred stock and 137,002 shares subject to an
immediately exercisable warrant held by Oak Hill Capital Partners, L.P. and 19,096 shares subject to the
conversion of preferred stock and 3,513 shares subject to an immediately exercisable warrant held by Oak
Hill Capital Management Partners, L.P. OHCP MGP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, is the
general partner of OHCP GenPar, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, which is the general partner of Oak
Hill Capital Partners, L.P. and consequently has voting control and investment discretion over securities
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held by Oak Hill Capital Partners, L.P. OHCP MGP, LLC disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held
by Oak Hill Capital Partners, L.P. OHCP MGP, LL.C, a Delaware limited liability company, is the general !
partner of QHCP GenPar, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, which is the general partner of Oak Hill
Capital Management Partners, L.P and consequently has voting control and investment discretion over
securities held by Oak Hill Capital Management Partners, L.P. OHCP MGP, LLC disclaims beneficial
ownership of the shares held by Oak Hill Capital Management Partners, L.P. Mark Wolfson, a director of
eGain, is a vice president of Oak Hill Capital Management, Inc., a Delaware corporation which provides
management and consulting services to Oak Hill Capital Partners, L.P. and Oak Hill Capital Management
Partners, L/P. and is a principal of Oak Hill Venture Partners, a related entity of the above-referenced
entities. David Brown, a director of eGain, is the managing partner of Oak Hill Venture Partners, a related
entity of the above-referenced entities.
As reported on Schedule 13G, filed by Elliott Associates, L.P. on February 13, 2003. Includes shares held
by Elliott International, L.P. Paul E. Singer is the general partner of Elliott Associates, L.P. and
consequently has voting control and investment discretion over securities held by Elliott Associates, L.P.
Elliott International Capital Advisors, Inc., is attorney-in-fact for Elliott International, L.P. (formerly known
as Westgate International, L.P.) and consequently has voting control and investment discretion over
securities held by Elliott International, L.P. Mr. Singer is the President of Elliott International Capital
Advisors, Inc.
Includes 246,778 shares subject to the conversion of preferred stock and 45,397 shares subject to an
immediately exercisable warrant held by FW Investors V, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, and 4,041
shares held by Group III 31, LLC. FW Management II, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company is the
general partner of FW Investors V, L.P. and consequently has voting control and investment discretion over
securities held by FW Investors V, L.P. FW Management 1I, L.L.C. disclaims beneficial ownership of the
shares held by FW Investors V, L.P. J. Taylor Crandall is the sole member of FW Management II, L.L.C.
and Group III 31, LLC. \
Represents shares that are beneficially owned as a result of the distribution by FW Ventures I, L.P, as
reported on Schedule 13D filed on March 31, 2004 and amended on October 1, 2004.
Represents 199,773 shares subject to the conversion of preferred stock and 36,750 shares subject to an
immediately exercisable warrant. Alan Gerry is the managing member of Gerry Holding Co. II, LLC, which
is the managing member of Granite Private Equity III, LLC and consequently has voting control and
investment:discretion over securities held by Granite Private Equity 111, LLC.
Includes 176,270 shares subject to the conversion of preferred stock and 32,427 shares subject to an
immediately exercisable warrant as estimated by eGain. |
Includes 365,508 shares subject to an immediately exercisable warrant, 70,508 shares subject to the:r
conversion of preferred stock and 3,124 shares subject to immediately exercisable options.
Includes 117,513 shares subject to the conversion of preferred stock, 21,617 shares subject to an
immediately exercisable warrant and 1,000 shares that would be beneficially owned upon exercise of
director options. }
Includes 47,567 shares subject to immediately exercisable options and 23,503 shares subject to the
conversion of preferred stock. ‘/
e

(10) Includes 11,018 shares subject to immediately exercisable options and 23,503 shares subject to th

conversion of preferred stock.

(11) Represents 16,166 shares that are beneficially owned as a result of the distribution by FW Ventures I, L.P.

and 2,000 shares that would be beneficially owned upon exercise of director options held by Mr. Wolfson|
Mark Wolfson, a director of eGain, is a vice president of Oak Hill Capital Management, Inc., a Delaware
corporation which provides management and consulting services to Oak Hill Capital Partners, L.P. and Oak
Hill Capital Management Partners, L.P. and is a principal of Oak Hill Venture Partners, a related entity of
the above-referenced entities. Mr. Wolfson disclaims beneficial ownership as to the shares owned by OHCF
GenPar, L.P. and related entities.

(12) Represents 16,166 shares that are beneficially owned as a result of the distribution by FW Ventures I, L. P

and 1500 shares that would be beneficially owned upon exercise of director options held by Mr. Brown:
David Brown, a director of eGain, is the managing partner of Oak Hill Venture Partners, a related entity of

|
|
|
|
|
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the above-referenced entities. Mr. Brown dlsclalms beneficial ownership as to the shares owned by OHCP
GenPar, L.P. and related entities. ‘

(13) Represents 11,000 shares that would be benefwlally owned upon exercise of director options held by Mr.
Darukhanavala.

(14) Represents options exercisable within 60 days of October 20, 2004.

(15) Includes 84,509 shares subject to currently exercisable options or options exercisable within 60 days of
October 20, 2004. Also includes 235,027 shares subject to the conversion of preferred stock and 387,125
shares subject to an immediately exercisable warrant.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Since July 1, 2003, there has not been any transaction or series of transactions to which eGain was or is a
party in which the amount involved exceeded or exceeds $60,000 and in which any director, executive officer,
holder of more than 5% of any class of eGain’s voting securities or any member of the immediate family of any
of the foregoing persons had or will have a direct or indirect material interest, other than the transactions
described below.

Transactions with Management, Directors and Others

Effective September 29, 2004, eGain and certain holders of Series A Preferred entered into a restructuring
agreement and a voting agreement whereby such Series A Preferred holders agreed to vote in favor of an
amendment to the Company’s certificate of incorporation providing for the conversion of all outstanding shares
of Series A Preferred. The terms and conditions of this transaction, along with the interests of eGain’s
management, directors and certain other parties, are discussed extensively in Proposal 2 .

On March 31, 2004, we entered into a note and warrant purchase agreement with Ashutosh Roy, our Chief
Executive Officer, Oak Hill Capital Partners L.P., Oak Hill Capital Management Partners L.P., and FW Investors
L.P. (the “lenders”) pursuant to which the lenders loaned to us $2.5 million evidenced by secured promissory
notes and received warrants to purchase shares of our common stock in connection with such loan. The secured
promissory notes have a term of five years and bear interest at an effective annual rate of 12% due and payable
upon the maturity of such notes. We have the option to prepay the notes at any time subject to the prepayment
penalties set forth in such notes. The warrants allow the lenders to purchase up to 312,500 shares at an exercise
price of $2.00 per share. The warrants become exercisable as to fifty percent (50%) of the warrant shares nine
months after issuance of the warrants and as to one hundred percent (100%) of the warrant shares on the first
anniversary of the issuance of the warrants. We recorded $2.28 million in related party notes payable and
$223,000 of discount on the notes related to the relative value of the warrants issued in the transaction that will
be amortized to interest expense over the five year life of the notes. The fair value of these warrants was
determined using the Black-Scholes valuation method with the following assumptions: an expected life of 3
years, an expected stock price volatility of 75%, a risk free interest rate of 1.93%, and a dividend yield of 0%.

In the past, eGain has granted options to purchase common stock to its directors and executive officers.
eGain intends to grant such options to its directors and executive officers in the future.

Business Relationships

eGain has entered into indemnification agreements with each of its directors and executive officers. Such
agreements require eGain to indemnify such individuals to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law.

It is eGain’s current policy that all transactions between eGain and its officers, directors, 5% stockholders
and eGain’s affiliates will be entered into only if these transactions are approved by a majority of the
disinterested directors, are on terms no less favorable to eGain than could be obtained from unaffiliated parties
and are reasonably expected to benefit eGain.



ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The aggregate fees for professional services by the Company’s independent auditors and certain of their
international affiliates in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 for these various services to the Company and its
subsidiaries were:

Audit Fees

The aggregate audit fees billed or to be billed by BDO Seidman, LLP for professional services rendered for
the audit of the Company’s annual financial statements, review of financial statements included in the
Company’s quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and services that were provided in connection with statutory and
regulatory filings or engagements was approximately $125,200 for fiscal 2004.

The aggregate audit fees billed or to be billed by Emst & Young LLP for each of the last two fiscal years for
professional services rendered for the audit of the Company’s annual financial statements, review of financial
statements included in the Company’s quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and services that were provided in
connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements were approximately $100,000 for fiscal 2004
and $301,000 for fiscal 2003.

Audit-Related Fees

The aggregate fees billed or to be billed by BDO Seidman, LLP or certain of its international affiliates for
services delivered in the U.K., Europe and India related to the ability to render a U.S. GAAP opinion on the
Company’s or its subsidiaries financial statements or regulatory compliance reasonable related to the
performance of review of Company’s or its subsidiaries financial statements was approximately $46,000 for
fiscal 2004.

The aggregate fees billed or to be billed by Emnst & Young LLP or certain of its international affiliates for
each of the last two fiscal years for services delivered in the U.K., Europe and India related to the ability to
render a U.S. GAAP opinion on the Company’s or its subsidiaries financial statements or regulatory compliance
reasonable related to the performance of review of Company’s or its subsidiaries financial statements were
approximately $12,500 for fiscal 2004 and approximately $62,000 for fiscal 2003.

Tax Fees

The aggregate fees billed or to be billed by BDO Seidman, LLP for professional services related to tax
advice, tax compliance, tax auditing, tax planning and foreign tax matters were approximately $21,165 for fiscal
2004.

The aggregate fees billed or to be billed by Ernst & Young LLP in each of the last two fiscal years for
professional services related to tax advice, tax compliance, tax auditing, tax planning and foreign tax matters
were approximately $20,000 for fiscal 2004 and $57,000 for fiscal 2003,

All Other Fees

There were ’no fees billed to the Company by BDO Seidman, LLP for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004
for services and products to the Company and its subsidiaries other than those reported in the categories above.
The aggregate fees billed or to be billed by Emst & Young LLP and certain of its international affiliates in each

of the last two fiscal years for services and products to the Company and its subsidiaries other than those reported
in the categories above were $11,000 for fiscal 2004 and $24,480 for fiscal 2003. The nature of the other services
included real estate and other miscellaneous services. J
|
\
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Policy on Pre-Approval of Retention of Independent Auditors

The engagement of BDO Seidman, LLP and certain of its international affiliates for non-audit accounting
and tax services performed for the Company is limited to those circumstances where these services are
considered integral to the audit services that it provides or in which there is another compelling rationale for
using its services. Pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, all audit and permitted non-audit services for
which the Company engages BDO Seidman, LLP and certain of its international affiliates require pre-approval
by the Audit Committee. The percentage of Statutory Audit Fees, Tax Fees and All Other Fees, out of all fees
paid to BDO Seidman, LLP and certain of its international affiliates, and all as approved by the Audit Committee
in accordance with these procedures, was 35% for fiscal 2004. The percentage of Statutory Audit Fees, Tax Fees
and All Other Fees, out of all fees paid to Ernst & Young, LLP and certain of its international affiliates, and all as
approved by the Audit Committee in accordance with these procedures, was 32% for fiscal 2003.

The Audit Committee considered the provision by BDO Seidman, LLP and certain of its international
affiliates of non-audit services to the Company and determined that the provision of these services was
compatible with maintaining the independence of BDO Seidman, LLP.

PART IV

ITEM 15, EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
3. Exhibits

Exhibit
No. Description of Exhibits

311 Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e) Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
312 Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of Ashutosh Roy, Chief Executive Officer.

322 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002 of Eric Smit, Chief Financial Officer.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized on October 28, 2004.

eGAIN COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

By: /s/ ASHUTOSH Roy

Ashutosh Roy
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been
signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

Name Tide Date
/s/ ASHUTOSH Roy Chief Executive Officer and Director October 28, 2004
Ashutosh Roy (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ ERIC SMIT Chief Financial Officer (Principal October 28, 2004
'Eric Smit Financial Officer)
* Director October 28, 2004

Mark A. Wolfson

* Director October 28, 2004

David Brown

* Director October 28, 2004

Gunjan Sinha

Director October 28, 2004

Phiroz P. Darukhanavala

*By: /s/ ASHUTOSH ROY

" Ashutosh Roy
‘Attorney-in-Fact
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